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OF MEDIGENE AG  

 
 

IN € K 2018 2017 
restated1) 

CHANGE 

Results of operations    
Revenue immunotherapies  5,980 4,886 22% 
Revenue Veregen 1,596 2,790 -43% 
Other operating income 178 1,206 -85% 

thereof gain on sale of intangible assets, net 0 1,080 -100% 
Total revenue 7,754 8,882 -13% 
    
Gross profit 6,905 7,261 -5% 
Selling and general administrative expenses -7,613 -8,266 -8% 
Research and development expenses -17,117 -14,877 15% 
Operating result -17,825 -15,882 12% 
Net profit/loss for the year  -17,049 -15,989 7% 
EBITDA -16,253 -14,615 11% 
Earnings per share (basic/diluted) (€) -0.72 -0.74 -3% 
Personnel expenses -11,598 -10,080 15% 

   
Cash flow    
Net cash used in operating activities -10,142 -20,849 -51% 
Net cash used in/from investing activities -19,473 15,214 >-200% 
Net cash from financing activities 29,299 18,729 56% 

   
Balance sheet    
Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits 71,408 51,724 38% 
Total assets 129,590 111,937 16% 
Current liabilities 8,821 8,124 9% 
Non-current liabilities 13,344 10,315 29% 
Shareholders’ equity 107,425 93,498 15% 
Equity ratio (%) 83 84 -1% 
    
Employees as at December 31 118 96 23% 
FTEs as at December 31 106 90 18% 

   
Medigene share    
Total number of shares outstanding as at December 31 24,557,137 22,300,947 10% 
Share price (XETRA closing price) as at December 31 (€) 7.38 12.73 -42% 
1) IAS 8 correction - see note (3) in the notes to the consolidated financial statements  
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Immunotherapies will revolutionize the future of  cancer 
treatment. We harness the power of living T cells to 
engage the body’s own immune system to fight cancer. 
By developing breakthrough therapies, we aim to make 
a real difference in the lives of patients – a goal we strive 
towards with great passion.

LIVING IMMUNOTHERAPIES



LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

Dear Shareholders,

Treating the first patient with our MDG1011 immunotherapy earlier this year 
was an incredibly exciting milestone for Medigene. In this trial, our TCR therapy 
is administered to patients to assess the safety and feasibility. This is the first 
clinical trial with this type of therapy in Germany and thus far, only a few studies 
with this very innovative therapy form are being carried out worldwide. Why is 
this so significant? TCR therapies are part of the field of immunotherapies that 
is currently revolutionizing existing treatments for cancer. Rather than utilizing 
foreign substances to attack cancer, e.g. chemical agents, we are harnessing 
patients’ individual immune systems to detect and fight cancer cells by activating 
their own defense mechanisms.

In this Annual Report 2018 of Medigene AG, we would like to expound on 
this and other important events in detail, as 2018 was an exciting year in our 
 Company’s evolution. 

Let’s take a look at some of the highlights from last year. Undoubtedly, one of the 
most important events was the approval from the Paul-Ehrlich-Institut (PEI) in 
March to start our first clinical trial with modified T cells: a milestone in itself for 
Medigene. Medigene worked closely with PEI to actually establish the design pro-
tocols and regulations for this premier trial initiation in Germany. In the first half 
of the year, the first three clinical centers began to screen for suitable patients for 
our study with MDG1011. But when you enter uncharted territory, as Medigene 
did with this first TCR trial in Germany, safety is more important than speed 
and perfecting the start-up phase is absolutely critical. Regulatory authorities, 
hospitals, doctors, nurses, and laboratories have to familiarize themselves with 
this very special, highly personalized T cell therapy, and must take exquisite care 

CLINICAL 
TRIAL START 

with Medigene’s first TCR-T 
immunotherapy

EXTENSION OF 
TCR ALLIANCE  

with bluebird bio
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

with the product, while maintaining patient safety as the top priority. Patients 
also need to meet a strict range of criteria when enrolling in our study. First, for 
ethical reasons, initial trials with a completely new treatment method, such as 
MDG1011, should in principle only be offered to patients who no longer have any 
further treatment options. Second, these patients must have certain genetic pre-
requisites in order to potentially benefit from the therapy. And third, and most 
unfortunately, the often rapid progression of the disease can sometimes preclude 
selected patients from proceeding with treatment.

After the initial start-up period, we realized very quickly that we needed to 
increase the number of clinical centers in order to adequately screen a sufficient 
number of patients. We then contacted other renowned clinics throughout 
Germany. As a result, additional treatment centers for the MDG1011 trial will 
be gradually opening in the next few months. At the same time, we have also 
confirmed with the PEI further changes to the study protocol, which allow a 
 simplified and more flexible recruitment and treatment of patients.

At the end of February of this year, we administered initial dosing of MDG1011 to 
a first patient with multiple myeloma. Our goal for 2019 is to complete the first 
dosing cohorts of the Phase I portion of this clinical trial.

Prof. Dr. Dolores J. Schendel
Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and  
Chief Scientific Officer (CSO)

SUCCESSFUL 
FINANCING 

ROUND 
of over €30 million 

FIRST  
PATIENT  

treated with Medigene’s TCR-T 
therapy
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

At the end of 2018, we reported interim data from our ongoing Phase 1/2 clinical 
study evaluating our dendritic cell vaccines in 20 patients suffering from acute 
myeloid leukemia (AML); these patients had all received chemotherapy treat-
ments prior to vaccination. After all patients had been vaccinated for a period 
of 12 months, we analyzed and published the first interim results at the end of 
2018. These interim topline data demonstrated a robust manufacturability of 
the vaccine from the patient's own cells and an excellent safety and tolerability 
profile. These preliminary data, including first indications on overall survival and 
progression-free survival, are encouraging for a serious disease with poor long-
term prognosis such as AML. We intend to present the detailed data from the 
interim evaluation at an upcoming scientific conference.

In addition to working on MDG1011, we have taken another step forward 
in the field of TCRs by in-licensing another promising TCR candidate for 
 Medigene’s future clinical development pipeline. Following negotiations with 
Leiden  University, we were able to finalize the license agreement for a TCR 
against the HA-1 antigen in November. This TCR has a well-defined range 
of  applications and has already been tested in five patients for safety and 
 tolerability. We hope to proceed with preparations for another clinical trial 
with HA-1 this year.

On the preclinical side of our development work, the results delivered thus far 
have convinced our partner bluebird bio to expand the agreement in place since 
September 2017 by 50% in May 2018, which was and still is associated with 
additional upfront payments and additional potential milestone payments.

In 2018, we started negotiations with Helmholtz Zentrum München to license 
a singular method to optimize TCR-modified T cells against solid tumors. We 
are convinced that immuno-inhibition within the tumor environment requires 
 equipping the T cells with a distinct "extra functionality", in addition to the 
tumor-specific T cell receptors, to help make the solid tumors accessible for the 
modified T cells and also to help overcome T cell blockade. A first concept, in our 
opinion, is the co-stimulatory receptor that we in-licensed at the beginning of 

 INTERIM 
RESULTS  

from DC vaccine clinical trial  

METHOD 
 ESTABLISHED 

FOR 
OPTIMIZING   

TCRs against solid tumors

POTENTIAL 
NEW TCR 

CANDIDATE 
for Medigene’s clinical pipeline
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

January 2019. This is to intervene in basic immunological regulatory processes, 
the discovery of which was honored in 2018 with the Nobel Prize for Medicine.

On the financial side, Medigene closed 2018 with a significantly higher financial 
cushion than in the previous year and the EBITDA result was in line with our 
 forecast. Sales from our non-core business declined as expected as we work 
toward increasing revenues from our core business of immunotherapies. The 
slower than expected recruitment in the MDG1011 study is also one reason why 
research and development spending in 2018 was lower than planned. In the 
future, we anticipate rising development costs, also with respect to our current 
and possibly new clinical projects. The performance of Medigene shares in 2018 
was characterized by high volatility, which we believe is the result of a number of 
factors potentially owing to the weaker market dynamics toward the latter half of 
the year and as well to the slower than anticipated start of our trial.

The potential associated with each of our therapies is the reason we work 
 passionately each day to develop these innovative medicines. On behalf of my 
board colleagues Kai Pinkernell and Axel-Sven Malkomes, who will start working 
at Medigene in April, I would like to thank you for your  continued trust and 
support.

Kind regards, 

Prof. Dr. Dolores J. Schendel
Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

EXPANDED 
PATENT 

PORTFOLIO  
for Medigene’s TCR  

and DC therapies
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MEDIGENE’S SHARE

MEDIGENE’S SHARE

FINANCIAL ANALYSTS WHO COVERED  
MEDIGENE DURING 2018

BANK ANALYST

Baader Bank Group Dr. Bruno Bulic

Bryan, Garnier & Co Ltd Gary Waanders, PhD

Edison Investment Research Limited Dr. Daniel Wilkinson

EQUI.TS GmbH Thomas J. Schießle

Independent Research  
Unabhängige Finanzmarktanalyse 
GmbH

Bernhard Weininger/ 
Sven Diermeier

NIBC Bank N.V. Dylan van Haaften

Oddo Seydler Research AG Igor Kim

SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE FROM 2 JANUARY 2018 TO 28 FEBRUARY 2019

(INDEX OPENING PRICE 2 JANUARY 2018, € 12.89 INDEXED TO 100)

28 February 20192 January 2018

Medigene AG TecDax Nasdaq-Biotech SDAX
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SHARE DATA

Ticker symbol MDG1

WKN – securities identification 
number

A1X 3W0

ISIN – International Securities DE000A1X3W00

Identification Code

Common Code 1107 3026

CUSIP 993 906 FV5

Reuters ticker MDG1k.DE

Bloomberg ticker MDG1

Market segment Prime Standard

Indices Prime All Share, DAXSubsector 
Biotechnology

Traded on XETRA, Berlin, Bremen, Düsseldorf, 
Frankfurt, Hamburg, Hannover, 
München, Stuttgart

Designated Sponsors ODDO BHF AG, Baader Bank AG

KEY SHARE DATA

IN € 2018 2017

52-week high 18.98 14.77

52-week low 7.33 8.87

Year opening price 12.89 11.92

Year-end closing price 7.38 12.73

Average price 13.18 11.89

Weighted average number of shares 
(basic, no.)

23,699,241 21,501,074

Average daily turnover (no.) 207,218 238,016

Average market capitalization (€ m) 310 255

Total number of shares in circulation 
(31 Dec.)

24,557,137 22,300,947

Earnings per share1) (basic and diluted) -0.67 -0.61

Equity per share1) 4.37 4.19

Net cash from/used in operating 
activities per share1)

-0.41 -0.93

Free float2) (in %) 80.4 80.7

1) Reference figure: total number of shares in circulation
2) Shareholding below 3%, Source: Medigene AG
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10 GROUP MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 

OF MEDIGENE AG, PLANEGG/MARTINSRIED, AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2018 

KEY EVENTS IN FISCAL YEAR 2018: 
Immunotherapies:  

→ Medigene enters into an exclusive license agreement with the University of Leiden for the development of a 
new HA-1 TCR receptor 

→ Medigene publishes interim results of the current Phase I/II clinical trial with DC vaccines for AML patients 

→ Medigene announces a significant expansion of the TCR alliance with bluebird bio and receives another 
upfront payment of US$8 m.  

→ Medigene starts Phase I/II clinical trial with T cell receptor-modified T cell therapy (TCR-T) MDG1011 

→ Medigene presents data at the AACR conference on the successful production of dendritic cell (DC) vaccines 
for the current Phase I/II clinical trial in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) 

→ Academic partner Oslo University Hospital presents clinical compassionate use data with DC vaccines for 
AML at the ASH Annual Meeting and clinical data for DC vaccines from the IIT study into prostate cancer at 
the AACR Conference  

→ Medigene strengthens its patent portfolio with a US patent for a tagged TCR and a European patent for a T 
cell identification method for CD4+-T cells for use in treating solid tumors 

→ Medigene and Structured Immunity commence collaboration on improved T cell receptor development  

Company: 

→ Medigene raised €32.3 m gross proceeds through an oversubscribed private placement of new shares  

→ Dr. Kai Pinkernell appointed as Chief Medical Officer and Chief Development Officer of the Executive 
Management Board 

→ Dr. Thomas Taapken resigned from his position as Chief Financial Officer effective August 31, 2018 
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS IN 2018 
→ Revenue from the core business of immunotherapies increased by 22% to €5,980 k (2017: €4,886 k) 

→ Reduction of total revenue to €7,754 k (2017 adjusted: €8,882 k) on account of declining revenue from non-
core business as planned. Deviation from guidance due to FREP decision on the financial statements for 
2016 (forecast 2018: €9.5 – 10.5 m) 

→ Research and development (R&D) expenses increased by 15% to €17,117 k (2017: €14,877 k) (guidance: €19 
– 21 m) 

→ Selling and general administrative expenses decreased by 8% to €7,613 k (2017: €8,266 k)  

→ 11% increase in EBITDA loss to €16,253 k (2017: €14,615 k) (guidance: €16 – 18 m) 

→ Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits of €71,408 k as at 12/31/2018 (12/31/2017: €51,724 k) 
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COMPANY OVERVIEW 
Medigene AG, Planegg/Martinsried (hereinafter referred to as “Medigene” or “the Company”), together with its 

consolidated subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as the “Group”), is a biotechnology company headquartered in 

Martinsried near Munich, Germany. The Company develops highly innovative immunotherapies to target various 
forms and stages of cancer. Medigene concentrates on the development of personalized T cell-based 
immunotherapies with a focus on T cell receptor-modified T cells (TCR-Ts) and corresponding projects in pre-
clinical and clinical development.  

Organizational and legal structure of the Group 

Medigene AG was founded in 1994 as a limited liability company in Planegg/Martinsried near Munich, Germany. 
In 1996, the Company was converted into a joint stock corporation. The Company’s headquarters are located at 

Lochhamer Strasse 11, 82152 Planegg/Martinsried, Germany. The Company is registered in the commercial 
register of the Munich Local Court under HRB 115761. Medigene AG has been listed since June 2000 (Deutsche 
Börse: Regulated Market, Prime Standard; German Security Identification Number (WKN) A1X3W0, symbol 
MDG1, International Securities Identification Number (ISIN) DE000A1X3W00).  

In addition to the parent company Medigene AG in Planegg/Martinsried, the Group includes the wholly owned 
subsidiary Medigene Immunotherapies GmbH (hereinafter referred to as “Medigene Immunotherapies”), 

Planegg/Martinsried, since its acquisition in January 2014, and the wholly owned subsidiary Medigene, Inc., San 
Diego, California, USA, which was acquired in 2001. The Group is managed by the Executive Management Board 
of the parent company, Medigene AG. The management of the respective subsidiaries is composed of members 
who sit on the Group’s Executive Management Board.  

Segments  

Medigene’s business activities are comprised of the two business units Immunotherapies (core business) and 

Other products (non-core business). The regional segmentation differentiates between the USA, Europe and 
other countries.  

Management structure 

The Executive Management Board of Medigene AG currently comprises Prof. Dr. Dolores Schendel (CEO and 
CSO, appointed until March 31, 2022) and Dr. Kai Pinkernell, who was appointed on April 1, 2018 to take charge 
of clinical development and product development (CMO/CDO, appointed until March 31, 2020). The CFO, Dr. 
Thomas Taapken resigned from the Executive Management Board on August 31, 2018. Responsibility for the 
departments formerly entrusted to Dr. Taapken has been assumed by Prof. Schendel and Dr. Pinkernell. Axel-
Sven Malkomes has been appointed Chief Financial Officer and Chief Business Development Officer effective 
April 1, 2019.  

Strategy 

T cell immunotherapies have the potential to treat various forms of cancer. DC vaccines in particular are used for 
relapse prevention of cancer which has already been treated, whereas T cell receptor (TCR)-modified T cell 
therapies are being developed for the treatment of acute cancer diseases. Medigene’s strategy is to develop its 

own therapies and to commercialize them, starting with hematological malignancies. In addition, the Company 
offers selected partners the opportunity to discover and develop additional treatments on the basis of its 
technological platforms. With its scientific expertise, Medigene is working on the development and marketing of 
innovative immunotherapies in fields of high medical need. The Company intends to reach this goal by exploiting 
its own resources and also by entering into partnerships with other companies.
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Status of research and development activities 

Medigene is developing different complementary immunotherapies: T cell receptor (TCR)-modified T cells, 
dendritic cell (DC) vaccines, and T cell-specific monoclonal antibodies, (TABs). The first product candidates are in 
clinical development and the Company has several promising preclinical development programs. The Company is 
focusing particularly on the development of its TCR therapies because these have the potential to treat cancers 
for which there is currently no cure.  

Core business:  

Immunotherapies  
T cells are the most important agents in the immune system and are at the center of Medigene’s approach. With 

the aid of Medigene’s immunotherapies the patient’s own defense mechanisms are activated and T cells 
harnessed in the battle against cancer. 

Medigene’s immunotherapies have been developed to treat various forms of tumors. In this way, it is intended 

to provide a T cell response of the patient’s immune system that is tailored to the patient’s particular diseases 

and disease stages.  

T cell receptor-based adoptive T-cell therapy (TCR-Ts) 

Medigene’s TCR therapies aim to arm the patient’s own T cells with tumor-specific T cell receptors. The receptor-
modified T cells should thereby be able to detect and efficiently kill tumor cells. This approach to 
immunotherapy aims to overcome the patient’s tolerance to cancer cells and tumor-induced 
immunosuppression, by activating the patient’s T cells outside the body (ex-vivo), genetically modifying them 
with tumor-specific TCRs and finally multiplying them. In this way, large numbers of specific T cells to fight the 
tumor are made available to patients within a short period of time. In the context of its TCR platform Medigene 
is developing a pipeline of recombinant T cell receptors which are isolated from the blood of healthy donors.  

In the first quarter of 2018 the CTA for Medigene’s first TCR-candidate MDG1011 was approved by the German 
regulatory authority Paul-Ehrlich-Institute (PEI) and final approval for the study was granted. MDG1011 is 
Medigene’s first clinical TCR-T immunotherapy product candidate and the trial with MDG1011 is the first clinical 
trial with a TCR-T therapy in Germany. 

In Phase I of the trial, approximately 12 blood cancer patients with acute myeloid leukemia (AML), 
myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) or multiple myeloma (MM) are to be treated. In total (Phase I and Phase II) 
roughly 92 patients are to be included in the trial. Patients are first tested for suitable Human Leukocyte Antigen 
(HLA) status and then whether their tumor cells are positive for the expression of the PRAME antigen. Only if 
these basic requirements are met, among other inclusion criteria, can the respective patient be enrolled into the 
clinical trial. As a first step, an apheresis is performed to isolate the patient’s own T cells. These are then 

equipped with Medigene’s specific PRAME TCRs and subsequently expanded. After comprehensive quality 
testing of the T cell therapy product the patient undergoes a preparative chemotherapy and a one-time infusion 
of MDG1011. In the early stages of this clinical development, Medigene expects a production time of about six 
weeks from the beginning of an apheresis process until completion of the cell product.  

For this “first-in-country” and “first-in-human” TCR-therapy trial in Germany, Medigene has trained and 
activated three study centers to conduct this personalized cell therapy. The university hospitals in Regensburg, 
Erlangen and Würzburg actively screened suitable patients in the second half of 2018 and enrolled them in the 
trial.  
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In the second six months of 2018 Medigene undertook intensive preparations to contact additional hospitals in 
order to increase the number of study centers and to foster accelerated patient recruitment. The first official 
approvals have been received to activate new centers. Consequently, the first new centers are expected to 
commence recruiting in the second quarter of 2019. 

In November 2018, Medigene announced that the German regulatory authority, the Paul-Ehrlich-Institut (PEI), 
has approved an amendment of the trial inclusion criteria that should also allow more flexible and rapid 
enrollment of patients. Prior to this, the trial protocol had required at least one patient per indication (AML, 
MDS, MM) in a dose cohort of three patients. After implementing the approved change, at least one patient with 
MM and at least one patient with AML or MDS is required to complete the dose cohort. This enables more 
flexibility and potentially more rapid enrollment of patients. Moreover, an analytical method for determining 
PRAME expression has been optimized, which results in an increase in the number of potential patients for the 
clinical trial. Medigene also announced in the third quarter of 2018 that the first personalized MDG1011 cell 
product was successfully manufactured with patient-specific T cells in the course of the trial in compliance with 
the clinical trial protocol. A sufficient number of therapeutic TCR-modified T cells with autologous T cells was 
generated despite the advanced disease stage of the patient. However, the patient could not be treated with the 
therapeutic product because he dropped out of the trial beforehand on account of the rapid progression of the 
underlying disease. 

In February 2019 the first-patient received the TCR therapy candidate MDG1011. A patient with multiple 
myeloma (MM) received the single-dose therapy at Clinic 5 of the University of Erlangen. 

In March 2018, Medigene announced the grant of a European patent that covers antigen specific human MHC-
class II restricted CD4+ T cells for use in a method for the treatment of solid tumors. The CD4+ T cells are being 
obtained by Medigene’s proprietary ex vivo method of generating allo-restricted T cells. Current research shows 
that CD4+ T cells fulfill a much broader function in the human immune system than previously thought. CD4+ T 
cells can enter tumor tissue and exert anti-tumor functions in the tumor. The CD4+ T cells, which can be 
obtained with Medigene’s patented method hold great potential to supplement the cytotoxic capabilities of 

adoptive T cell therapies. The underlying patent family additionally comprises patents granted in the US and 
Japan. In February 2018, Medigene announced the grant of a US patent, covering a high affinity T cell receptor 
with a specific tag. These patents expand Medigene’s growing patent portfolio in the field of TCR-T 
immunotherapies. 

In May 2018, Medigene announced a significant expansion of its successful strategic alliance with the US 
company bluebird bio, Inc. Cambridge, MA, USA, (“bluebird bio”) to identify and develop TCR-Ts. Under the 
revised terms of the agreement, the number of target antigen/MHC restriction combinations for the discovery of 
specific TCR lead candidates by Medigene will be increased from four to six. As part of this contractual 
expansion, Medigene received an additional upfront payment of US$8 m (€6.7 m). R&D funding for all work to 
be performed by Medigene in this collaboration will be increased proportionally to address the broader scope of 
the collaboration. If successfully developed and marketed through several indications and markets, Medigene 
could receive up to USD 250 m in milestone payments per TCR program in addition to tiered royalty payments 
on net sales up to a double-digit percentage. Following the amendment of this agreement, Medigene also 
received an additional payment of US$1 m (€0.8 m) associated with reaching the first collaboration milestone. 
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In August 2018, Medigene announced a research cooperation with Structured Immunity, a biotech company that 
specializes in optimizing and validating T cell receptor (TCR) proteins. Under the agreement, Medigene will 
provide Structured Immunity with a lead TCR candidate for a high profile solid tumor target. Structured 
Immunity will evaluate the specificity and recognition properties of this TCR using its established structural  

immunology technologies with the goal to better understand how to select highly effective TCRs for cell 
therapies. Medigene assumes certain costs incurred within the framework of the collaboration which will be 
expensed through profit or loss. According to the management, these costs are not material for the Group’s 

earnings. 

In November 2018, Medigene announced that it had signed an exclusive license agreement with Leiden 
University Medical Center (LUMC) in the Netherlands for the worldwide rights to develop, manufacture and 
commercialize an HA-1-specific T cell receptor (TCR) as a targeted immunotherapy for cancer. 

The TCR specific for the minor histocompatibility antigen HA-1 was developed by LUMC and tested for 
preliminary safety and tolerability in a Phase I clinical trial involving five patients. HA-1 is a well-characterized 
antigen expressed in cells of the hematopoietic system, in leukemia and lymphoma cells, as well as expressed in 
various solid tumors.  

The HA-1-targeting T cell receptor is intended to complement Medigene's preclinical and clinical development 
program. Medigene has already conducted its own extensive research and development for the HA-1 antigen 
and was able to confirm the potential of this approach in general and this TCR candidate in particular. The 
potential applicability of these TCRs in both liquid and solid tumors makes strategic sense within Medigene’s 

growing internal development pipeline. According to the agreement, Medigene receives an exclusive global 
license to develop and commercialize the rights to HA-1 specific TCR developed by LUMC. In return LUMC 
receives a one-off payment and certain milestone payments that are expensed through profit or loss. These are 
not material for the Group’s earnings. With regard to the commercialization of therapies, LUMC receives a low 
single-digit percentage royalty on sales. 

In January 2019 Medigene announced an exclusive license agreement with Helmholtz Zentrum Munich (HMGU) 
for a chimeric co-stimulatory receptor. This fusion protein of PD-1 and 4-1BB was developed as a strategy to 
potentially overcome the blockade of T cells by solid tumors. Medigene acquired the license to improve the 
functionality of its proprietary TCR-Ts and potentially develop an effective immune response to solid tumors as 
well. Medigene plans to evaluate the use of the co-stimulatory receptor in combination with its own TCRs in 
preclinical models. Medigene will pay HMGU an upfront fee, an annual maintenance fee, milestone payments 
and royalties on marketed therapeutic and diagnostic products containing the chimeric co-stimulatory 
receptor.  The payments are expensed through profit or loss and in aggregate, are not material for the Group’s 

earnings. 

DC vaccines (DCs) 

In April 2018, Medigene and researchers from Oslo University Hospital presented a poster at the annual meeting 
of the American Association for Cancer Research (AACR) on the generation of dendritic cell vaccines for 
Medigene’s ongoing Phase I/II clinical trial with AML patients. The results clearly demonstrate the feasibility and 

robustness of Medigene’s production protocol for clinical grade TLR7/8-polarized fast mature DCs from critically 
ill and heavily pretreated AML patients, allowing for long-term vaccination of trial subjects in the ongoing trial. 
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Also at the AACR conference in April 2018, Medigene’s academic partner, Oslo University Hospital, presented an 

update of a Phase I/II investigator initiated trial (IIT). The data show that adjuvant dendritic cell vaccines in high-
risk prostate cancer patients following radical surgery can potentially reduce the incidence of early biochemical 
relapse. The clinical data was collected at the Department of Cellular Therapy at Oslo University Hospital, 
Norway, partially utilizing Medigene’s DC vaccine technology. In particular, the subset of DC vaccines produced 
using Medigene’s DC vaccine technology returned encouraging data for this group of patients, who have limited 

number of treatment options available to them.  

In December 2018, scientists from Oslo University Hospital presented an update on clinical compassionate use 
data of their dendritic cell (DC) vaccine utilizing Medigene's DC vaccine technology for production at the 2018 
American Society of Hematology (ASH). The results of five acute myeloid leukemia (AML) patients treated with 
dendritic cells (DCs) expressing the tumor antigens WT-1 and PRAME were presented at the conference. 

The clinical results show that at the time of the presentation three out of five patients are alive without current 
signs of relapse. Two patients received DC vaccines for 22 and 37 months and have been followed for 61 and 44 
months respectively, since completion of chemotherapy. The third younger patient had a relapse and 
vaccination was halted after 10 months. This individual was then given allogeneic stem cell transplantation and 
remains in complete remission after 59 months. One further patient was vaccinated for 24 months without signs 
of relapse but died 27 months post chemotherapy due to unrelated heart disease. The fifth patient, who showed 
no T cell activity, relapsed after 12 months of vaccination and died at month 20. 

In December 2018 Medigene published the first interim clinical results from its ongoing company-sponsored 
Phase I/II clinical trial of a dendritic cell (DC) vaccine in 20 patients with acute myeloid leukemia (AML). The data 
represents topline data from an interim dataset after half of the treatment period, i.e. after vaccination of all 
patients and a treatment of one year in each case.  

After one year of treatment, the interim results show that Medigene’s personalized DC vaccines display an 

excellent safety profile and excellent manufacturing potential. Initial data on the efficacy of the therapy point in 
the right direction. However, a final assessment cannot be made until the full two-year treatment is completed. 

A total of 20 subjects (median age of 59, ranging between 24 and 73) with AML (risk groups good, intermediate, 
poor: 13, 5, 2), in morphologic complete remission (CR) or complete remission with incomplete hematologic 
recovery (CRi) after induction or consolidation therapy, not eligible for allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell 
transplantation, were enrolled into this safety and feasibility Phase I/II trial, vaccinated and followed up for 12 
months. Subjects in this trial had AML that was positive for Wilms Tumor-1 (WT-1) antigen with or without 
positivity for Preferentially Expressed Antigen in Melanoma (PRAME). Vaccination with dendritic cells, presenting 
the antigens WT-1 and PRAME, was carried out monthly, with a higher frequency within the first 6 weeks. AML 
diagnoses had been established with a median of 9.8 months before the first vaccination (range 4.5 to 17.5 
months), and the last chemotherapy infusion had been performed at a median of 6.9 months (range 2 to 14.8 
months). 

The vaccinations were well tolerated with no serious adverse events (SAEs) related to the treatment. The most 
common adverse events (AEs) were injection site related, accounting for 35% of all AEs and mild in nature 
(Grade 1). 
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After a 12-months treatment period, the overall survival was 89% (18 of 20 patients, 95% confidence interval: 61 
to 97%) and the progression free survival was 60% (12 of 20 patients, 95% confidence interval: 36 to 78%). Most 
relapses, 5 out of 8, occurred within the first 80 days after the start of the vaccination, out of which the 2 deaths 
were in patients with relapses on days 45 and 64, which could point to a starting relapse upon entering the 
study. 

Medigene intends to present the detailed data from the interim analysis at a scientific conference in the first half 
of 2019. 

The completion of the ongoing trial is scheduled for the end of 2019 following a two-year treatment period. 

T cell-specific monoclonal antibodies (TABs) 

Medigene researches its TAB platform (T cell-specific antibodies) in two different directions: firstly with the 
objective of generating monoclonal antibodies that can recognize and differentiate between healthy and 
pathogenic T cells. These could be used as therapeutic agents to treat T cell leukemias and potentially 
autoimmune diseases. In preclinical experiments, Medigene was able to show proof-of-technology for the 
elimination of unwanted T cells.  
Secondly, Medigene wants to develop unique reagents for better immune-monitoring, diagnostic, quality control 
and potential security applications regarding the Company’s TCR cellular immunotherapy approaches. Medigene 

currently works on the isolation of antibodies for monitoring and tracking of TCR-modified T cell products.  

Other products (non-core business): 

Several drugs and drug candidates stem from the time before the Company’s focus on the clinical development 

of immunotherapies research, which are predominantly marketed and developed by partners. The following are 
the relevant products from Medigene’s non-core business: 

Veregen 

Medigene generates revenue from royalties, product sales, and milestone payments with Veregen, a drug for 
the treatment of genital warts. Veregen is based on a defined extract from green tea leaves and is currently 
available in the USA and Canada, in 20 European countries, and in Taiwan. Marketing agreements for Veregen 
are in place with different partners (see www.medigene.com/pipeline/other-products).  

RhuDex 

Since 2014 an exclusive global license agreement has been in place with the pharmaceutical company Dr. Falk 
Pharma GmbH for the development and marketing of the drug candidate RhuDex in the hepatology and 
gastroenterology indications. Falk Pharma assumes responsibility and all costs relating to the future 
development and marketing of RhuDex in these therapeutic areas. In 2018, Falk Pharma tested a new 
formulation candidate in a clinical Phase I trial. Based on the pharmacokinetic profile, a lead formula was chosen 
and three different dosing groups defined for the next stage of development. 

Corporate development 

Management  
In April 2018, Medigene announced the appointment of Dr. Kai Pinkernell as Chief Medical Officer (CMO) and 
Chief Development Officer (CDO) to the Executive Management Board of the Company. Dr. Pinkernell has been 
with Medigene as Senior Vice President and Chief Medical Officer (CMO) since February 2016. The appointment 
of Dr. Pinkernell reflects the growing clinical focus of Medigene and its advancement as a clinical stage immuno-
oncology company. Dr. Kai Pinkernell has been appointed to the Executive Management Board until March 31, 
2020. The appointment of Prof. Dolores Schendel to the Executive Management Board has been prolonged until 
April 30, 2022. 
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A resolution was passed at the Annual General Meeting on May 15, 2018 to increase the size of the Supervisory 
Board and Dr. Frank Mathias, the CEO of Rentschler SE, Laupheim, was elected as an additional board member. 

Effective August 31, 2018, Dr. Thomas Taapken resigned from his position as Chief Financial Officer (CFO) for 
personal reasons. The tasks and duties of the CFO have been assumed by the other members of the Executive 
Management Board and the Finance Department of the Company until the position is filled.  

Effective April 1, 2019, Axel-Sven Malkomes has been appointed Chief Financial Officer and Chief Business 
Development Officer. 

Placement of new shares with institutional investors 
On May 24, 2018, the Company announced that it has raised €32.3 m in gross proceeds through a significantly 
oversubscribed private placement via an accelerated book building transaction. Medigene issued 2,230,000 new 
shares from authorized capital to institutional investors at a price of €14.50 per share. The capital increase 
represents approximately 10% of shares outstanding before the transaction. In addition to existing and new 
institutional investors, Medigene was able to win Tong Yang Networks Co. from South Korea, as a new long-term 
anchor investor. According to the most recent notification of voting rights, Tong Yang held 6.72% of the shares in 
Medigene on May 30, 2018. 

Development of the share price 

The price of the Medigene was highly volatile over the course of 2018. In the second half of the year, a general 
decline in market share prices contributed to higher volume sales of Medigene shares. This is reflected in 
Medigene’s share price, which slumped after four years of strong growth. The share price development turned 
positive again at the beginning of 2019. 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
Restatement of comparative periods due to accounting error 

Effective April 1, 2012, Medigene had assigned future cash flows from Astellas in connection with the share in 
European net revenue from the drug Eligard to Cowen Healthcare Partners II, L.P., USA in return for a payment 
of US$17.7 m (equivalent to €14.1 m at the time of cash inflow). To date this has been treated as a financing 
arrangement. In the course of a random sample examination of the consolidated financial statements for the 
year ended December 31, 2016 by the German Financial Reporting Enforcement Panel (Section 342 (2) Sentence 
3 No. 3 German Commercial Code (HGB)), the FREP determined that Medigene should have recognized the 
above payment in full as revenue back in 2012. As a result, in the consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2016 the current liabilities remaining from the initial accounting were overstated by €1.5 
m. Non-current liabilities were overstated by €9.4 m and equity was understated by €10.9 m. 

The Group has corrected the error determined by FREP taking deferred taxes into account in the consolidated 
financial statements for the reporting year retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8.41 et seq. Reference is made 
to the notes to the consolidated financial statements → note (3). 
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Revenue and other operating income 

The revenue generated by the Company in its core business of immunotherapies rose by 22% to €5,980 k in the 
reporting period (2017: €4,886 k). This is primarily attributable to the strategic research and development 
cooperation agreement that was signed with bluebird bio in 2016 and significantly expanded on May 14, 2018. 
On the basis of this cooperation agreement Medigene received a non-recurring upfront payment of US$15 m 
(€13.4 m) in 2016 and an additional upfront payment of US$8 m (€6.7 m) plus a payment of US$1 m (€0.8 m) 
upon reaching the first milestone of the collaboration. In addition, the number of employees whose time could 
be fully billed to bluebird bio was increased. 

In addition to its core business, Medigene also generated revenue of €1,596 k (2017: €2,790 k) with its out-
licensed drug, Veregen. In December 2017 the US rights to Veregen were sold to Fougera Pharmaceuticals, 
Inc., USA. In the previous years, an average of over 50% of revenue Veregen was generated in the US. For this 
reason, 43% of the decrease is primarily due to the sale of the US rights to Veregen. 

Other operating income generated by the Company decreased by 85% to €178 k in the reporting period (2017 
restated: €1,206 k). The main factors in this regard include a positive non-recurring effect of €1,080 k in the 
previous year due to the sale of the US rights to Veregen to Fougera Pharmaceuticals, Inc., USA, as described 
above. 

Overall, the Company generated total revenue of €7,754 k (2017 restated: €8,882 k). The total revenue forecast 
in the 6-month report for 2018 of between €9.5 – 10.5 m was issued prior to the FREP’s determination of an 
accounting error in the 2016 financial statements, after which income from the assignment in 2012 of the rights 
to receive royalties for Medigene’s former drug, Eligard could no longer be realized. 

For a more detailed analysis of revenue by region, segment and date of revenue recognition, please see → notes 
(20) and (25).  

TOTAL REVENUE 
IN € K 2018 2017 

restated1) 
CHANGE 

Revenue from immunotherapies (bluebird bio cooperation) 5,980 4,886 22% 
thereof revenue from the derecognition of contract liabilities 3,473 3,575 -3% 
thereof revenue from milestone payments 837 0 - 
thereof R&D payments  1,670 1,311 27% 

Revenue Veregen® 1,596 2,790 -43% 
Other operating income 178 1,206 -85% 

thereof gain on sale of intangible assets, net (US rights for Veregen®) 0 1,080 - 
thereof other income 178 126 41% 

Total revenue  7,754 8,882 -13% 
1) IAS 8 restatement - see note (3) in the notes to the consolidated financial statements  

 
Selling and general administrative expenses 

Selling and general administrative expenses decreased by 8% to €7,613 k (2017: €8,266 k) largely on account of a 
reduction in selling expenses due to the fact that regulatory expenses are no longer charged by the FDA as the 
US rights for Veregen® were sold and the agreement with the supplier of the active ingredient of Veregen® was 
terminated in the prior year. 
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The composition of selling and general administrative expenses can be found in → notes (27) and (28) to the 
consolidated financial statements.  

Research and development expenses 

Research and development expenses increased by 15% in the fiscal year 2018 to €17,117 k (2017: €14,877 k) due 
to further expansion of the research work performed on immunotherapy projects. The increase in research and 
development costs can be largely attributed to the increase of €1,248 k in personnel expenses, which reflects 
the rise in the headcount of FTEs assigned to research and development from 64 in 2017 to 73 in 2018. 

In spite of the 15% increase, R&D expenses did not reach the adjusted guidance released in Q3 of between €19-
21 m as some activities have been postponed to 2019 such as the costs of producing the study materials and 
treatment of patients in the MDG1011 clinical trial will be incurred later than expected in some cases.  

The R&D costs incurred for the collaboration with bluebird bio are reimbursed by bluebird bio and stated under 
revenue from immunotherapies as R&D payments from partners.  

The composition of R&D expenses can be found in → note (29) to the consolidated financial statements.  

EBITDA 

The EBITDA loss generated by the Company in the year 2018 rose 11% to €16,253 k (2017 restated: €14,615 k). 
Medigene’s EBITDA is derived from the net profit/loss for the year and does not include any taxes, financial 

result (comprising interest income and interest expense), foreign exchange gains or losses, other financial result, 
or depreciation or amortization. At roughly €16 m, the EBITDA loss for 2018 was as expected (adjusted guidance 
for 2018 published in the 9M quarterly report: an EBITDA loss of between €16 - €18 m). However, the shift of 
research and development costs into the year 2019 referred to above, also in connection with the clinical trials 
of MDG1011, was offset by the correction pursuant to IAS 8  note (3) to the consolidated financial statements. 

EBITDA 

IN € K 2018 2017 
restated1) 

CHANGE 

Net profit/loss for the year  -17,049 -15,989 7% 
Taxes 45 344 -87% 
Financial result -74 435 -117% 
Foreign exchange gains -182 -171 6% 
Other financial result -565 -501 13% 
Depreciation and amortization 1,572 1,267 24% 
EBITDA  -16,253 14,615 11% 
1) IAS 8 correction - see note (3) to the consolidated financial statements  

 
Financial result  

The financial result is the net result of interest income and interest expenses and amounted to €74 k (2017 
restated: €-435 k) in the reporting period. The negative financial result in the previous year can be attributed to 
the fair value adjustment of a liability for contingent consideration that was settled in the previous year. 
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Other financial result  

The other financial result also includes contingent purchase price payments of €565 k (2017: €501 k) based on 
sales for Amgen’s drug, ImlygicTM. At the end of 2015 Medigene sold its spin-off, Catherex Inc., to Amgen Inc., 
USA. As part of this Medigene receives contingent purchase price payments based on sales for ImlygicTM through 
the end of 2020, and has a right to additional contingent purchase price payments that will be triggered upon 
reaching certain sales-based milestones for ImlygicTM.  

Net profit/loss for the year 

Due to the factors described above, the net loss for the reporting period increased by 7% to €17,049 k, (2017 
restated: €15,989 k). 

Earnings per share 

In 2018 the loss per share amounted to €-0.72 (basic/diluted weighted average number of shares: 23,669,241) 
compared with a restated loss per share of €-0.74 in the comparative period of the previous year (basic/diluted 
weighted average number of shares: 21,501,074). For both fiscal years, the diluted earnings per share were the 
same as the basic earnings per share, since taking into account the weighted average number of shares to be 
issued upon the exercise of stock options would produce an anti-dilutive effect.  

Segments 

The activities of Medigene AG are broken down into the segments Immunotherapies (core business) and Other 
products (non-core business) →  see the notes to the consolidated financial statements, E) “Segment reporting”. 
The Immunotherapies segment comprises the activities in the field of immunotherapies and is the main business 
focus of the Group.  

FINANCIAL POSITION 
CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
IN € K 2018 2017  CHANGE 

Net cash used in/provided by    
 operating activities  -10,142 -20,849 -51% 
 investing activities -19,473 15,214 >-200% 
 financing activities 29,299 18,729 56% 

Decrease/increase in cash and cash equivalents -316 13,094 -102% 
Cash and cash equivalents, opening balance  27,724 14,630 90% 
Cash and cash equivalents, closing balance 27,408 27,724 -1% 
Time deposits 44,000 24,000 83% 
Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits 71,408 51,724 38% 

 
Net cash used in operating activities 

Net cash used in operating activities decreased from €20,849 k in the fiscal year 2017 to €10,142 k in the fiscal 
year 2018. This decrease can be attributed to the one-time payment of €6.7 m (US$8 m) received from bluebird 
bio in June 2018 and a milestone payment of €0.8 m (US$1 m) received upon extending the TCR collaboration.  

This represents average monthly cash used in operating activities of €0.8 m in 2018 (2017: €1.7 m) in the year 
2018. Without the above payment from bluebird bio, the average monthly cash used would have been €1.5 m 

per month. 
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The average level of cash used in operating activities at present is not particularly indicative of future trends as it 
is significantly impacted by non-recurring payments in partner arrangements and research and development 
expenses which depend on the project status. 

Net cash used in/provided by investing activities 

Medigene invested most of the funds received from bluebird bio and from the capital increase carried out in 
May 2018 in time deposits with first class banks. As a result, the Company recognized net cash used in investing 
activities of €19,473 k (2017: cash provided of €15,214 k) in 2018.  

Net cash provided by financing activities 

Medigene recorded net cash provided by financing activities of €29,299 k (2017: €18,729 k) due to the capital 
increase conducted in May 2018 which led to gross proceeds of €32.3 m (May 2017: €20.7 m). 

Changes in cash and cash equivalents and time deposits 

Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits amounted to €71,408 k on the reporting date, consisting of cash 
and cash equivalents of €27,408 k (12/31/2017: €27,724 k) and time deposits of €44,000 k (12/31/2017: €24,000 
k). There were no open credit lines. The total cash used in fiscal year 2018 came to €10,345 k and was therefore 
lower than the revised guidance issued in the 9M quarterly report of €12 – 14 m. As described above, the main 
reason for the improvement lies in the shift of research and development costs related to the MDG1011 clinical 
trial being shifted to 2019. 

The total cash burn results from the change in cash and cash equivalents and time deposits as at the reporting 
date in comparison to the previous year reduced by the cash received in the capital increase and the cash inflow 
from the exercise of employee share options, less the cost of share issue in accordance with the consolidated 
statement of cash flows.  
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NET ASSETS 
DEVELOPMENT OF ASSETS, SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  
IN € K 12/31/2018 12/31/2017 

restated1) 
 

CHANGE 

Assets    
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 38,274 38,409 - 
Goodwill 2,212 2,212 - 
Financial and non-current other assets 6,908 7,974 -13% 
Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits 71,408 51,724 38% 
Inventories and trade accounts receivable 8,085 9,423 -14% 
Current other assets 2,703 2,195 23% 
Total assets 129,590 111,937 16% 
    
Shareholders’ equity and liabilities    
Shareholders’ equity 107,425 93,498 15% 
Non-current liabilities 13,344 10,315 29% 
Current liabilities 8,821 8,124 9% 
Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 129,590 111,937 16% 
1) IAS 8 correction - see note (3) to the consolidated financial statements  

 
Assets 

Non-current financial and other assets decreased by €1,066 k to €6,908 k as at the reporting date (12/31/2017: 
€7,974 k), mainly on account of the third-party payment of Syncore for the agreement concluded at the end of 
2015 for the sale of the former EndoTAG project (€-1,000 k).  

As explained under the financial position, cash and cash equivalents and time deposits increased to €71,408 k on 
the reporting date due to the funds received from bluebird bio and the capital increase conducted in May 2018 
(12/31/2017: €51,724 k). 

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities  

In the reporting period, shareholders’ equity increased by 15% to a total of €107,425 k as at December 31, 2018 
(12/31/2017 restated: €93,498 k). The increase is primarily due to the cash capital increase less the net 
comprehensive loss for the fiscal year 2018 of €17,049 k. For further details of the capital structure and the 
objectives and methods of financial risk management → notes to the consolidated financial statements, notes 

(38) and (44). 

As at the reporting date current and non-current liabilities totaled €22,165 k (12/31/2017 restated: €18,439 k). 
The increase of €3,726 k in liabilities is chiefly due to an increase in non-current contract liabilities.  

In the course of the cooperation with bluebird bio, Medigene received a non-recurring upfront payment of 
US$15 m (€13.4 m) in 2016 and an additional upfront payment of US$8 m (€6.7 m) in 2018 upon the contract 
being extended. These upfront payments are presented as non-current and current contract liabilities in the 
balance sheet and are released to revenue over the extended research horizon expiring in 2022. An amount of 
€3,473 k was realized as revenue in fiscal year 2018 (2017: €3,575 k). The contract liability related to the 
cooperation with bluebird amounts to €12,158 k as at December 31, 2018. 

The composition of current liabilities and non-current liabilities is presented in → see notes to the consolidated 

financial statements, note (41). 
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EMPLOYEES 
As at year-end 2018 the number of full-time equivalents came to 106 (12/31/2017: 90) excluding employees on 
parental leave. The headcount as at December 31, 2018 came to 118 (12/31/2017: 96).  

In order to improve the informative value of the headcount by function and do justice to the large share of part-
time workers, Medigene presents the average number of FTEs for fiscal years 2018 and 2017. 

AVERAGE FTES BY FUNCTION (WITHOUT THE EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT BOARD)  
 2018 2017 CHANGE 

Research and development 73 64 14% 
General administration 19 20 -5% 
Business development 6 7 -14% 
Total 98 91 8% 

 

Broken down by company and region, the workforce as at December 31 is structured as follows: 

EMPLOYEES BY COMPANY AND REGION  
 12/31/2018 12/31/2017 CHANGE 

Medigene Immunotherapies GmbH, Planegg/Martinsried 70 54 30% 
Medigene AG, Planegg/Martinsried 46 40 15% 
Medigene, Inc., San Diego 2 2 - 
Total 118 96 23% 

 

Personnel expenses increased by 15% in the fiscal year 2018 to €11,598 k (2017: €10,080 k), mainly as a result of 
the higher average headcount for the year as a whole and wage and salary increases. 
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OPPORTUNITY AND RISK REPORT 
Entrepreneurial success involves seizing business opportunities as well as taking risks while acting with the 
appropriate degree of responsibility. In addition to the entrepreneurial opportunities that present themselves to 
Medigene and whose use creates long term added value for the Company and its shareholders, Medigene’s 

management identifies and evaluates the possible risks that are most relevant to Medigene at an early stage. 

The most relevant entrepreneurial opportunities and the possible risks resulting from their use are described 
below. This section includes a description of the main features of the internal monitoring and risk management 
system with regard to the financial reporting process according to Sec. 289 (4) and Sec. 315 (4) of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB). 

Opportunities and risks in the area of immunotherapies in oncology. 
Medigene focuses on the development of immunotherapies and is therefore active in a highly innovative, rapidly 
growing and very promising market. Compelling results from the scientific studies and clinical trials as well as the 
approval of the first cell-based immunotherapies demonstrate that immunotherapies will become increasingly 
important for cancer therapy. In the coming years immunotherapies will be increasingly used to treat a growing 
range of malignancies. The development of immunotherapies for cancer has received additional stimulus in the 
US1 and in Europe2 as a number of drugs and individualized immunotherapies obtained approval. Ongoing 
clinical studies give hope that further drugs of this nature will be developed, either as individual active agents or 
in combination with others. Experts believe that immunotherapies for the treatment of cancer will become one 
of the most keenly observed fields for both scientists and investors on account of the growing evidence of their 
effectiveness and the attractive development partnerships between pharmaceutical and biotech companies.3 

The immunotherapies developed by Medigene should be used for the treatment of different cancer diseases, 
beginning with hematology. According to market analyses, the global market for cancer drugs will grow at an 
average annual rate of 6 – 9% to reach US$140 – 150 b in 2023.4 Approximately 10% of all new cases of cancer in 
the US fall within the field of hematology. By concentrating on the development of treatments for cancer and 
hematological malignancies in particular, Medigene is addressing a field with a great need for new medicines 
and growing economic potential.5 

Medigene is subject to the typical industry and market risks inherent in the development of pharmaceutical 
products using innovative technologies. Experience has shown that in the classical pharmaceuticals business, 
development of such a novel product generally takes up to 15 years. In principle, there is a risk that some or all 
of Medigene’s products may not be developed or marketed successfully. There is also the possibility that they 
may fail to obtain the regulatory approval required for marketing or further development, that one or all of the 
drug candidates turn out to be hazardous or ineffective, that not all the financing required to develop therapies  

  

                                                        
1 Novartis receives first ever FDA approval for a CAR-T cell therapy, Kymriah(TM) (CTL019), for children and young adults with B-cell ALL that 
is refractory or has relapsed at least twice (Link: https://www.novartis.com/news/media-releases/novartis-receives-first-ever-fda-approval-
car-t-cell-therapy-kymriahtm-ctl019 ) / Kite’s Yescarta™ (Axicabtagene Ciloleucel) Becomes First CAR T Therapy Approved by the FDA for the 
Treatment of Adult Patients With Relapsed or Refractory Large B-Cell Lymphoma After Two or More Lines of Systemic Therapy (Link: 
http://www.gilead.com/news/press-releases/2017/10/kites-yescarta-axicabtagene-ciloleucel-becomes-first-car-t-therapy-approved-by-the-
fda-for-the-treatment-of-adult-patients-with-relapsed-or-refractory-large-bcell-lymphoma-after-two-or-more-lines-of-systemic-therapy ) 
2 Yescarta obtains EU approval; (Link: http://www.pharmafile.com/news/518431/novartis-kymriah-gileads-yescarta-become-first-eu-
approved-car-t-therapies) 
3 Targeting Cancer: Therapeutic TCR-T-cells, Research from Bryan, Garnier & Co, 9 January 2019 
4 IQVIA: The Global Use of Medicine in 2019 and Outlook to 2023 https://www.iqvia.com/en/institute/reports/the-global-use-of-medicine-in-
2019-and-outlook-to-2023 
5 Facts 2017-2018, The Leukemia & Lymphoma Society, 2018 
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can be raised, that the products cannot be manufactured in large quantities or marketed profitably, or that they 
are not sufficiently competitive. Furthermore, proprietary rights held by third parties may pose an obstacle to 
marketing therapies, or other companies may launch products that are superior in terms of quality or market 
price. 

Opportunities and risks of pharmaceutical development and authorization 
Highly innovative forms of therapy, such as cellular immunotherapies for cancer diseases with a high medical 
need, are undergoing clinical development in some cases faster than traditional pharmaceutical products. 
Authorities responsible for market authorizations in various countries (in particular the US FDA and European 
EMA) have established shorter approval procedures in a number of cases. Especially if there are no available 
treatment options for otherwise incurably ill patients, novel therapeutic approaches such as those from 
Medigene may lead to such accelerated procedures. 

Nevertheless, Medigene’s product candidates also have to pass through numerous preclinical development 

stages, followed by the various phases of clinical trials with patients. In these trials, the effectiveness of the 
drugs and side effects are investigated. Delays in a clinical trial or in patient recruitment may result in higher 
costs and delay the market launch. In addition, numerous partners are involved in clinical trials, such as service 
providers and testing centers, whose non-performance would have far-reaching consequences for the progress, 
timing or financing of the trial.  

Equally, positive results of previous trials do not imply that an accurate forecast can be made of the outcome of 
future trials. It is not possible to predict the results of preclinical and clinical trials and these can be negative. 
Numerous pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies have experienced setbacks in clinical trials even after 
achieving promising results in earlier phases. In the field of cellular immunotherapies, trials by various other 
companies or academic institutes have shown significant side effects in some patients, which, in individual cases, 
led to death. Negative trial results can lead to delays or even to the termination of individual trials or 
development programs. Conversely, severe side effects and even individual cases of death resulting from this 
therapy in trials with severely ill patients without alternative forms of treatment do not necessarily have to lead 
to the discontinuation of a trial or development project. However, tested therapies may still be successfully 
developed further if the overall safety and efficacy profile is positive as demonstrated by examples from other 
companies. Medigene works closely together with the regulatory authorities and performs an annual risk 
assessment for each project in discussion with in-house and external experts.  

The Company commissions specialized service providers to conduct the required clinical trials. Medigene places 
a great deal of importance on consulting only experienced and well-known service providers to undertake 
clinical trials. Nevertheless, it is possible that a service provider may fail to conduct a trial properly in all respects 
or terminate the agreement, which could also cause delays in development or result in higher financial costs for 
clinical trials.  

As cell therapies, tumor vaccines and comparable therapeutic approaches are based on still novel technologies, 
it is possible that there may be changes in regulatory requirements. These could potentially lead to delays in the 
clinical development and approval processes for Medigene’s therapies.  

Once the preclinical and clinical trials have been concluded positively, the application for marketing approval can 
be submitted to the appropriate authorities. Once the application and data presented have been evaluated, the 
authorities decide whether or not to grant approval for marketing the particular product. There is a possibility 
that approval will be denied on the basis of the data submitted, or granted only on certain conditions, or that 
additional data will be required for a final decision on the therapy’s approval.  

  



MEDIGENE AG ANNUAL REPORT 2018 GROUP MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS  27 

 

In addition, there is the possibility of losing previously granted market approval in whole or in part if serious 
quality shortcomings or safety risks are subsequently ascertained.  

Opportunities and risks in the area of intellectual property rights 
Intellectual property rights and business secrets represent a core value — especially in research and 
development projects — of the Company. Medigene already has a comprehensive patent portfolio in the area of 
immunotherapies. Moreover, the Company is pursuing a strategy of promptly registering new inventions by 
employees, analyzing these inventions in terms of relevance and usability and if necessary transferring legal 
ownership and applying for patents. Medigene’s ability to license its technology or specific projects, at present 
or in the future is dependent on this approach, which is seen as an important business opportunity and 
therefore consistently pursued. 

Medigene’s success also depends on its ability to acquire comprehensive patents for its technologies and 
products, to protect its trade secrets, to defend infringements effectively and assert its own rights without 
infringing the rights of third parties. To protect its legally patented technologies and products, Medigene also 
has confidentiality agreements and contractual license restrictions in place with its partners, employees, 
consultants and other contractual parties. 

There is no guarantee that patents will not be challenged, declared invalid or circumvented, or that they will be 
of commercial benefit to the Company. The Company intends to take appropriate action against any 
infringements and to continue expanding its technology and product portfolio. However, in the areas concerned, 
third parties may assert legally protected interests based on industrial property rights or on cooperation, 
research and license agreements. 

Opportunities and risks in the production of cell-based therapies 
The production of cell-based immunotherapies requires a high degree of expert knowledge and experience, 
without which it is very difficult to be successful, in Medigene’s business segment. Medigene’s employees have a 

high degree of expertise in this area, which represents a strategic technological advantage.  

Medigene is currently dependent on external partners for the manufacture of therapies, as the construction of 
specialized production facilities for such products would involve high investments and would only be profitable if 
Medigene were to develop and/or market a large number of products in parallel. If it should not be possible to 
renew the terms of existing agreements with producers to be renewed and/or find suitable partners and/or 
Medigene’s partners cannot provide sufficient capacity at the desired time, this could lead to delays or an 

interruption in the production of the material needed to develop and market the therapies.  

The risks mentioned in this section may have a negative impact on the net assets, financial position and results 
of operations of the Company. 

Opportunities and risks from marketing and cooperation agreements 
Due to the considerable financial resources needed to get a new drug approved by the regulatory authorities 
and subsequently market it successfully, Medigene will depend on partnerships with other companies in the 
industry at various stages of development. Such partnerships for the development and/or marketing of 
Medigene’s therapies represent an attractive business opportunity, as they usually contribute to a prompt 

payment for the development work already carried out in the respective cooperation area and also allow 
Medigene to participate in the future success of the development and subsequent marketing. Such partnerships 
can thus have a significant positive impact on the Company’s performance. Corresponding partnerships may also 

reduce the need for Medigene to refinance itself regularly on the capital markets. In times of a difficult market 
environment, this financial support can sometimes lead to a decisive advantage.  
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However, it cannot be ruled out that collaboration partners may decide at a later date on the basis of internal 
strategies or other considerations to return all or part of the acquired rights to Medigene or to not develop such 
projects further. In addition, there is a risk that targets and milestones agreed in partnerships will not be 
achieved and that corresponding performance-related payments may be delayed or not paid at all. There is also 
no guarantee that these existing or future partners are able to market and sell the drugs to the extent that 
Medigene expects. This could have a long-term material impact on the net assets, financial performance and 
results of operations, lead to a substantial delay in the programs concerned as well as erode the trust shown by 
the industry and investors. 

For the research and development of its immunotherapies, Medigene seeks to make further arrangements with 
potential development and cooperation partners in addition to the existing collaboration. Should the Company 
fail to enter into cooperation agreements of this kind, this may delay or hinder the Company’s ability to develop 

its immunotherapy platforms or make such activities unreasonably expensive. This may adversely affect the 
Company’s net assets, financial position and results of operations. 

Competition 
When it comes to financing, developing and commercializing immunotherapies, Medigene is in competition with 
other players in the market for biotechnology and pharmaceuticals. Clear positioning in the area of 
immunotherapies, proprietary technological leadership in this area, the strong patent position, established 
collaborations with recognized companies in the field of immunotherapies and further factors all result in a 
strong competitive position. From this position, Medigene has so far been successful at refinancing itself on the 
capital markets, driving forward the partnering of proprietary technology, and achieving significant progress in 
the development of immunotherapeutic approaches. 

However, if competitors develop comparable therapies more rapidly, achieve better results and bring these to 
market, Medigene may no longer be in a position in future to win investors and business partners for the 
Company. Likewise, serious setbacks among competitors with similar therapies could lead to a loss in confidence 
in Medigene’s own therapies and technologies. The field of immunotherapies for cancer diseases is developing 
quickly and dynamically. Other companies are becoming increasingly active in this field and could challenge 
Medigene’s current competitive advantage. 

Financial opportunities and risks 
Medigene AG was founded in 1994 and the Company has reported operating losses in almost every fiscal year, 
as expenses for research and development in the relevant years exceeded the corresponding revenue or gross 
profit. The future achievement of profitability depends on progress in terms of operations as well as the 
Company’s strategic decisions and is not yet secured.  

Medigene finances its current research and development projects to a high degree through equity capital. The 
ability to obtain financing from investors through capital measures at any given time depends on the overall 
development of the capital market as well as on the Company’s operational progress and Medigene’s ability to 

present itself as an attractive investment target for investors. To this end, Medigene regularly attends investor 
events and seeks intensive dialogue with investors in face-to-face meetings, among other means. Capital market 
phases in which a positive underlying sentiment encourages the possibility of refinancing are consistently 
exploited by the Company to continuously improve the liquidity of the Company. This should make it possible to 
bridge difficult market times without having to suspend promising development projects. A prerequisite for 
successful capital measures is a positive development of the share price, the value of which depends on progress 
or possible setbacks in the Company’s development as well as on developments in the industry and capital 

markets. Medigene may not always have sufficient funds under acceptable terms and conditions at its disposal 
when required. Should this be the case, Medigene may need to reduce its spending on research and 
development, production or administration.  
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Medigene currently has a solid liquidity base as a result of the successful capital increase against cash 
contributions conducted in 2018, among others. The Executive Management Board currently believes that funds 
necessary for Company financing can be raised in due time. Possible sources of such funds may be additional 
partner arrangements with biotech/pharmaceutical companies or capital measures.  

Planning risks  
At least once a year, Medigene’s management prepares a detailed business plan incorporating the results of 

portfolio management and evaluation. This plan contains numerous assumptions relating to issues such as 
project progress, the outcome of clinical trials, the conclusion of new licensing agreements and development 
partner arrangements, the trend in product revenues and general conditions within the relevant pharmaceutical 
market segments. These assumptions may deviate substantially from actual future developments. Important 
prerequisites for achieving financial targets include the success of research and development activities as well as 
progress with the commercialization of drugs and drug candidates. Indirectly, the planning is affected by the 
activities of the cooperation partners to a not insignificant degree.  

There is no guarantee that Medigene will achieve the progress required to meet its financial targets and that its 
partners will be as commercially successful as expected. Medigene’s plans are based on assumptions regarding 

future research and development results and on estimates of the market and competitive environment. These 
assumptions may prove to be incorrect and thereby have a negative impact on the Company’s financial position 

and results of operations. 

For further details of the objectives and methods of financial risk management →notes to the consolidated 

financial statements, note (44). 

General and organizational risks 

Environmental and health protection 
Medigene is committed to safety and environmental protection. The Company meets stringent statutory 
requirements and also strives to keep its laboratory facilities and equipment state-of-the-art. In order to monitor 
compliance with regulatory requirements, Medigene has appointed an in-house officer for biological safety, a 
project manager in accordance with the provisions of the German Genetic Engineering Act (Gentechnikgesetz) as 
well as officers for infection prevention, safety and waste management, all of whom are experienced employees 
specifically trained for their specialist tasks. Medigene also employs a working safety specialist who has been 
trained in accordance with the guidelines of the statutory employers’ liability insurance scheme for the chemical 

industry. 

Medigene’s laboratory systems are serviced on an ongoing basis and are continuously maintained and 

expanded. Medigene enlists the help of external service providers to ensure that all accumulated waste 
materials are properly sorted and disposed of professionally or recycled in accordance with specific 
requirements. In order to guarantee safety in the workplace for each laboratory employee, the safety engineer 
performs hazard analyses and conducts training sessions. In addition, preventive medical check-ups are carried 
out at regular intervals. Medigene complies with all key requirements in respect of environmental protection 
and health and safety. The Company holds the requisite authorizations and permits. The Company has passed all 
random inspections and tests carried out by the various authorities to date without any relevant objections. 

  



30 GROUP MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 

Quality assurance 
Medigene’s quality assurance system complies with the requirements of the German Pharmaceuticals Act 
(Arzneimittelgesetz), the Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) guidelines as well as the guidelines on Good 
Clinical Practice (GCP) and Good Pharmacovigilance Practices (GVP). GMP contains quality assurance guidelines 
for all processes regarding the manufacture of medicinal products and active pharmaceutical ingredients. GCP 
encompasses requirements for quality assurance during clinical trials to protect trial participants and the quality 
of the trial results. GVP is centered on detecting, assessing, understanding and preventing side effects and other 
medicine-related issues. In addition, Medigene commissions preclinical trials of regulatory relevance, if 
necessary and required by authorities, to guarantee the quality and reliability of the data collected in line with 
Good Laboratory Practice (GLP). Following these guidelines ensures compliance with defined standards in the 
development, production, testing, and monitoring of pharmaceutical products. Medigene has a quality 
assurance system in place that has been elaborated in detail and is geared to the requirements of the Company, 
which is further specified in a large number of standard operating procedures (SOPs), and which is regularly 
checked for its efficiency. 

Information technology (IT) 
For the processing of data in the Company, Medigene consistently uses a modern and secure IT infrastructure 
that provides a high degree of efficiency and security. All critical corporate data, such as research and 
development data, financial and business data, regulatory documents and personal data, are handled in 
accordance with the relevant legal and regulatory requirements.  

There are risks in particular surrounding unauthorized access to sensitive electronic business information as well 
as the lack of system availability following disruptions and catastrophes. 

One focal point is the continuous development of security measures. An important component is structured 
rights management, optimization of the IT infrastructure and application security. Cyber-attacks are recognized 
at an early stage and successfully fought off with state-of-the-art hardware and software. Medigene 
complements the technical measures with consistent sensitization and training of all employees. 

Human resources  
Qualified employees and an experienced management team are fundamental factors in the success of 
Medigene. Binding those individuals who possess excellent skills and competencies to the Company for the long-
term will have a positive impact on the Company and its financial goals. Medigene has made significant 
reinforcements to its workforce of outstandingly qualified employees and managers and is optimistic that it can 
continue to attract key employees in the future and benefit from their expertise to drive forward the positioning 
of the Company as a leading player in the field of oncological immunotherapies. 

There is intense competition among companies to recruit employees with industry-specific expertise. 
Medigene’s commercial success will continue to depend on recruiting and retaining appropriately skilled 
employees for these areas. The possibility of a lack of qualified employees or the loss of people in management 
positions with key competencies becoming an obstacle to Medigene’s growth cannot be ruled out, a fact that 
may adversely affect the Company’s net assets, financial position and results of operations. 
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Legal risks and liability risks 
At present there are no pending lawsuits that could have a major influence on the Company’s financial situation 
or that of its subsidiaries. Judicial disputes cannot be ruled out in the future. These could arise, for example, 
from possible lawsuits by clinical trial participants or product liability claims, from administrative proceedings in 
connection with non-compliance with capital market regulations, or from legal disputes in connection with 
existing licensing or collaboration agreements. 

Medigene is exposed to the risk of substantial claims for damages in the event that a patient suffers significant 
adverse effects from participating in a clinical trial or being treated with a therapy developed by Medigene. In 
particular, such compensation claims could exceed Medigene’s insurance coverage and consequently have a 

negative impact on the Company’s financial position and results of operations, as well as its net cash.  

Although the procedures used in clinical trials are designed in such a way that the risks of potential adverse 
effects are identified and assessed, the possibility can never be ruled out that a product candidate may cause 
unexpected adverse side effects even after it has been approved. Such adverse effects may be detrimental to 
the drug’s safety profile and could be so severe that the drug has to be withdrawn from the market. 

Opportunities and risks in non-core business (other products) 

Veregen®  
Veregen® is still marketed and distributed in numerous other countries by partner companies after the sale of 
the US rights at the end of 2017. Medigene also remains the exclusive supplier of the active ingredient for the US 
market. There is the customary industry risk that Veregen® cannot be marketed to the desired extent for 
reasons of competition or other reasons over which Medigene has no influence. If the stock of active ingredients 
significantly exceeds demand in the long term, it may become necessary to record an impairment loss on the 
inventories. 

Medigene currently holds sufficient stocks of the active ingredient to market the drug for the long-term. The 
shelf life of Veregen® has now been extended to seven years and efforts continue to be made to further extend 
the shelf life. Based on recent supporting data on shelf life, a longer period of usability can be assumed, subject 
to the completion of respective regulatory processes. In addition, the Group applies the new valuation technique 
when calculating net realizable value which considers actuarial principles and the time value of money. Given the 
length of the planning period of more than 10 years, the assumptions and forecasts associated with this are 
subject to a significant degree of uncertainty (→see notes to the consolidated financial statements, note (35)). 
The shelf life of the active ingredient is assumed to be extended to up to 10 years while that of the Veregen 
ointment is assumed to be extended to up to 5 years. This assumption is based on Medigene’s internal 

investigations, for which the corresponding regulatory processes have not yet been completed.  

If the shelf life cannot be extended despite best efforts and the partner companies not supplied or if there is a 
deterioration in the parameters used to determine the discounted cash flows, including the discount rate, there 
may be a need to record an impairment loss on the inventories.  
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In March 2017 Medigene agreed on a license to the Drug Master File (DMF) with the former Japanese producer 
of the API. This document underlies approval from the applicable regulatory authorities and documents the 
production of the API. The license ensures that Medigene has the administration rights over the DMF in dealings 
with the regulatory authorities which enable it to make any changes that might become needed and thus 
maintain the approval of Veregen® in the countries concerned without which the drug cannot be marketed and 
generate revenue. The license agreement gives the Japanese company a right of termination in specific  

circumstances. If the partner terminates the license in the event of these specific circumstances, it may no 
longer be possible to market and distribute Veregen®. In December 2017, Medigene also granted the buyer of 
the US rights to Veregen® a sublicense to the DMF for the USA. A termination of the DMF license by the 
Japanese company would result in the current owner of the US rights not being able to maintain distribution, 
which would result in financial losses in the form of loss of sales of the active ingredient and thus the recognition 
of an impairment loss on the inventories. 

RhuDex® and EndoTAG® 
The Company has signed license agreements and purchase agreements with regard to its drug candidates 
RhuDex and EndoTAG®. The license holders and buyers are responsible for the development of these drug 
candidates and Medigene is eligible to receive payments upon certain development and approval milestones as 
well as royalties after market approval of RhuDex and/or EndoTAG®-1. However, the buyer and, under specific 
circumstances, the licensees are permitted to stop or to postpone the development of the drug candidates. In 
the event that development of the drug candidates should not be successful or be delayed or stopped, 
Medigene may receive milestone payments or royalties at a later date or not at all. For Rhudex®, this could also 
result in potential non-cash impairment losses up to a maximum of the carrying amounts of goodwill and 
intangible assets not yet available for use, which are allocated to the RhuDex® cash-generating units (→notes to 

the consolidated financial statements, note (33)). These named risks may have a negative impact on the net 
assets, financial position and results of operations of the Company.  

Risks from equity investments 
As a result of a spin-off performed in earlier years, Medigene holds shares in Immunocore, Ltd., a privately held 
biotech company, that are carried under non-current financial assets and are measured at their estimated fair 
value. If it is demonstrated that the business value of Immunocore has fallen, this would be associated with the 
risk of an impairment loss. As a result of the adoption of IFRS 9 as at January 1, 2018 and the decision taken to 
recognize the investment as a financial instrument in other comprehensive income, this reduces the volatility of 
profit or loss (→notes to the consolidated financial statements, note (34)).  

Principles of risk identification and risk controlling 
Medigene’s management utilizes a risk management system (RMS) that can be flexibly adapted to new 

situations and is subject to continuous review. Risks resulting from business activities are systematically 
recorded and valued based on probability of occurrence and possible loss potential. The respective information 
management involves regular reporting on newly arisen risks at least once a month by the risk managers to the 
Executive Management Board, an evaluation at least quarterly of all corporate risks in line with the definition of 
risks issued by the Executive Management Board, and the requirement that all risks to the Company’s ability to 

continue as a going concern be reported on an ad-hoc basis. All employees are encouraged to openly, 
completely and promptly report all business transactions which could involve potential risks and to then discuss 
these fully and openly with the Executive Management Board.  
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The transparent corporate culture of a corporate management, which is focused on opportunity as well as being 
aware of risks, sets the prerequisites for an early and comprehensive recognition of risks, which in turn forms 
the basis of efficient risk management. The Executive Management Board comprehensively informs the 
Supervisory Board of the reported risks at its meetings that are held at least four times a year. This diverse, 
regular communication allows the Executive Management Board to identify any risks at an early stage, evaluate 
their impact on Medigene and initiate appropriate countermeasures. 

Another important organizational safeguard is the avoidance of financial risks in particular, above all through the 
systematic segregation of functions. Activities or business transactions with inherent risks are never carried out 
by one employee alone – rather, several persons are generally responsible for the decision-making process and 
the decision itself. Work instructions and workflows as well as their recording are standardized to ensure the 
consistent and transparent execution of each individual operation. IT risks are minimized by means of clearly-
regulated and regularly reviewed access restrictions and policies for system development and maintenance, 
whereby forms, worksheets and laboratory journals are used to fully record and document all data. Medigene’s 

controlling department is responsible for target-oriented coordination of planning, information supply, and 
management and monitoring. In order to identify any deviations in business development, all projects undergo a 
monthly budget-to-actual comparison based on the respective budget figures, the results of which are regularly 
discussed with project managers and the Executive Management Board.  

Strategy 
Medigene regularly monitors the Company’s medium- to long-term strategy, as this prioritizes business 
opportunities and hence therapeutic development projects. It evaluates whether identified opportunities in the 
course of business development are to be reconciled with the resulting risks. As a result of this regular 
monitoring of the corporate strategy, adjustments are made where necessary and long-term corporate goals are 
defined. Information on the strategy of the Company can be found under →“Company overview” on p. 12.  

Portfolio strategy to reduce overall risk 
Medigene’s overall risk with regard to its success and existence as a going concern is essentially determined by 

the individual risks arising in different corporate divisions. The commercial success and future existence of 
Medigene depend primarily on successful drug development and product commercialization, as well as 
prevailing conditions on the capital market. Opportunities and risks arising in clinical development and product 
marketing, as well as from entering into successful strategic partner arrangements with the 
biotech/pharmaceutical industry and corporate financing are considered in the overall valuation. Medigene 
addresses the inherently high risk that individual projects might fail by maintaining a portfolio approach based 
on different technological and scientific projects that are independent of each other.  

Medigene’s project portfolio is managed proactively and assessed at regular intervals. The management process 

includes creating development plans for each individual project which are then adopted and monitored by the 
Executive Management Board. The regular assessment of the individual projects is based on the analysis and 
evaluation of their opportunities and risks, in addition to the technical development risks, the intellectual 
property and scientific progress of potential competitors as well as the general business environment of the 
pharmaceutical industry in the field of oncology are continuously analyzed and evaluated. Other areas covered 
by the assessment are clinical development considerations, market approval conditions, process development 
and portfolio strategy. Another significant element is the analysis of the current and future development of the 
specific oncology segment as a subsector of the drug market as well as broader public health policy. In particular, 
developments in the area of cost recovery in the health sector as well as guidelines for the treatment of cancer 
diseases are continuously monitored.  
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Results are summarized in a scenario analysis that includes a profitability assessment of individual projects based 
on discounted cash flows. This economic and feasibility study then provides the basis for any decision relating to 
Medigene’s overall portfolio and future strategic orientation of the Company. Medigene is supported by 
internationally renowned scientists and pharmaceutical experts in its research and development activities. Such 
consultations are based on the most up-to-date findings from research and clinical application.  

Business planning and forecasting 
The Executive Management Board regularly prepares a detailed business plan, at least once a year, incorporating 
the results of portfolio management and evaluation. This plan contains numerous assumptions relating to, 
among other items, project progress, the outcome of clinical trials, the conclusion of new licensing agreements, 
the trend in product revenue and general conditions within the relevant pharmaceutical market segments. 
These assumptions may deviate substantially from actual future developments. In order to be able to 
successfully manage the Company in spite of the resulting uncertainties, a variety of scenarios are developed 
regarding key assumptions with the aim of securing the Company’s further financing under certain assumptions.  

Adherence to the business plan is subject to continuous monitoring. The Company is managed on the basis of 
monthly analyses of budget deviations. Furthermore, the business plan is adjusted as soon as there are any 
changes in the assumptions made. A monthly liquidity and shareholders’ equity plan is also drawn up.  

Since Medigene finances its current research and development projects to a high degree with equity capital, it 
pays special attention to the developments on the capital market. The ability to obtain funding from investors 
through capital measures in due course depends not only on Medigene’s ability to convince investors that it is an 

investment target but also on the overall development of the capital market. For this reason, the risk assessment 
always also evaluates the possible effects of risks that may arise on the capital market’s perception of Medigene 

and takes these into account in risk management. 

Accounting-related internal control system 
Medigene considers its internal control and risk management system to be comprehensive and bases its 
approach on the definitions of accounting-related internal control system and risk management system provided 
by the Institute of Public Auditors in Germany, Düsseldorf (IDW). This approach defines an internal control 
system as consisting of the principles, procedures and measures introduced in the Company by the management 
with the purpose of implementing management decisions in the organization. Such principles, procedures and 
measures pursue the following goals:  

→ To deliver effective and efficient business activities (this also encompasses asset protection, including 
prevention and detection of fraud) 

→ To ensure proper and reliable internal and external financial reporting 

→ To comply with the legal requirements applicable to the Company policies 

The risk management system is the totality of all organizational regulations and measures introduced to identify 
and manage the risks of entrepreneurial activity. All companies, business units and departments included in the 
consolidated financial statements are integrated in the system via a defined leadership and reporting 
organization. 
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The Executive Management Board bears overall responsibility for the accounting-related internal control and risk 
management system of the consolidated companies and the Group.  

Medigene considers those aspects of the internal monitoring and risk management system that have a 
significant influence on group accounting and the overall picture conveyed by the group financial statements and 
group management report to be material. They include, in particular, the following elements: 

→ Identification of key risk zones and controlling areas relevant to the group-wide accounting process 

→ Checks to monitor the group-wide reporting system and its findings at the business unit and departmental 
levels and at the companies included in the consolidated financial statements 

→ Control measures for the finance and accounting systems of the Group and of those companies, units and 
divisions included in the consolidated financial statements that generate information which is fundamental 
to the preparation of the consolidated financial statements and the group management’s discussion and 

analysis. These control measures include the separation of duties and pre-defined approval processes in the 
relevant divisions 

→ Internal checks of the Group’s accounting-related internal control and risk management system by 
management 

Moreover, the Group has implemented a risk management system for the group-wide accounting process that 
includes measures to identify and assess major risks, as well as measures designed to limit such risks in order to 
ensure that the consolidated financial statements are properly prepared. 

Risk assessment 
After a detailed evaluation of the overall risk situation, the most important risk areas resulting from business 
activities were systematically evaluated according to their probability of occurrence and their loss potential 
(gross exposure). Due to Medigene’s continuing dependence on the capital market to secure its financing, the 

risk assessment always evaluates not only its possible effects on the net assets, financial position and results of 
operations but also the possible impacts on the share price and the capital market’s perception of Medigene. 

These factors were taken into account in risk assessment and management. A distinction is made between short- 
and medium-term risks. In comparison to the previous year, there has been a shift in the quantification of 
specific risks, such as a reduction in risk exposures due to advances in development and a reinforcement of the 
workforce as well as an increase in risk exposures due to growing competition. In addition, the upper limit on 
potential losses has been raised to allow a more differentiated analysis. As a result, there are different 
classifications in some risk areas compared to the previous year. The top ten risks as identified by management 
are summarized in the following table:  
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 SHORT TERM (1 YEAR) MEDIUM TERM (3 YEARS) 
RISK CATEGORY

 RISK PROBABILITY
 

LOSS POTENTIAL
 

RISK PROBABILITY
 

LOSS POTENTIAL
 

Research and development risks     

Risks associated with a lack of efficiency or possible side 
effects and delays of clinical development projects ●●● ●●●●● ●●●● ●●●●● 

Risks associated with unsuitability of preclinical 
research projects for further clinical development ●●● ●● ●●● ●●● 

Risks associated with marketing and collaborations     

Risks associated with collaborations with bluebird bio 
(project delays, financial losses, etc.) ●● ●●● ●●● ●●● 

Risks from emerging competition, including IP issues ●●● ●● ●●● ●●● 

Financial risks      
Risks of further financing of R&D projects using the 
capital markets ● ●●●● ●●● ●●●● 

Risks of financing R&D projects using existing and 
future partnerships and equity investments ●● ●●● ●●● ●●● 

General and organizational risks     

Risks associated with HR (loss and/or recruitment of 
management/employees with specific expertise)  ●●● ●●● ●● ●●● 

Additional operative risks (IT security, regulatory 
conformity, legal disputes, etc.)  ●● ●● ●● ●● 

Risks from non-core business     
Risks associated with the marketing of Veregen® and 
the stock of the active ingredient (potential impairment 
loss on inventories) 

●● ●●● ●● ●●● 

Risks associated with the development of RhuDex® by 
Falk Pharma (potential impairment loss on intangible 
assets) 

●● ●●●●● ●● ●●●●● 

 
 

 

 
On the basis of the risk assessment, the Executive Management Board is of the opinion that, in spite of the 
relevant risks generally associated with the development of drugs and medical treatments in the field of 
immunotherapies, the opportunities and prospects for the Company outweigh the risks. The current risk 
assessment has not identified any risks which individually or in combination could threaten the ability of 
Medigene to continue as a going concern in the short or medium-term. 

In addition to short and medium-term risks, there are also long-term risks which, in extreme cases, could 
endanger Medigene’s existence as a going concern. This includes in particular in the following order of priority: 
1.) Unsuccessful financing of the Company’s development projects by the capital markets and/or through 

collaborations 2.) Lack of success in clinical development and regulatory approval procedures for proprietary 
development projects 3). Change in the competitive environment that could potentially lead to Medigene’s 

products no longer being considered attractive, e. g. through developments by competitors that would render 

Risk probability Loss potential 
Highly probable ●●●●● ●●●●● Very high 

Probable ●●●● ●●●● High 
50/50 ●●● ●●● Medium 

Improbable ●● ●● Low 
Highly unlikely ● ● Very low 
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Medigene’s technology obsolete 4). Insufficient productivity of own research, which could lead to the fact that 
no clinical development candidates will be identified in the future 5.) Acquisition of Medigene by a competitor 
which would endanger the ability of the Company to continue as an independent entity. In terms of their 
sequence, risks 2) and 3) have swapped positions in comparison to the previous year as the risk of a successful 
clinical development is directly related to the core business of the Company and must therefore be given a 
higher weighting than a change in the competitive environment.  

EXPLANATORY REPORT AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
Statements in accordance with Sections 289a (1) and 315a (1) of the German Commercial Code 
(HGB) and explanatory report 

No. 1: Composition of subscribed capital  
The Company’s share capital as at December 31, 2018 amounts to €24,557,137.00 and is divided into 24,557,137 
registered no-par shares each representing a share in capital of €1.00. As at the reporting date of 12/31/2018 
only 24,544,595 shares were filed with the commercial register. 12,542 were not registered until January 2019. 

Shareholders have no right to demand share certificates for their shares, unless certification is required under 
the rules of a particular stock exchange on which the Company’s shares are listed for trading. In accordance with 
Section 67 (2) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), only persons who have been entered in the 
shareholders’ register are deemed to be shareholders in relation to the Company. All shares grant the same 

rights. Each share provides one vote at the Annual General Meeting and the same profit share. The detailed 
rights and obligations of shareholders result from the provisions of the German Stock Corporation Act, in 
particular Sections 12, 53a et seq., 118 et seq. and 186 of the AktG as well as the Company’s Articles of 

Association. 

No. 2: Restrictions on voting rights or the transfer of shares 
In the cases specified in Section 136 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), the voting rights arising in 
connection with the relevant shares are excluded by law. 

In the course of acquiring Medigene Immunotherapies GmbH, a contribution agreement was entered into with 
the then shareholders on January 27, 2014 by which Medigene obtained 100% of the shares in Medigene 
Immunotherapies GmbH. The former shareholders received 1,017,811 newly issued shares in Medigene in 2014 
valued at approximately €4 m and received €5.875 m in additional Medigene shares successively over the course 
of three milestone payments. This involved Medigene issuing a total of 641,580 new shares against contributions 
in kind and partial use of authorized capital. The different non-sale commitments for all of the shares issued 
within the framework of the three contributions in kind had expired by September 10, 2018. 

The Company is not aware of any other restrictions relating to the exercise of voting rights or the transfer of 
shares. Each share entitles the bearer to one vote at the Annual General Meeting and determines the bearer’s 

share in the profits of the Company. 

No. 3: Investments in capital exceeding 10% of the voting rights 
In accordance with the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG), every investor who directly or indirectly achieves, 
exceeds or falls below a certain threshold for voting rights by buying or selling shares or by any other means 
must notify the Company and the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin) accordingly. The 
lowest limit in respect of this duty of notification is 3%.  
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Medigene AG had not been notified of any direct or indirect investments in the share capital of Medigene AG by 
the end of the reporting period which amount to or exceed 10% of the voting rights, nor is the Company aware 
of any such investments.  

The voting rights announcements received by the Company in the reporting period can be viewed on the 
Company’s website at www.medigene.de/investoren-medien/mitteilungen. 

No. 4: Shares that grant special control privileges 
The Company has not issued any shares that grant special control privileges.  

No. 5: Nature of voting control if employees have a share in the capital and do not directly exercise 
their right of control 
Employees who hold Medigene AG shares exercise their control rights directly like any other shareholder in 
accordance with the law and the Articles of Association. In the event that employees hold a share in the capital 
and do not directly exercise their right of control, voting control does not exist.  

No. 6: Statutory provisions and stipulations in the Articles of Association on the appointment and 
dismissal of members of the Executive Management Board and on amendments to the Articles of 
Association 
The Executive Management Board of the Company, in accordance with Art. 7 (1) of the Articles of Association, 
consists of one or more persons and is appointed, in accordance with Section 84 (1) of the German Stock 
Corporation Act (AktG), by the Supervisory Board for a period of no more than five years. Reappointments or 
term extensions are permissible, in each case for a maximum period of five years. The Supervisory Board 
appoints one of the members of the Executive Management Board as Chief Executive Officer. In accordance with 
Section 84 (3) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), the Supervisory Board may also revoke the 
appointment of a member of the Executive Management Board and the appointment of the Chief Executive 
Officer on important grounds. Such grounds include gross breach of duty, inability to duly manage the Company 
and vote of no confidence by the Annual General Meeting – unless the vote of no confidence was evidently 
based on unrelated reasons. If a required member of the Executive Management Board is missing, in urgent 
cases the relevant member is appointed by the courts upon request by one of the parties concerned, in 
accordance with Section 85 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). 

The law governing amendments to the Articles of Association is contained in Sections 179 and 133 of the 
German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). Under these provisions, any amendment to the Articles of Association 
requires a resolution of the Annual General Meeting for which a simple majority is needed and which at least 
three quarters of the capital represented at the time of the resolution must approve, unless the Articles of 
Association specify a different capital majority. Art. 18 (1) of the Company’s Articles of Association stipulates that 
shareholders’ resolutions must be adopted by a simple majority of the votes cast, unless a larger majority is 

compulsory by law. This would be the case when, for example, creating authorized capital (Section 202 (2) 
Sentence 2 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG)) or conditional capital (Section 193 (1) Sentence 1 of the 
Act) and issuing non-voting preferred shares (Section 182 (1) Sentences 1 and 2 of the Act), each of which 
requires a three-quarters majority of the capital represented at the vote on the resolution. According to Art. 15 
of the Articles of Association, the Supervisory Board has the right to make amendments to the Articles of 
Association, provided they affect only the wording.  

No. 7: Powers of the Executive Management Board, especially with regard to issuing and 
repurchasing shares 
In accordance with Section 76 (1) AktG, the Executive Management Board manages the Company on its own 
authority and in accordance with Section 78 (1) AktG, it represents the Company in and out of court and, with 
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regard to issuing and repurchasing shares, it is authorized as described in →note (38) to the consolidated 

financial statements.  

The authorizations of the Executive Management Board to issue new shares from authorized capital and the 
conditional capital items in connection with the associated resolutions for issuing convertible notes or options as 
outlined above are intended to enable the Executive Management Board to cover any need for capital that may 
arise and to take advantage of attractive financing options depending on the state of the market.  

The ability to settle the acquisition of entities, parts of entities or interests in entities in individual cases by 
issuing shares of the Company to the seller allows the Company to expand without burdening its cash position. 
The issue of stock options secured by conditional capital is a component of the remuneration of employees and 
Executive Management Board members in German stock corporations. 

The Executive Management Board may acquire treasury shares for the Company in the cases mentioned in 
Section 71 (1) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). The Executive Management Board is not currently 
authorized to repurchase the Company’s shares pursuant to Section 71 (1) No. 8 of the German Stock 
Corporation Act (AktG). The Company does not hold any treasury shares at present. 

No. 8: Significant company agreements that are conditional on a change in control as a result of a 
takeover bid 
No such arrangement exists. 

No. 9: Compensation agreement with members of the Executive Management Board or employees 
in the event of a takeover bid 
The service agreements with the current board members, Prof. Dolores Schendel (Executive Management Board 
member since May 1, 2014 and CEO since February 1, 2016) and Dr. Kai Pinkernell (Executive Management 
Board member since April 1, 2018) contain special termination rights for both the Company and the respective 
Executive Management Board members applicable in the event of a change in control as well as agreed 
severance arrangements. For more detailed information see → Notes to the consolidated financial statements, 

note (48). 

Statement on corporate governance pursuant to Sections 289f, 315d of the German Commercial 
Code (HGB) 

The corporate governance report and statement on corporate governance pursuant to Sections 289f, 315d of 
the German Commercial Code (HGB) along with a description of the procedures followed by the Executive 
Management Board and the Supervisory Board are publicly available on the Company’s website at 
www.medigene.de/investoren-medien/corporate-governance/corporate-governance-bericht. The notifications 
of major holdings published in 2018 in accordance with the German Securities Trading Act (Sections 33, 38 and 
40 WpHG) are available in German on the internet at www.medigene.de/investoren-medien/mitteilungen  

REMUNERATION OF THE EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT BOARD 
AND SUPERVISORY BOARD 
Main features of the remuneration system 

The full Supervisory Board is responsible for setting the remuneration of Medigene AG’s Executive Management 

Board members, whereby the implemented Nomination and Remuneration Committee perform preparatory 
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duties. The remuneration is regularly reviewed, taking into account the regulations relating to the Supervisory 
Board pursuant to Section 87 (1) and (2) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and the recommendations 
of the German Corporate Governance Code. 

The Annual General Meeting approved for the first time on May 11, 2010 the system of Executive Management 
Board remuneration developed by the Supervisory Board in accordance with Section 2.2.4 (2) of the German 
Corporate Governance Code The adjusted system of Executive Management Board remuneration that is in place 
was presented to the Annual General Meeting on August 11, 2016 by the Executive Management Board and 
Supervisory Board under agenda item 8 and approved with 94% of the share capital represented. The system has 
been implemented in the current contract with Prof. Dolores Schendel and was refined in the reporting period. 
The refined system was considered in the contract with Dr. Kai Pinkernell who was appointed to the Executive 
Management Board of the Company on April 1, 2018.  

The amount and structure of the remuneration of Executive Management Board members depend on the 
respective responsibilities of each Executive Management Board member, the Company’s economic and 

financial position and the sustained growth of the Company as well as common practice regarding remuneration, 
taking into account the amount and structure of the remuneration which is paid to others by the Company and 
that is paid in similar companies. In addition, remuneration is based on the individual performance of Executive 
Management Board members as well as the achievements of the Executive Management Board as a whole. 
Remuneration is designed as an incentive for achieving sustainable corporate growth and a sustained increase in 
business value. 

The remuneration package comprises both fixed and variable components as well as fringe benefits that are 
described in the → Notes to the consolidated financial statements, note (48).  

Variable remuneration of Executive Management Board members is dependent on the achievement of 
qualitative performance targets specified by the Supervisory Board annually. The performance targets are 
aligned to the corporate strategy and are related to the development of preclinical and clinical programs for the 
year 2018, the collaboration with bluebird bio for TCR development and also partnering activities. To the extent 
that these qualitative performance targets are used as the most important non-financial performance indicators 
for the Group’s internal management, their expected development is included in the outlook.  

Executive Management Board remuneration 

Remuneration of the members of the Executive Management Board totaled €1,689 k in the past fiscal year 
(2017: €1,767 k) including costs of dual households of €35 k (2017: €36 k), pension expenses of €42 k (2017: €24 
k) and vehicle leasing costs for company cars of €9 k (2017: €4 k). This also includes stock options with a total fair 
value of €376 k that were issued to the Executive Management Board in the fiscal year 2018 (2017: €288 k). 
Total remuneration of the Executive Management Board members comprises fixed and variable components as 
well as other remuneration. The fixed component includes remuneration which is not performance-related and 
is paid in monthly installments. Variable remuneration includes an annual performance-based payment and 
stock options. The amount and composition of the remuneration paid to the individual members of the 
Executive Management Board and a detailed remuneration report can be found in the → Notes to the 

consolidated financial statements, note (48).  

Supervisory Board remuneration 

The remuneration paid to the Supervisory Board members amounted to €197 k in 2018 (2017: €165 k). The total 
remuneration paid to the members of the Supervisory Board comprises a fixed portion as well as meeting 
attendance fees. In addition, expenses are reimbursed. The greater scope of activities of the Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board and his deputy are taken into account and accordingly reflected by higher remuneration. The 
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amount and composition of the remuneration paid to the individual members of the Supervisory Board and 
details on the subscription rights of board members can be found in the → Notes to the consolidated financial 

statements, notes (49) and (50).  

OVERALL STATEMENT 
Medigene’s management measures the Company’s success in particular by the progress of development 

projects as a prerequisite for their validation and commercialization, as well as by its ability to secure financing.  

In 2018, Medigene commenced with the clinical development of its TCR technology with the start of the Phase 
I/II trials for MDG1011, Medigene’s first TCR therapy candidate, and licensed in a potential new TCR therapy 

candidate. In addition, the TCR development partnership was significantly expanded and the patent portfolio for 
TCR technology reinforced. Medigene has published interim clinical results for the current clinical trial with its 
DC vaccine after completing the first half of the treatment period of two years in total. Medigene expects this 
trial to be completed by the end of 2019. 

On the financial side, Medigene’s corporate goals for 2018 are reflected in particular in the key figures for total 
revenue from its core business of immunotherapies, research and development costs, EBIDTA result and total 
cash burn. High expenditure on the development of Medigene’s immunotherapies and associated medium-term 
losses are considered necessary for positioning itself as a leading company in the cellular immunotherapy sector 
in a highly-competitive and fast-developing environment. 

Medigene invested consistently in its immunotherapy program in fiscal year 2018. With the capital increase in 
May 2018 and the associated cash inflows, Medigene successfully strengthened the financial position of the 
Company. 

Medigene will use this foundation to rigorously advance its development of immunotherapy programs. Risks 
that could jeopardize the long-term success of the Company are discussed in the opportunities and risk report. 
→ s. p. 25 et seq. 
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OUTLOOK 
In 2019 the Company will continue to push forward on the successful development of Medigene 
immunotherapies. The corporate objectives will remain focused on the field of TCR therapies.  

T cell receptor-modified T cells (TCR-Ts) 

Medigene commenced the phase I/II clinical trial of its TCR-based T cell therapy MDG1011 and began treating 
patients in the first quarter of 2019. In addition to the three active study centers to date, other centers will begin 
recruiting patients in the second quarter of 2019. MDG1011 targets the tumor antigen PRAME. The multi-center, 
open-label Phase I/II clinical trial will treat approximately 92 blood cancer patients with advanced stage acute 
myeloid leukemia (AML), myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) or multiple myeloma (MM). The Phase I part of this 
first-in-human clinical trial is a dose escalation trial with approximately 12 patients, which will evaluate the 
safety and feasibility as well as other secondary endpoints. Phase II of 80 patients contains control groups (40 of 
80 patients) and will investigate the safety and efficacy of the therapy as co-primary endpoints. The overall 
response rate together with other secondary endpoints will be assessed at three months following one-time 
treatment with MDG1011 (or an alternative therapy with the control group) with a total follow-up period of up 
to 12 months. In 2019, the focus of the trial will be the recruitment of the first dose cohorts to assess safety and 
tolerability of the treatment with MDG1011.  

Now that a robust platform for the discovery and characterization of new TCR candidates has been fully 
established, building a solid pipeline of potential TCR-development candidates is an important goal to secure 
future clinical programs for both internal and existing or future partners. 

In 2019, in addition to the MDG1011 clinical trial, Medigene will therefore work on characterizing new TCR 
candidates and collecting preclinical data for future clinical TCR trials under the responsibility and funding of 
Medigene. In addition, Medigene continues its successful collaboration with bluebird bio and expects to make 
further progress on TCR candidate discovery. 

Medigene also intends to drive forward the preparations for a clinical trial of the HA-1 T cell receptor in 2019 in 
order to expand Medigene’s clinical TCR development program. In addition, the chimeric co-stimulator receptor 
(the PD-1/4-1BB molecule) licensed from HMGU will be assessed in combination with Medigene’s tumor-specific 
T cells (TCR-Ts) in preclinical models in order to optimize future TCR therapies for solid tumors. 

Dendritic cell vaccines (DCs) 

Medigene will continue the current Phase I/II clinical trial for DC vaccines for the treatment of acute myeloid 
leukemia (AML) as planned and bring it to a conclusion at the end of 2019. The detailed data from the interim 
analysis will be presented beforehand at a scientific conference in the first half of 2019. The final data will be 
available towards the end of 2019/beginning of 2020. 

Financial guidance 2019 

The financial forecast for 2019 reflects the Company’s focus on and progress in the core business of 

immunotherapies:  
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The Company is expecting to generate total revenue of between €5.5 – 6.5 m in 2019. The decrease in 
comparison to 2018 (€7.8 m) is related to an anticipated decrease in sales of the non-core product Veregen®. In 
addition, 2018 was affected by a non-recurring effect related to the milestone payment received for the 
extended cooperation with bluebird bio.  

Due to the progress of the preclinical and clinical development programs in the core area of immunotherapies 
including manufacturing costs for clinical trial material and deferred expenses from 2018 the company expects a 
significant increase of research and development costs to €24 – 29 m (2018: €17.1 m) and a loss at EBITDA level 
of €23 – 28 m (2018: €16.3 m).  

This assessment does not include potential future milestone payments or cash flows from existing or future 
partnerships or transactions, as the timing and extent of such events depends to a large extent on external 
parties and therefore cannot be reliably predicted by Medigene.  

Based on its current planning, the Company has sufficient financial resources to fund business operations 
beyond the planning horizon of two years.  

Dividends  

In view of the current earnings situation, Medigene will not distribute a dividend. In the medium term, Medigene 
will invest available cash and cash equivalents in the development of drugs. Dividend payments to shareholders 
are not currently contemplated.  

 

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT BOARD 
Planegg/Martinsried, March 26, 2019 

Medigene AG 
 
 
 
 
 
Prof. Dolores J. Schendel 
Chief Executive Officer (CEO/CSO) 
 
 
 
 
 
Dr. Kai Pinkernell 
Member of the Executive Management Board (CMO/CDO) 
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OF MEDIGENE AG FOR THE FISCAL YEARS FROM JANUARY 1 TO DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017 

 
IN € K NOTE 2018 2017  

restated1) 

Revenue  7,576 7,676 

Other operating income  178 1,206 

Total revenue (25) 7,754 8,882 

Cost of sales (26) -849 -1,621 

Gross profit  6,905 7,261 

Selling expenses (27) -1,680 -2,506 

General administrative expenses (28) -5,933 -5,760 

Research and development expenses (29) -17,117 -14,877 

Operating result  -17,825 -15,882 

Interest income (30) 220 274 

Interest expense (30) -146 -709 

Foreign exchange gains  182 171 

Other financial result (31) 565 501 

   

Earnings before tax  -17,004 -15,645 

Taxes (40) -45 -344 

Net profit/loss for the year  -17,049 -15,989 

    

Basic and diluted earnings per share (€)  -0.72 -0.74 

Weighted average number of shares (basic and diluted)  23,669,241 21,501,074 

1) IAS 8 correction - see note (3) to the consolidated financial statements  
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OF MEDIGENE AG FOR THE FISCAL YEARS FROM JANUARY 1 TO DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017 

 
IN € K NOTE 2018 2017 

RESTATED2) 

Net profit/loss for the year  -17,049 -15,989 

Other comprehensive income    

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss in 
subsequent periods: 

   

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations1)  75 -185 

Subtotal  75 -185 

Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to profit or loss in 
subsequent periods: 

   

Loss from equity instruments designated as at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 1) 

(34) -69 -172 

Remeasurement of defined benefit pension plans1) (39) -20 -15 

Subtotal  -89 -187 

Other comprehensive income, net of tax  -14 -372 

Total comprehensive income   -17,063 -16,361 

1) No income tax effects were incurred.  
2) IAS 8 correction - see note (3) to the consolidated financial statements  
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OF MEDIGENE AG AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND DECEMBER 31, 2017 

ASSETS 
IN € K 12/31/2017 

 

1/1/2017 

 

A.  Non-current assets     

I. Property, plant and equipment (33) 4,261 4,329 3,323 

II. Intangible assets (33) 34,013 34,080 33,555 

III. Goodwill (33) 2,212 2,212 2,212 

IV. Financial assets (34) 5,622 5,696 5,871 

V. Time deposits (37) 20,000 0 0 

VI. Other assets (36) 1,286 2,278 2,781 

Total non-current assets  67,394 48,595 47,742 

     

B.  Current assets     

I. Inventories (35) 7,298 7,724 7,866 

II. Trade accounts receivable (36) 787 1,699 1,175 

III. Other assets (36) 2,703 2,195 2,302 

IV. Time deposits (37) 24,000 24,000 38,000 

V. Cash and cash equivalents (37) 27,408 27,724 14,630 

Total current assets  62,196 63,342 63,973 

    

Total assets  129,590 111,937 111,715 
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SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
IN € K NOTE 12/31/2018 12/31/2017 

restated1) 

1/1/2017 

restated1) 

A.  Shareholders’ equity     

I. Subscribed capital (38) 24,557 22,301 20,137 

II. Capital reserve  477,768 449,034 429,678 

III. Accumulated deficit  -398,687 -381,618 -365,614 

IV. Other reserves  3,787 3,781 4,138 

Total shareholders’ equity  107,425 93,498 88,339 

     

B.  Non-current liabilities     

I. Finance lease liabilities  827 1,049 339 

II. Pension obligations (39) 414 405 408 

III. Other liabilities (41) 422 444 435 

IV. Contract liabilities (42) 8,684 5,362 8,937 

V. Deferred taxes (40) 2,997 3,055 2,785 

Total non-current liabilities  13,344 10,315 12,904 

     

C.  Current liabilities     

I. Finance lease liabilities  685 679 210 

II. Trade accounts payable (41) 1,358 725 973 

III. Other liabilities (41) 3,304 3,145 5,714 

IV. Contract liabilities (42) 3,474 3,575 3,575 

Total current liabilities  8,821 8,124 10,472 

Total liabilities  22,165 18,439 23,376 

     

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities  129,590 111,937 111,715 

1) IAS 8 correction - see note (3) to the consolidated financial statements  
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OF MEDIGENE AG FOR THE FISCAL YEARS FROM JANUARY 1 TO DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017 

 
IN € K 2018 2017 

restated1) 

Net cash from/used in operating activities   

Earnings before tax -17,004 -15,645 

Adjustments:   

Share-based payments 961 104 

Depreciation and amortization  1,572 1,267 

(Loss) gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 3 -4 

Gain on sale of intangible assets, net  0 -1,080 

Gain on the sale of financial assets -565 -501 

Interest income -220 -274 

Interest expense 146 709 

Changes in:   

Inventories 426 142 

Other assets and trade accounts receivable 605 -168 

Trade accounts payable 633 -248 

Other financial liabilities and contract liabilities 3,430 -5,031 

Subtotal -10,013 -20,729 

Tax paid -103 -75 

Interest received 44 10 

Interest paid -70 -55 

Net cash used in operating activities -10,142 -20,849 

Net cash from/used in investing activities   

Purchase of property, plant and equipment -1,014 -1,564 

Cash received from the sale of property, plant and equipment 4 31 

Cash received from the sale of intangible assets 1,000 2,267 

Cash received from the sale of financial assets → notes (34), (36) 537 480 

Cash received from short-term time deposits, net 0 14,000 

Cash paid for long-term time deposits -20,000 0 

Net cash from/used in investing activities -19,473 15,214 

Net cash from/used in financing activities   

Proceeds from capital increase 32,335 20,727 

Cost of share issue  -2,412 -1,398 

Exercise of employee share options 106 88 

Principal repayment for finance lease -730 -688 

Net cash from financing activities 29,299 18,729 

Decrease/increase in cash and cash equivalents -316 13,094 

Cash and cash equivalents, opening balance 27,724 14,630 

Cash and cash equivalents, closing balance 27,408 27,724 

1) IAS 8 correction - see note (3) to the consolidated financial statements  
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OF MEDIGENE AG FOR THE FISCAL YEARS FROM JANUARY 1 TO DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017 

 
IN € K NUMBER OF 

SHARES 

 

SUBSCRIBED 

CAPITAL 

CAPITAL 

RESERVES 

ACCUMULAT

ED DEFICIT 

EXCHANGE 

DIFFERENCES 

FINANCIAL 

ASSETS 

TOTAL 

SHARE-

HOLDERS’ 

EQUITY 

 

Balance as at 1/1/2017 as 
previously reported 20,136,887 20,137 429,678 -375,361 184 3,954 78,592 

IAS 8 correction1)    9,747   9,747 

Balance as at 1/1/2017 
adjusted 1) 20,136,887 20,137 429,678 -365,614 184 3,954 88,339 

Net profit/loss for the year, 
adjusted 1)    -15,989   -15,989 

Other comprehensive 
income    -15 -185 -172 -372 

Total comprehensive 
income, adjusted 1)       -16,361 

Share issue  1,964,599 1,965 18,762    20,727 

Cost of share issue   -1,377    -1,377 

Share issue for options 
exercised by employees 17,126 17 71    88 

Share issue for the business 
combination, third 
milestone payment   182,335 182 1,818    2,000 

Cost of share issue   -22    -22 

Share-based payments   104    104 

Balance as at 12/31/2017 
adjusted 1) 22,300,947 22,301 449,034 -381,618 -1 3,782 93,498 

        

Balance as at 1/1/2018 22,300,947 22,301 449,034 -381,618 -1 3,782 93,498 

Net profit/loss for the year    -17,049   -17,049 

Other comprehensive 
income    -20 75 -69 -14 

Total comprehensive 
income       -17,063 

Share issue  2,230,000 2,230 30,105    32,335 

Cost of share issue   -2,412    -2,412 

Share issue for employee 
share options 26,190 26 80    106 

Share-based payments   961    961 

Balance as at 12/31/2018 24,557,137 24,557 477,768 -398,687 74 3,713 107,425 
1) IAS 8 correction - see note (3) to the consolidated financial statements  
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OF MEDIGENE AG, PLANEGG/MARTINSRIED, FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2018 

A. BUSINESS ACTIVITY AND INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY 

Medigene AG, Planegg/Martinsried (hereinafter referred to as “Medigene” or “the Company”), together with 

its consolidated subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as the “Group”), is a biotechnology company 

headquartered in Martinsried near Munich, Germany. The Company develops highly innovative 

immunotherapies to target various forms and stages of cancer. Medigene concentrates on the development of 

personalized T cell-based immunotherapies with a focus on T cell receptor modified T cells (TCR-Ts) and 

corresponding projects in pre-clinical and clinical development.  

The Group’s main activities are described in → section E) “Segment reporting”. 

Medigene AG was founded in 1994 as a limited liability company in Planegg/Martinsried near Munich, 

Germany. In 1996, the Company was converted into a stock corporation. The Company’s headquarters are 

located at Lochhamer Strasse 11, 82152 Planegg/Martinsried, Germany. The Company is registered in the 

commercial register of the Munich Local Court under HRB 115761. Medigene AG has been listed since June 

2000 (Deutsche Börse: Regulated Market, Prime Standard; German Security Identification Number (WKN) 

A1X3W0, symbol MDG1, International Securities Identification Number (ISIN) DE000A1X3W00).  

In addition to the parent company Medigene AG in Planegg/Martinsried, the Group includes the wholly owned 

subsidiary Medigene Immunotherapies GmbH (hereinafter referred to as “Medigene Immunotherapies”), 

Planegg/Martinsried, since its acquisition in January 2014, and the wholly owned subsidiary Medigene, Inc., San 

Diego, California, USA, which was acquired in 2001. The Group is managed by the Executive Management 

Board of the parent company, Medigene AG. The management of the respective subsidiaries is composed of 

members who serve on the Group’s Executive Management Board. Medigene Immunotherapies applied the 

exemption provided by Sec. 264 (3) HGB with regard to the duty to compile, audit and publish financial 

statements for the fiscal year from January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2018 and has therefore not published its 

financial statements for 2018, including the notes to the financial statements and management discussion and 

analysis. 

B. RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT POLICIES 

(1) Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements are generally prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention. 

Exceptions to this rule are financial assets in the form of debt or equity instruments which are measured at fair 

value. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in German using the euro as the presentation 

currency. All figures are rounded to the nearest thousand euro (€ k), unless otherwise stated. 
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(2) Statement of compliance with IFRSs and the requirements of Section 315e (1) of the German 

Commercial Code (HGB) 

As a parent and publicly listed company within the meaning of Article 4 of Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002, the 

Company prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with the International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union (EU).  

The Company’s Executive Management Board is of the opinion that these consolidated financial statements 

reflect all business transactions required to present the net assets, financial position and results of operations 

for the periods ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 respectively. Additionally, these consolidated financial 

statements meet the requirements of Section 315e (1) of the German Commercial Code (HGB). 

These consolidated financial statements and the group management report of Medigene AG for the fiscal year 

ended December 31, 2018 were prepared and authorized for issue by the Executive Management Board on 

March 26, 2019.  

(3) Changes in recognition, measurement and presentation accounting policies 

With the exception of the changes to accounting policies described below, Medigene has not made any other 

changes to its accounting policies:  

New and amended standards adopted by the Group  

Numerous new or amended standards came into force in the reporting period. The first-time application of 

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” led to retroactive 

changes to the accounting policies of the Group. The effects of applying these two new standards is described 

below. Some other amendments and interpretations were to be adopted for the first time in 2018. However, 

these did not have any impact on the consolidated financial statements. The Group has not early adopted any 

standards, interpretations or amendments that have already been published but are not yet mandatory. 

IFRS 15 

The standard IFRS 15 published by the IASB in May 2014 and clarifications published for certain areas in April 

2016 regulate when and in what amount revenue from contracts with customers is recognized. IFRS 15 

replaces IAS 11 “Construction Contracts” and IAS 18 “Revenue” as well as all related interpretations. The Group 

adopted the standard as at January 1, 2018 by means of the full retrospective application method, meaning 

that any transition effects as at January 1, 2017 are accumulated in retained earnings and the comparative 

period is presented in accordance with the new standards. The impact from the adoption of IFRS 15 on the 

reporting period has not been disclosed applying a practical expedient allowed by the standard. The other 

practical expedients were not applied by the Group. 

Despite the changes to the accounting policies applied,  note (20), the first-time adoption of IFRS 15 had no 

significant effect on Group earnings or the financial position of the Group for the period. However, the 

presentation and disclosure requirements of IFRS 15 go far beyond the provisions of the former standard. A 

disaggregated disclosure of revenue from contracts with customers by category, depicting how the nature, 

amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors, can be found in 

note (25).  
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IFRS 9 

IFRS 9 published in July 2014 replaces IAS 39 and all earlier versions of IFRS 9. IFRS 9 now defines three instead 

of four measurement categories for financial assets. In doing so, the categorization is based on the Company’s 

business model on the one hand, and the characteristics of the contractual cash flows of the respective 

financial asset on the other. The classification of financial liabilities under IFRS 9 remains largely unchanged to 

the former accounting regulations as defined by IAS 39. IFRS 9 also contains changes for calculating impairment 

losses. In the future, the basic principle of the expected loss model is to record expected losses from the 

moment a financial asset is recognized for the first time and before the loss occurs in place of the incurred loss 

model of IAS 39.  

The standard has been adopted by the Group retrospectively as at January 1, 2018. The first-time adoption of 

IFRS 9 did not result in any material effect on the consolidated financial statements. However, some changes 

were made in the classification of certain financial instruments  note (10). Due to these changes, the other 

reserve for financial assets of €3,782 k reported under other comprehensive income as at December 31, 2017 

was transferred permanently to retained earnings upon adoption of the new standard. This reserve will not be 

recycled through profit and loss upon a possible sale of these financial assets. The presentation of the 

comparative financial information of the previous periods has been restated in the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income accordingly.  

Restatement of comparative periods due to an accounting error pursuant to IAS 8 

Effective April 1, 2012, Medigene had assigned future cash flows from Astellas in connection with the share in 

European net revenue from the drug Eligard to Cowen Healthcare Partners II, L.P., USA in return for a 

payment of US$17.7 m (equivalent to €14.1 m at the time of cash inflow). To date this has been treated as a 

financing arrangement. In the course of a random sample examination of the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended December 31, 2016 by the German Financial Reporting Enforcement Panel (Section 342 (2) 

Sentence 3 No. 3 German Commercial Code (HGB)), the FREP determined that Medigene should have 

recognized the above payment in full as revenue back in 2012. As a result, in the consolidated financial 

statements for the year ended December 31, 2016 the current liabilities remaining from the initial accounting 

were overstated by €1.5 m. non-current liabilities were overstated by €9.4 m and equity was understated by 

€10.9 m. 

The Group has corrected the error determined by FREP taking deferred taxes into account in the consolidated 

financial statements for the reporting year retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8.41 et seq. The following 

table presents the impact of the corrections made. 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS AT JANUARY 1, 2017:  
IN € K 1/1/2017 

As reported 

previously 

CORRECTION 

PURSUANT TO 

IAS 8  

1/1/2017 

restated 

Shareholders’ equity    

Subscribed capital 20,137  20,137 

Capital reserve 429,678  429,678 

Accumulated deficit -375,361 9,747 -365,614 

Other reserves 4,138  4,138 

Total shareholders’ equity 78,592 9,747 88,339 

    

Non-current liabilities    

Finance lease liabilities 339  339 

Financial liabilities 9,417 -9,417 0 

Pension obligations 408  408 

Other liabilities 435  435 

Contract liabilities*) 8,937  8,937 

Deferred taxes 1,621 1,164 2,785 

Total non-current liabilities 21,157 -8,253 12,904 

    

Current liabilities    

Finance lease liabilities 210  210 

Trade accounts payable 973  973 

Other liabilities 7,208 -1,494 5,714 

Contract liabilities*) 3,575  3,575 

Total current liabilities 11,966 -1,494 10,472 

Total liabilities 33,123 -9,747 23,376 

    

Total assets 111,715 0 111,715 
*) Prior to the adoption of IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” on January 1, 2018 this line item was called deferred income.  
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2017:  
IN € K 12/31/2017 

As reported 

previously 

CORRECTION 

PURSUANT TO 

IAS 8 

12/31/2017 

restated 

Shareholders’ equity    

Subscribed capital 22,301  22,301 

Capital reserve 449,034  449,034 

Accumulated deficit -388,949 7,331 -381,618 

Other reserves 3,781  3,781 

Total shareholders’ equity 86,167 7,331 93,498 

    

Non-current liabilities    

Finance lease liabilities 1,049  1,049 

Financial liabilities 6,523 -6,523 0 

Pension obligations 405  405 

Other liabilities 444  444 

Contract liabilities*) 5,362  5,362 

Deferred taxes 2,179 876 3,055 

Total non-current liabilities 15,962 -5,647 10,315 

    

 Current liabilities    

Finance lease liabilities 679  679 

Trade accounts payable 725  725 

Other liabilities 4,829 -1,684 3,145 

Contract liabilities*) 3,575  3,575 

Total current liabilities 9,808 -1,684 8,124 

Total liabilities 25,770 -7,331 18,439 

    

Total assets 111,937 0 111,937 
*) Prior to the adoption of IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” on January 1, 2018 this line item was called deferred income.  

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT FOR 2017: 
IN € K 2017 

As reported 

previously 

CORRECTION 

PURSUANT TO 

IAS 8 

2017  

restated 

Revenue 7,676  7,676 

Other operating income 3,699 -2,493 1,206 

Total revenue 11,375 -2,493 8,882 

Cost of sales -1,621  -1,621 

Gross profit 9,754 -2,493 7,261 

Selling expenses -2,506  -2,506 

General administrative expenses -5,760  -5,760 

Research and development expenses -14,877  -14,877 

Operating result -13,389 -2,493 -15,882 

Interest income 274  274 

Interest expense -1,708 999 -709 

Foreign exchange gains 1,383 -1,212 171 

Other financial result 501  501 

    

Earnings before tax -12,939 -2,706 -15,645 

Taxes -634 290 -344 

Net profit/loss for the year -13,573 -2,416 -15,989 

    

Basic and diluted loss per share (€) -0.63 -0.11 -0.74 

Weighted average number of shares (basic and diluted) 21,501,074 21,501,074 21,501,074 

 



MEDIGENE AG ANNUAL REPORT 2018 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 55 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR 2017:  
IN € K 2017 

As reported 

previously 

CORRECTION 

PURSUANT TO IAS 8 

2017 

restated 

Net profit/loss for the year -13,573 -2,416 -15,989 

Other comprehensive income    

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss in 
subsequent periods: 

   

Exchange differences from translating foreign operations -185  -185 

Available-for-sale financial assets -172 172*) - 

Subtotal -357 172 -185 

Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to profit or loss in 
subsequent periods: 

   

Loss from equity instruments designated as at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

- -172*) -172 

Remeasured defined benefit plans -15  -15 

Subtotal -15 -172 -187 

Other comprehensive income, net of tax -372 0 -372 

Comprehensive income  -13,945 -2,416 -16,361 
*) Reclassification due to adoption of IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” on January 1, 2018 

The corresponding corrections were made within the section on cash used / provided by operating activities in 

the consolidated statement of cash flows without affecting the total cash used from operating activities in 2017 

as the corrections were of a non-cash nature.  

Voluntary change to accounting policies 

The rights to distribute the drug Veregen were outlicensed to various partner companies. Accordingly, 

Medigene sells the active pharmaceutical ingredient (“API”) in Veregen either directly to partner companies 

or produces the Veregen ointment itself and then distributes the finished product to the partner companies. 

Long-term contracts were concluded with partner companies, in which the fixed prices cover both cost as well 

as a margin. To date, the recoverability of the stocks of the Veregen active pharmaceutical ingredient 

depended on the ability to sell the active pharmaceutical ingredient or Veregen ointment to the corresponding 

partner company as long as the active pharmaceutical ingredient or Veregen ointment had a sufficiently long 

shelf life. The impairment test was limited solely to testing whether the volumes were sufficient. In light of the 

prevailing diversity of accounting practice and the lack of specific rules in IAS 2 for determining net realizable 

value, the Company has decided to change its measurement method for the following reason: the active 

pharmaceutical ingredient of Veregen exhibits an extremely long shelf life and therefore has a long useful life. 

Moreover, the estimate of net realizable value is based on long-term sales projections. For this reason, 

management is of the opinion that determining the net realizable value of the Veregen active pharmaceutical 

ingredient inventories after taking financial mathematical considerations into account will lead to a reliable 

measurement and information that is more relevant.  

This change constitutes a voluntary change to a measurement method that has been applied retrospectively. 

However, it did not lead to any material restatement of the opening balance sheet as at January 1, 2017 or the 

balance sheet as at December 31, 2017.   

Future changes in accounting policies 

The following new standards and amendments issued by the IASB are relevant and become effective for 

reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019.  
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STANDARDS/INTERPRETATIONS/AMENDMENTS ENDORSED BY THE EU RELEVANT REPORTING PERIODS (FROM 

DATE)  

IFRS 16 Leases Yes January 1, 2019 

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments Yes January 1, 2019 

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of Material Yes January 1, 2020 

 

The above standards and interpretations and other less relevant standards and interpretations are not likely to 

result in any significant changes in accounting policies of the Company upon adoption, with the following 

exceptions:  

IFRS 16 

The IASB published the new standard on leases, IFRS 16, in January 2016. IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 Leases and all 

interpretations concerning lease accounting and introduces a uniform lessee accounting model, according to 

which the lessee must recognize a right of use and a lease liability for lease agreements with a term of more 

than 12 months. Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from today’s accounting under the 

current standard. Medigene will apply the new standard retrospectively for the fiscal year beginning January 1, 

2019. As a result, no changes are required to the prior year figures. 

Within the Group, the implications of the new standard on leases will primarily affect those leases that were 

previously treated as operating leases. Most of these leases are for office space and office fixtures and 

furniture. In fiscal year 2018, the Group performed a more detailed assessment of the impact of IFRS 16. The 

accounting manual to be used in future has been developed and the relevant business processes adjusted 

accordingly. The Group will apply the practical expedient and not make a reassessment as to whether a 

contract contains a lease in the sense of IFRS 16 or not.  

Leases are accounted for as a financial transaction. Consequently, the right of use is amortized on a straight-

line basis and the lease liability is rolled forward using the effective interest method. Excluded from this 

treatment are leases with a term of not longer than twelve months and without a purchase option and leases 

for low-value assets (US$5,000). In such cases, the accounting treatment applied to operating leases in the past 

will be retained. The Group applies this accounting convenience. 

Based on the leases in place on the reporting date the Group does not anticipate any material effect on the 

operating result and net profit or loss of the Group for the year 2019. However, it will affect the presentation of 

line items within the consolidated income statement and the consolidated statement of cash flows: 

In the income statement, expenses from operating leases are currently recognized under “office rent and 

utilities” in the respective function: selling expenses, general administrative expenses or research and 

development expenses. Instead, in the future, amortization of the right of use and interest expense for lease 

liabilities will be presented. In the statement of cash flows, payments for operating leases are currently 

disclosed in net cash used in operating activities. These payments will be broken down into interest paid and 

the principal repayment for lease liability in the future. While interest paid will continue to be disclosed in net 

cash used in operating activities, the principal repayment is now allocated to financing activities. 

Furthermore, the Group expects this to lead to a significant increase in total assets at the date of first-time 

application. 
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Total lease liabilities are expected to range between €4.5 m and €5.5 m. Likewise, the rights of use will lie in the 

same range because the Group will apply the optional treatment of recognizing the right of use at the same 

amount as the lease liability. 

The items will be discounted to net present value using the interest rates inherent in the individual contracts 

or, if these are not available, using a discount rate applying, for example, to office rents from observable 

returns but adjusted in order to determine the incremental borrowing rate. 

(4) Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions 

Preparing the consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 

requires the Executive Management Board to make judgments and estimates which influence the income, 

expenses, assets, liabilities, accruals and contingent liabilities listed in the financial statements as at the 

reporting date. By nature, these estimates and assumptions are subject to considerable uncertainty which may 

result in significant adjustments to the carrying amounts of the relevant assets and liabilities in future reporting 

periods. 

Judgments 

In applying the accounting policies, management made the following judgments which significantly impact the 

figures reported in the financial statements.  

Revenue 

Due to the nature of the business activities of the Group, many of the sales transactions have a complex 

structure and comprise diverse contractual performance obligations that will be satisfied at different points in 

time. Application of IFRS 15 on research and development cooperations required greater judgment, for 

example an analysis of whether such cooperations are within the scope of IFRS 15, whether the contract with a 

customer is to be grouped with other contracts that have been concluded simultaneously or nearly 

simultaneously with the same customer, whether the performance obligations identified are separately 

identifiable or bundled and whether the performance obligations are satisfied at a point in time or over time. 

Outlicensing agreements can be entered into with or without any further significant contractual obligations. In 

addition, determining the transaction price requires significant judgments and estimates, in particular as a 

result of uncertainties customary to the industry associated with future milestone payments and royalties. 

Depending on the outcome of this assessment, all contract revenue might be measured and recognized 

immediately upon the contract taking effect or spread over the longer term of a contractual performance 

obligation.  note (20), (25). 

Deferred tax assets on unused tax losses 

The recognition of deferred tax assets requires certain assumptions to be made within management’s 

judgment. They mainly concern the assessment of the circumstances and the period in which tax assets can be 

realized by the use of existing loss carryforwards. Management has decided not to recognize tax assets to the 

extent to which they exceed the tax liabilities, since the generation of taxable income in the future is associated 

with too much uncertainty. 

Capitalization of development expenses  

Development expenses must be capitalized if the criteria of IAS 38 are met. This requires management to make 

a number of estimates and assumptions. To date, no development expenses have been capitalized due to the 

fact that management was not of the opinion that all the recognition criteria of IAS 38 had been met. This was 

due to the usual uncertainties in drug development and the unpredictability of regulatory requirements. 
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Recognition of the cost of sales 

The cost of sales from immunotherapies, primarily comprising personnel expenses and laboratory material 

costs, are disclosed under research and development expenses and not under cost of sales in the income 

statement.  

According to management’s judgment, these costs qualify as research and development by nature and cannot 

reasonably be separated from other research and development expenses. Moreover, these activities are not 

considered sales of the product from the non-core business.  

Estimates and assumptions 

The most important assumptions regarding the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty as at 

the reporting date which entail an appreciable risk that it might become necessary to adjust the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next fiscal year are explained below:  

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets 

The Group tests goodwill for impairment at least once every year. This requires, among other things, estimating 

the value in use of the underlying research and development projects which are allocated to both the goodwill 

and the cash-generating units. As the projects are not yet available for use, they are tested for impairment 

once a year. In order to estimate the value in use, management must assess the expected future cash flows of 

the individual projects and the chances of the underlying projects showing successful development and select 

an appropriate discount rate. Given the length of the planning periods (up to 20 years), the assumptions and 

forecasts associated with this are subject to a significant degree of uncertainty. Please refer to → note (33) for 

the methodology of the impairment test and its results and presentation.  

Fair value  

Fair value is generally determined on the basis of market prices. The fair value of financial assets for which no 

market prices can be determined is ascertained using valuation methods which include the discounted cash 

flow method. The input parameters incorporated in the model are based, wherever possible, on observable 

market data. If this is not possible, fair value is determined to a certain extent on the basis of judgment. These 

judgments concern input parameters such as liquidity risk, credit risk, and volatility. Changes in the 

assumptions relating to these factors could affect the fair values reported for financial instruments. Medigene 

has measured some financial assets at fair value → note (44).  

Impairment of inventories  

Medigene currently assumes that it holds sufficient stock of the active pharmaceutical ingredient (API) to 

market the drug for the long term. Critical factors in the recoverability of inventories include that the stockpile 

does not exceed demand in the long term due to competition or other causes out of Medigene’s control, and 

that the active pharmaceutical ingredient in Veregen and the ointment have a sufficient shelf life.  

The shelf life of Veregen was extended another year to seven years in 2018 and efforts continue to be made 

to further extend the shelf life. Based on recent supporting analyses regarding data on shelf life, a longer 

period of usability can be assumed, subject to the completion of respective regulatory processes. Furthermore, 

the shift from shelf life to a retesting date was approved by authorities, meaning that now once the current 

minimum shelf life of seven years has been reached, the active pharmaceutical ingredient is tested before each 

production run of the end product. Only if all specified technical parameters are met in testing, can it then be 

used in the production of the Veregen ointment.  
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In addition, the Group applies the new measurement method when calculating net realizable value which 

considers actuarial principles and the time value of money. Given the length of the planning periods of more 

than ten years, the assumptions and forecasts associated with this are subject to a significant degree of 

uncertainty. No impairment loss was recorded on inventories as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 or at January 

1, 2017. → note (35). 

(5) Consolidation of subsidiaries 

Consolidation principles 

The consolidated financial statements include the separate financial statements of Medigene AG and its 

subsidiaries as at December 31, of any given fiscal year. The financial statements of the entities within the 

consolidated group are prepared according to uniform accounting policies.  

All intragroup balances, transactions, income, expenses, and profits and losses arising from intragroup 

transactions included in the carrying amount of assets have been eliminated in full.  

Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are all entities where the Group has the power to govern financial and operating policies. The 

Company obtains control when it can exercise power over the investee, is exposed, or has rights, to variable 

returns on its involvement with the investee, and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over 

the investee. Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements (full consolidation) when the 

Group obtains control. Consolidation ceases as soon as the parent company loses control.  

(6) Functional currency/foreign currency translation 

Foreign currency transactions and foreign operations are reported in the consolidated financial statements of 

Medigene AG in accordance with IAS 21 “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates”. 

Functional currency and presentation currency 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in euro, the functional currency of the parent company 

and presentation currency of the Group. Each entity within the Group determines its own functional currency. 

The items included in the separate financial statements of the relevant entity are measured on the basis of this 

functional currency. The functional currency of Medigene Immunotherapies is the euro (€) and that of 

Medigene, Inc., is the US dollar (US$). 

Transactions and balances  

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rates that applied 

on the date of the transaction. Gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from 

translating monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency using the closing rate are posted 

through profit or loss. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 

exchange rate that was in effect when fair value was determined. Receivables and payables not carried in the 

functional currency are translated using the closing rate. Purchases and sales in foreign currencies are 

translated using the historical exchange rate. Any resulting currency differences are posted through profit or 

loss.  
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Group companies 

When a foreign subsidiary is consolidated the balance sheet items are translated using the closing rate. The 

translation of income and expenses for the purposes of consolidation is carried out using the relevant historical 

rate on the date of the transaction. The resulting differences arising from currency translation are recognized 

directly in other comprehensive income.  

Exchange rates for 2018 and as at the reporting date December 31, 2018: 

EXCHANGE RATES
  CLOSING RATE AVERAGE RATE 

 12/31/2018 12/31/2017 1/1/2017 2018 2017 

€1 in US$ 1.1423 1.1958 1.0530 1.1767 1.1341 

€1 in GB£ (pound sterling or GB£) 0.8951 0.8854 0.8566 0.8842 0.8741 

Commerzbank AG, reference exchange rates 

 

(7) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are valued at cost in accordance with IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment” 

and are subject to regular depreciation using the straight-line method and any impairment losses. Property, 

plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their expected useful life or, in the case of 

leasehold improvements, over the contract lease period which may be shorter.  

Technical equipment and laboratory facilities 3 - 13 years 

Leasehold improvements 3 - 10 years 

Leased assets → note (19) 5 years 

 

Subsequent costs are only recorded as part of the cost of the asset or, if appropriate, as a separate asset if it is 

likely that future economic benefits resulting from these will flow to the Group and that the cost of the asset 

can be determined reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged as expenses to the income 

statement in the fiscal year in which they are incurred. Upon the sale or disposal of property, plant and 

equipment, the cost and the accumulated depreciation associated with these are derecognized in the year of 

the disposal. Gains and losses on disposal are recognized through profit or loss in other operating income and 

expenses. The purchase and sale of property, plant and equipment within the Group is eliminated during the 

process of consolidation. The useful life, the depreciation method, and the residual carrying amount are 

examined on each reporting date. 

Details on the development of property, plant and equipment can be found in the statement of changes in non-

current assets → page 106 et seq. 

(8) Intangible assets 

Accounting policies for acquired intangible assets  

A summary of the accounting policies applied to the Group’s intangible assets is as follows: 
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 TECHNOLOGY RIGHTS, 

PATENTS, LICENSES AND SOFTWARE 

 

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 

PROJECTS ACQUIRED THROUGH 

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 

GOODWILL 

Useful life 
Limited to term of patent or 
contract 

Limited to term of patent Indefinite  

Applied  
amortization method 

Straight-line amortization over 
patent or contract life; 
amortization period 
up to 14 years 

Impairment test at least once a 
year, straight-line amortization 
subsequent to market approval 

Impairment test at least once a 
year 

Internally developed or 
acquired 

Acquired Acquired Acquired 

 

Details on the development of intangible fixed assets can be found in the statement of changes in non-current 

assets → page 106 et seq. 

Technology rights, patents, licenses and software 

Individually acquired intangible assets with a finite useful life are measured at cost upon initial recognition. Any 

acquired intellectual property rights, patents, licenses and software, as well as research and development 

projects for which the licenses have been acquired are recognized as intangible assets if all three of the 

following criteria are met: 

→ The asset can be clearly identified. 

→ The costs of the asset can be measured reliably. 

→ It is probable that future economic benefits embodied in the asset will flow to the entity. 

Following their initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any amortization and accumulated 

impairment losses. Intangible assets are amortized over their useful life and tested for impairment whenever 

there is any indication that the asset may be impaired. For intangible assets with a finite useful life, the 

amortization period and amortization method are examined at least at the end of every fiscal year. 

Gains or losses arising from the derecognition of intangible assets are determined as the difference between 

the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the income statement in 

the same period the asset is derecognized. 

Research and development projects acquired through business combinations 

The capitalized research and development projects acquired through business combinations relate to the 

RhuDex drug candidate and immunotherapy projects. They are capitalized at cost, which equals the 

acquisition-date fair value. Following their initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any 

amortization and accumulated impairment losses.  

Intangible assets based on underlying drug candidates are amortized from the date at which the respective 

drug candidate has obtained market approval. Until that date, an annual impairment test is carried out. Further 

impairment tests are carried out as the need arises whenever there is any indication of impairment. 

Goodwill 

After initial recognition, goodwill is valued at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is examined 

for impairment at least once a year. An impairment test is also carried out if any events or circumstances 

indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired.  

The carrying amount of goodwill of €2,212 k as at December 31, 2018, December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2017 

is allocated to the RhuDex cash-generating unit → note (33). 
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(9) Impairment of and reversal of impairment on non-financial assets 

The Group establishes on each reporting date whether there are any indications of an impairment of non-

financial assets. If there are such indications or an annual impairment test is required, the Group estimates the 

recoverable amount of the relevant asset. The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of the fair value of 

an asset or cash-generating unit (CGU) less costs to sell and the value in use. The recoverable amount must be 

determined for each asset, unless an asset produces no cash inflows which are largely independent of those of 

other assets or other groups of assets.  

To carry out an impairment test, the goodwill acquired as part of a business combination is allocated, starting 

as at the acquisition date, to the CGUs that benefit from the synergy effects. A CGU to which goodwill is 

allocated, 

→ represents the lowest level within the entity at which goodwill is monitored for internal management 

purposes, and 

→ is no larger than a segment based on the primary or secondary reporting format of the Group as defined in 

IFRS 8 “Operating Segments”. 

If the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is impaired and written 

down to the recoverable amount. As a result, first the allocated goodwill and then the intangible assets 

allocated to this CGU are written down accordingly.  

The value in use calculation is based on cash flow forecasts adopted by management and a discount rate which 

reflects current market anticipations regarding interest effects and the specific risks inherent in the asset or the 

CGU. The planning period under review encompasses development and approval, as well as the period of time 

commencing with market launch, for which patent terms of slightly over ten years are generally assumed. To 

determine the fair value less costs to sell, any recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such 

transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used.  

Impairment losses relating to operating business units, including write-downs of inventories, are recognized 

through profit or loss in the expense categories which correspond to the function of the impaired asset in the 

Company.  

On each reporting date, a review is carried out for assets, with the exception of goodwill, to test whether there 

is any indication that a previously recognized impairment loss no longer exists or has decreased. If there is any 

such indication, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset or CGU. A previously recognized 

impairment loss is only reversed if there has been a change in the assumptions on the basis of which the 

recoverable amount was determined since the impairment loss was recorded. The increase in value is limited 

to the extent that the carrying amount of an asset must not exceed its recoverable amount or the carrying 

amount which would have resulted after taking into account amortization if no impairment loss had been 

recognized for the asset in previous years. Any reversal of an impairment loss is recognized through profit or 

loss.  
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(10) Financial assets/Financial instruments 

From January 1, 2018 the Group classifies its financial assets to the following measurement categories: 

→ Those measured at fair value (either through OCI or through profit and loss) and 

→ those measured at amortized cost.  

The classification and subsequent measurement depend on the business model of the Company with regard to 

the management of financial assets and contractual cash flows. 

Initial measurement  

Upon initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at fair value plus – in the case of a financial asset 

not subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss – the transaction costs directly attributable to 

the acquisition of the asset. Transaction costs of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are 

recognized as expenses in the income statement. Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered as 

combined instruments when determining whether the cash flows constitute solely payments of principal and 

interest.  

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments  

The Group classifies the debt instruments it holds into three measurement categories:  

→ at amortized cost: assets that are held in order to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual cash 

flows are solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortized cost and tested for 

impairment. Interest income from such financial assets is presented in the income statement under 

finance income using the effective interest method. Gains or losses upon derecognizing or modifying the 

asset or recording an impairment loss on it are posted through profit or loss.  

This category has the greatest significance for the consolidated financial statements. The financial assets 

measured at amortized cost carried by the Group comprise trade accounts receivable and other financial 

assets. Starting January 1, 2018 they also contain cash and cash equivalents and time deposits. 

→ At fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI): financial assets that are held not only to collect 

contractual cash flows but also held for sale and whose cash flows consist solely of payments of principal 

and interest are measured at fair value through profit or loss. Changes in their carrying amount are 

presented under other comprehensive income with the exception of impairment gains or losses, interest 

income and exchange rate gains and losses, which are posted through profit or loss. If such financial assets 

are derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss previously recorded in other comprehensive income is 

recycled through the income statement. The Group did not carry any such financial instruments in the 

reporting period. 

→ At fair value through profit and loss (FVPL): assets that do not meet the recognition criteria for “at 

amortized cost” or “FVOCI” are measured at fair value through profit or loss. Gains or losses from such 

debt instruments are posted through profit or loss in the period in which they arise. The Group did not 

carry any such financial instruments in the reporting period. 
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Subsequent measurement of equity instruments  

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures all equity instruments at fair value. Gains or losses on 

assets measured at fair value are posted either directly to OCI or through profit or loss. Changes in financial 

assets at fair value through profit or loss are offset and presented net in the income statement. This applies to 

investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading regardless of whether the Group initially 

decided to recognize the equity instruments irrevocably at FVOCI. If the Group’s management has decided to 

present the effects of fair value adjustments of equity instruments in other comprehensive income, there is no 

recycling of the fair value gains and losses through profit or loss upon derecognition of the instrument. 

Dividends from such instruments are still posted to other operating income in the income statement if the 

Group has a vested right to receive payments.  

Upon adopting IFRS 9 the Group has exercised the available practical expedient and classified the shares it 

carries in Immunocore Ltd. and the financial assets recognized in connection with pension commitments, but 

which do not qualify as plan assets, as financial instruments “at fair value through profit or loss”. These equity 

instruments were formerly classified as “available-for-sale financial assets”, a category that no longer exists 

under IFRS 9.  

The Group did not carry any equity instruments classified as at fair value through profit or loss in the reporting 

period. 

Impairment losses  

IFRS 9 replaces the incurred loss model found in IAS 39 with an expected loss model. As a result, from January 

1, 2018 the Group assesses the expected credit losses on its debt instruments measured at amortized cost 

through other comprehensive income on a forward-looking basis. The loss model depends on whether there is 

a significant increase in the credit risk. The Group applies the simplified approach of IFRS 9 to trade accounts 

receivable under which the expected credit losses over the term of the instrument may be recognized upon 

initial recognition of the receivable. The assessment of credit risk is primarily determined by the individual 

characteristics of the counterparties concerned. The majority of counterparties have had a business 

relationship with Medigene for over four years. There have been no defaults by any of these counterparties 

and their credit ratings were never impaired. For this reason, no significant impairment losses were identified 

on trade accounts receivable or on other financial assets as of the reporting date or the date of first-time 

application 
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Hierarchy of fair values 

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by 

valuation technique: 

Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices on active markets for identical assets or liabilities  

Level 2: Valuation techniques for which all the input parameters that are significant to fair value measurement 

are directly or indirectly observable 

Level 3: Valuation techniques that use input parameters that are significant to fair value measurement and are 

not based on observable data 

(11) Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of purchase cost and net realizable value in accordance with IAS 2 

“Inventories”. In the process, the purchase costs are generally determined on the basis of direct costs including 

incidental purchase costs. Net realizable value is the estimated amount that can be realized in a normal 

business transaction less the estimated costs to complete and an estimate of the costs to sell the asset. Net 

realizable value is calculated by taking into account financial mathematical considerations and the time value of 

money. 

(12) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand as well as credit balances at banks and bank deposits with an 

original maturity of up to three months. If an investment is to be classified as a cash equivalent, it must be 

readily convertible into a particular cash amount. In addition, it must only be subject to insignificant value 

fluctuations.  

(13) Shareholders’ equity 

Ordinary shares are classified as shareholders’ equity. Costs that are directly attributable to the issue of new 

shares are included in shareholders’ equity net of tax as a deduction from the issue proceeds. 

(14) Share-based compensation: options  

As an incentive to share in the Group’s long-term success and in order to retain important employees at the 

Company in the long term, its employees and the members of its Executive Management Board receive share-

based payments in the form of equity instruments, among other things. For this purpose, the Group has set up 

a share-based compensation plan that is settled by issuing new shares. These equity instruments, such as 

options, are stated in accordance with IFRS 2. The fair value of stock options which Medigene grants as 

compensation for work performed by employees is recorded as an expense. The instruments are measured 

when granted using the binomial model. The binomial model takes into consideration lock-up periods, exercise 

thresholds, the volatility of the underlying instrument (Medigene AG share), and a market rate of interest 

among other things. The expenses resulting from the granting of equity instruments and the corresponding 

increase in shareholders’ equity are recognized over the period in which the exercise and performance 

conditions must be met (vesting period). This period ends on the first possible exercise date, i.e., the date on 

which the relevant employee is irrevocably entitled to subscribe. No expenses are recognized for forfeited 

compensation rights.  

The estimated number of options expected to be exercised is examined on each reporting date. The effects of 

any possible changes to the original estimates are included in the income statement and accounted for by 

carrying out the respective adjustment to shareholders’ equity over the remaining vesting period. 
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When stock options are exercised, €1 per share is reported for each option in the share capital with the 

remaining amount shown in the capital reserve.  

If they have a dilutive effect, the stock options outstanding are considered in the calculation of earnings per 

share as additional dilution.  

(15) Financial liabilities/Financial instruments  

The classification of financial liabilities under IFRS 9 remains largely unchanged to the former accounting 

regulations as defined by IAS 39. 

Initial recognition 

Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost or at fair value through profit or loss. The Group determines 

the classification of its financial liabilities upon initial recognition and measures them at fair value or, in the 

case of financial liabilities measured at amortized cost it measures them net of directly attributable transaction 

costs. The financial liabilities of the Group comprise trade accounts payable and other liabilities. As at 

December 31, 2018, the Group had no financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss.  

Subsequent measurement 

Financial liabilities initially measured at amortized cost are also measured at amortized cost in subsequent 

periods. Any difference between the amount paid out (after deducting transaction costs) and the amount 

repayable is recognized in the income statement over the term of the loan using the effective interest method.  

Derecognition 

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation underlying the liability is discharged, canceled or 

expires.  

(16) Accruals 

Accruals are recognized in accordance with IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” 

provided that there is a current obligation to third parties arising from a past event that will probably lead to 

the outflow of resources in the future and that this amount can be estimated reliably. The cost of recording an 

accrual is reported in the income statement. Accruals for obligations that are not likely to lead to an outflow of 

resources embodying economic benefits in the subsequent year are recognized at the present value of the 

expected outflow of resources. The carrying amount of accruals is reviewed every reporting date.  

(17) Pension obligations 

Pension obligations are accounted for in accordance with IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”. There are various 

pension plans within the Group. The Group has implemented both defined benefit and defined contribution 

plans.  

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan which defines the pension benefits that an employee will receive upon 

retiring. The amount depends on one or more factors such as age, length of service, and salary. The obligation 

recognized in the balance sheet for defined benefit plans corresponds to the present value of the defined 

benefit obligations (DBO) on the reporting date less the fair value of plan assets that arise from pension liability 

insurance. The DBO is calculated annually by an independent actuary using the projected unit credit method.  
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The 2018 G mortality tables by Prof. Klaus Heubeck were used as the biometric calculation basis. The pension 

obligations have a term of 15 years. The present value of the DBO is calculated by discounting the expected 

future cash payments using the interest rate of the highest-quality corporate bonds. These must be 

denominated in the currency in which the benefits are also paid and their terms to maturity must equal those 

of the pension obligations. Actuarial gains and losses based on experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 

assumptions are recognized in full in other comprehensive income. 

Under the defined contribution plan, the Group pays fixed contributions to an independent insurance 

company. With these plans, the Group has no legal or constructive obligations to make additional contributions 

if the insurance company does not hold sufficient assets to pay the pension claims of all employees for their 

service in current and previous fiscal years. The contributions are recognized in personnel expenses upon 

becoming due. Prepaid contributions are recognized as assets to the extent that there is a right to a refund or a 

reduction in future payments. 

(18) Taxes 

Current taxes 

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured using the amount expected to be repaid by or paid to tax 

authorities. The amount is calculated on the basis of the tax rates and laws applicable on the reporting date.  

Current taxes pertaining to items recognized directly in shareholders’ equity are not posted in the income 

statement, but rather in shareholders’ equity. 

Deferred taxes 

Deferred tax is recognized in accordance with IAS 12 “Income Taxes” using the liability method for all 

temporary differences between the actual tax base of assets/liabilities and their carrying amounts in the 

financial statements according to IFRS. Deferred tax is valued using the tax rates (and laws) enacted or 

substantively enacted on the reporting date or those that are expected to apply when the deferred tax asset is 

realized or the deferred tax liability is settled.  

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except: 

→ where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a 

transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 

accounting profit nor taxable profit of loss; and 

→ in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates, and 

interests in joint ventures where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled 

and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
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Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses, and unused tax 

credits to the extent that deferred tax liabilities exist, or that taxable income is likely to be available against 

which the deductible temporary differences and the unused tax losses and tax credits can be used except: 

→ where the deferred tax asset from deductible temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of 

an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 

affects neither the accounting profit nor the taxable profit or loss, and 

→ in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates, and 

interests in joint ventures provided that the temporary differences are not likely to reverse in the 

foreseeable future or it is probable that insufficient taxable profit will be available against which the 

temporary differences can be used. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is examined on every reporting date and reduced to the extent that 

it is no longer likely that sufficient taxable profit will be available against which the deferred tax asset, or a part 

thereof, can be used. In addition, the statutory limitations regarding the recognition of deferred tax assets for 

unused tax losses in accordance with Sec. 10d (2) of the German Income Tax Act (EStG) as well as other tax law 

requirements are taken into account.  

Deferred taxes which relate to items reported in other comprehensive income or directly in shareholders’ 

equity are also stated in other comprehensive income or shareholders’ equity.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using tax rates expected to be valid for the period in which an 

asset is realized or a liability is settled. This is based particularly on country-specific tax rates and laws 

applicable as at the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset against each other if the tax 

assets and income taxes pertain to the same taxable entity, have matching maturities, and are levied by the 

same tax authority.  

(19) Leases 

Lease agreements in which the Group is the lessee and substantially all of the risks and rewards associated with 

ownership of the leased asset remain with the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made in 

connection with operating leases are recognized in the income statement over the period of the lease using the 

straight-line method.  

Leases qualify as finance leases if the Company as the lessee bears substantially all risks and rewards incidental 

to ownership of the leased asset. All leased assets that qualify as finance leases are recognized as non-current 

assets in accordance with IAS 17 “Leases” at the inception of the lease at the lower of their fair value or the 

present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding lease obligations are recognized as current 

or non-current liabilities, depending on their term to maturity. The minimum lease payments are broken down 

into repayments of principal and an interest component so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the 

remaining balance of the lease liability. Repayments of principal reduce the liability, whereas interest payments 

are reported as interest expense. The depreciation rates for leased assets correspond to the principles applied 

to property, plant and equipment → note (7).  
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(20) Revenue recognition 

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when control over the good or service has transferred to 

the customer. Revenue is recognized at the amount of the consideration that the Group is expected to receive 

in return for these goods or services. The Group has generally come to the conclusion that it acts as a principal 

in sales transactions as it customarily has control over the goods or services before transferring control to the 

customer. Medigene recognizes revenue from contracts with customers in its core business of 

immunotherapies (research and development cooperation with bluebird bio) and also records revenue from 

the drug Veregen (sale of goods and licenses, non-core business). All other operating proceeds are presented 

under other operating income in the income statement.  

Revenue from the research and development cooperation with bluebird bio 

On September 29, 2016, Medigene and bluebird bio, Inc., Cambridge, MA, USA, (hereinafter referred to as 

“bluebird bio”), entered into a strategic research and development cooperation and a license agreement for 

the joint development of TCR immunotherapies against four target molecules of bluebird bio. On May 14, 

2018,  

Medigene announced a substantial expansion to the cooperation by two additional target molecules. Within 

the framework of this cooperation, Medigene is responsible for the generation and provision of the 

collaboration TCRs and exploits its TCR technology platform and expertise to which bluebird bio has 

unrestricted access over the course of the development phase. After completion of the collaborative preclinical 

development, bluebird will assume sole responsibility for further clinical development and potential 

commercialization of the TCR products. Bluebird received an exclusive license for the patents of the 

corresponding TCRs. 

The consideration in the contract with bluebird bio contains a number of different components. Within the 

framework of this cooperation, Medigene received an upfront payment of US$ 15 m (€13.4 m) in 2016 and an 

additional upfront payment of US$ 8 m (€6.7 m) in 2018. In addition, Medigene has a right to potential 

milestone payments if all the defined preclinical, clinical, regulatory and commercial milestones for the future 

TCR products are reached for a number of indications. Once granted, all upfront payments and milestone 

payments are non-refundable. Upon expansion of the contract, bluebird bio confirmed that the first milestone 

of the collaboration had been reached and Medigene received an additional payment of US$ 1 m in 2018 (€0.8 

m). Additionally, Medigene will receive R&D funding for work performed in the collaboration and will be 

eligible in future for tiered royalties on net sales up to a double-digit percentage. 

In light of the fact that the Group is active in the field of researching and developing immunotherapies and that 

the strategic research and development cooperation does not constitute a joint arrangement in the sense of 

IFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements” management takes the view that the cooperation falls within the scope of IFRS 

15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”. The accounting of cooperation arrangements under IFRS 15 is 

heavily dependent on discretionary judgments. For example, management has identified four distinct bundles 

of performance obligations (six after expansion of the scope of the contract) on the basis of a thorough 

assessment of the issue. Each bundle consists of the following contractual performance obligations that are not 

distinct from each other: access to Medigene’s technology and expertise, including support with the selection 

of suitable target molecules, research work on the discovery and preclinical development of TCRs to combat 

these target molecules, potential TCR sequences and an exclusive license for the patents of the corresponding 

TCRs. The license does not constitute a predominant component of the bundle of performance obligations. The 

bundles of contractual performance obligations are essentially the same and control is transferred to the 

customer in the same pattern of transfer, implying that they can be accounted for as one contractual 

performance obligation following the series requirement in IFRS 15. Control over each bundle of performance 

obligations is transferred to the customer over the period of the respective research phase as an (intangible) 

asset is generated by the performance obligation that has no alternative use for the Group and the Group has 
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an enforceable right to payment for performance rendered to date. Revenue generated by this cooperation is 

recognized based on the progress towards complete satisfaction which faithfully depicts the transfer of control 

over the bundle of performance obligations. Based on the substance of the bundle of contractual performance 

obligations and the value to bluebird bio of the goods or services transferred, the output method of measuring 

progress over the time elapsed applies. In contrast to an output-based method that is based on the work 

performed or agreed milestones, the elapsed time method is, based on management’s estimate, a more 

faithful depiction of the performance of the Group completed to date: the value of the contractual 

performance obligations accrue to the customer evenly over the course of time. In addition, although the parts 

of performance obligations (bundle of contractual performance obligations) is defined in the contract, the 

customer, bluebird bio, can, at its own discretion, discontinue one or the other target molecule and fewer 

target molecules will be processed by Medigene. Consequently only the term of the contract is clearly 

delimited.  

Revenue is recognized over the research period of 45 months originally estimated by management and, 

subsequent to expansion of the contract, over the revised assessment of 69 months (since the inception of the 

contract) for a research period ending in 2022. As a series of bundled performance obligations is accounted for 

as one performance obligation, there is no need to allocate the total consideration, with the exception of 

variable consideration such as reimbursement of research and development costs and milestone payments 

that are clearly distinct and allocable to a certain component of the contract or one or more (but not all) 

distinct performance obligations following the series requirement of IFRS 15. Possible changes in the variable 

consideration are treated as a cumulative catch-up. Moreover, in order to avoid excessive recognition of 

revenue and a potential significant reversal of revenue in future, the constraints of variable consideration 

according to IFRS 15 apply. Due to the customary uncertainties associated with future milestone payments and 

royalties, they are only considered when certain milestones are actually reached and, if applicable, are 

confirmed by the customer.  

As a result, the upfront payments from the cooperation with bluebird bio, as fixed consideration, are 

recognized as contract liabilities upon receipt and derecognized to revenue over the estimated term of the 

research period. The variable consideration from the reimbursement of research and development costs is 

estimated in each reporting period and also recognized as revenue on a straight-line basis at first, to be later 

adjusted to match the actual rights to reimbursement arising in the period. The variable consideration from the 

first milestone payment was recognized as revenue immediately upon recognition as it refers to the 

performance obligations that had already been satisfied. 

The expansion of the collaboration agreement in May 2018 due to the addition of parts of performance 

obligations is regarded by management as a modification of the original contract and is not accounted for as a 

separate contract. A cumulative adjustment to the previously recognized revenue was recorded for the 

performance obligations that were not satisfied or were partially satisfied at the time of the contract 

modification. No adjustment was made for distinct contractual performance obligations that had already been 

satisfied. 

  



MEDIGENE AG ANNUAL REPORT 2018 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 71 

 

Revenue from Veregen® 

With regard to Veregen, revenues from licenses with partner companies for certain countries and products 

will be recognized separately as these represent distinct contractual performance obligations. The contractually 

agreed consideration for the licenses to distribute Veregen normally consists of a fixed payment (non-

recurring upfront payment) and a variable component (milestone payments and royalties). Non-recurring up-

front payments and milestone payments are realized immediately so long as the license provides a right to use. 

In addition, milestone payments and royalties are only realized upon reaching the milestone or making the 

sale, following the application guidance of IFRS 15 for recognizing revenue from the licenses of intellectual 

property, as the consideration depends on the future sales and use by the customer. Consideration for 

deliveries of the Veregen API or ointment is fixed in the contracts with the partner companies. Revenue from 

product sales is recognized at a point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer. This is 

the case when a product or the active pharmaceutical ingredient is delivered to the buyer.  

Other income 

Other income from agreements that are not associated with the receipt of goods or services from the Group’s 

ordinary activities in exchange for consideration and that therefore do not constitute a seller-customer 

relationship as defined by IFRS 15 is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the 

Group and the amount of revenue can be reliably determined. Based on management’s judgment, the transfer 

of rights to a product from the non-core business, among other things, is allocated to this category.  

(21) Research and development expenses 

Research and development expenses are recognized as expenses in the period in which they arise. These 

expenses include personnel expenses, the cost of materials, patent and license fees, specialized services 

provided by third parties, consultancy fees and other costs such as office rent and utilities. They also include 

pro rata depreciation and amortization.  

(22) Earnings per share  

Basic earnings per share  

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net profit/loss for the period to which the equity owners are 

entitled (the numerator), by the weighted average number of shares issued that are in circulation during the 

period (the denominator).  

Diluted earnings per share  

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing net profit/loss for the period adjusted for all changes in 

income or expense that would result from the conversion of financial instruments that entitle the holder to 

purchase shares (e.g. options, convertible notes) with dilutive effects (numerator) by the weighted average 

number of shares that are in circulation during the period, adjusted for new shares that would result from the 

conversion of such financial instruments with dilutive effects (denominator).  

With regards to stock options, it is calculated how many shares could be acquired at fair value (determined by 

the average share price over the course of the year). The number of shares thereby calculated is compared 

with the number that would have resulted had these stock options been exercised. The conversion of options 

to new shares is deemed to be completed on commencement of the period, or on the day, when the new 

shares were issued. 
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For fiscal years 2018 and 2017, diluted earnings per share were the same as basic earnings per share, since 

taking into account the weighted average number of shares to be issued upon the exercise of stock options 

would produce an anti-dilutive effect. Of the total number of 645,133 stock options, 42,669 had no dilutive 

effect in 2018, since the exercise price of most of the stock options was above the average share price of 

€13.18 for the year (Deutsche Börse; XETRA closing price).  

(23) Statement of cash flows 

The Company applied the indirect method when determining the net cash used in operating activities and 

classified cash flows into operating, investing, and financing activities. The net cash from/used in investing 

activities and financing activities is determined based on the actual payments made. 

(24) Segment reporting/operating segments 

Segment reporting in accordance with IFRS 8 “Operating Segments” uses the management approach to 

determine individual segment data. The individual segment data are provided by internal reporting, so that the 

determination of individual data reflects the Company’s management concept.  

An “operating segment” is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may earn 

revenues and incur expenses and whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity’s chief operating 

decision maker and for which discrete financial information is available.  

For management purposes, the Group is organized into business units based on its products and services, and 

has two reportable operating segments: »Immunotherapies« (core business) and »Other products« (non-core 

business). Financial information that cannot be assigned to either of the operating segments is reported under 

“Reconciliation”.  

In addition, the Group reports revenue with external customers and non-current assets including property, 

plant, equipment, intangible assets, and goodwill, classified by the country in which the Company has 

generated revenue and/or holds assets. 

The figures reported for the individual segments can be found in → section E)  “Segment reporting”. 
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C. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF INCOME 

The income statement was prepared in accordance with the cost of sales method. 

(25) Total revenue  

The revenue generated by the Company in its core business of immunotherapies rose by 22% to €5,980 k in the 

reporting period (2017: €4,886 k). This is primarily attributable to the strategic research and development 

cooperation agreement that was signed with bluebird bio in 2016 and significantly expanded on May 14, 2018 

→ note (20). On the basis of this cooperation agreement Medigene received a non-recurring upfront payment 

of US$ 15 m (€13.4 m) in 2016 and an additional upfront payment of US$ 8 m (€6.7 m) plus a payment of US$ 1 

m (€0.8 m) upon reaching the first milestone of the collaboration. In addition, the number of employees (FTEs) 

whose time could be fully billed to bluebird bio was increased. 

A cumulative adjustment to the previously recognized revenue from the pro rata realization of €-34 k of the 

upfront payment was recorded in fiscal year 2018 for the performance obligations that were not satisfied or 

were only partially satisfied at the time of the contract modification. The pro rata realization of the original and 

additional upfront payments is now no longer being spread evenly over the 45 months mentioned above but 

over the extended research period ending in 2022, which corresponds to the revised estimated term over 

which the services promised will be provided (recognized over time). The change to the variable consideration 

(milestone payment) was also recorded as a cumulative adjustment. As a result a cumulative adjustment of 

€837 k was recorded in fiscal year 2018 on the previously recognized revenue from milestone payments. 

In addition to its core business, Medigene also generated revenue of €1,596 k (2017: €2,790 k) with its 

outlicensed drug, Veregen. In December 2017, the US-rights for Veregen were sold to Fougera 

Pharmaceuticals, Inc., USA. In the previous years, an average of over 50% of Veregen revenue was generated 

in the US. For this reason, 43% of the decrease is primarily due to the sale of the US rights to Veregen. At the 

end of fiscal year 2018 a significant order of €376 k had been received from a customer, which was shipped in 

2019. 

Other operating income generated by the Company decreased by 85% to €178 k in the reporting period (2017 

restated: €1,206 k). The main factor in this regard is a positive non-recurring effect of €1,080 k in the previous 

year due to the sale of the rights to distribute Veregen in the USA to Fougera Pharmaceuticals, Inc., USA.  
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TOTAL REVENUE 
IN € K 2018 2017 (restated) CHANGE 

Revenue from immunotherapies (bluebird bio cooperation) 5,980 4,886 22% 

thereof revenue from the derecognition of contract liabilities (over time, fixed 
consideration) 

3,473 3,575 -3% 

thereof revenue from milestone payments (over time, variable consideration) 837 0 - 

thereof R&D payments (over time, variable consideration) 1,670 1,311 27% 

Revenue Veregen 1,596 2,790 -43% 

thereof royalties (point in time, variable consideration) 350 1,305 -73% 

thereof revenue from product sales (point in time, fixed consideration) 1,071 1,460 -27% 

thereof revenue from milestone payments (point in time, variable consideration) 175 25 >200% 

Total revenue from contracts with customers 7,576 7,676 -1% 

Other operating income 178 1,206 -85% 

thereof gain on sale of intangible assets, net (US rights for Veregen) 0 1,080 - 

thereof other income  178 126 41% 

Total revenue  7,754 8,882 -13% 

 

The revenue recognized in fiscal year 2018 from the milestone payments from the cooperation with bluebird 

bio relate to contractual performance obligations that were satisfied in earlier periods (by the end of 2017). 

 

Breakdown of revenue from contracts with customers by geographical segment and customer locations: 

 
IN € K IMMUNOTHERAPIES OTHER 

PRODUCTS  

TOTAL 

2018    

Europe 0 1,430 1,430 

United States 5,980 0 5,980 

Other 0 166 166 

Revenue from contracts with customers 5,980 1,596 7,576 

    

2017    

Europe 0 1,285 1,285 

United States 4,886 1,505 6,391 

Revenue from contracts with customers 4,886 2,790 7,676 

 

 
RECEIVABLES, CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES WITH CUSTOMERS 
IN € K 12/31/2018 12/31/2017 CHANGE 

Contract receivables → note (36) 592 1,676 -65% 

Contract liabilities from the cooperation with bluebird 12,158 8,937 36% 

thereof non-current 8,684 5,362 62% 

thereof current  3,474 3,575 -3% 

 

Contract receivables break down into trade accounts receivable from the Veregen® business and 

reimbursements of research and development expenses for the fourth quarter of the respective year and 

normally have terms of payment of 30 days.  

The increase in contract liabilities in comparison to the previous year is due to the expansion of the 

cooperation in May 2018 → note (20). 
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(26) Cost of sales 

COST OF SALES 
IN € K 2018 2017 CHANGE 

Cost of goods sold 695 1,174 -41% 

Royalties for the rights to Veregen®  154 447 -66% 

Total  849 1,621 -48% 

 

Due to a lower volume of products shipped and lower royalty income, largely on account of the sale of the US 

rights to Veregen to Fougera Pharmaceuticals, Inc., USA, in the prior year, the cost of sales declined 

accordingly. 

(27) Selling expenses 

Expenses for direct and indirect business development as well as the distribution and marketing expenses for 

the marketed drug Veregen are reported under selling expenses. In particular, these include personnel 

expenses, regulatory costs in connection with Veregen, consultancy fees, market studies and other services. 

Selling expenses decreased to €1,680 k (2017: €2,506 k) largely due to the fact that regulatory expenses are no 

longer charged by the FDA as the rights to distribute Veregen® in the US were sold and the agreement with the 

supplier of the active pharmaceutical ingredient of Veregen® was terminated in the prior year. 

SELLING EXPENSES 
IN € K 2018 2017 CHANGE 

Personnel expenses 985 803 23% 

Consultancy fees/market studies 185 347 -47% 

Office rent and utilities 76 97 -22% 

Patent costs 60 85 -29% 

Marketing/regulatory costs 20 890 -98% 

Other 354 284 25% 

Total  1,680 2,506 -33% 

 

(28) General administrative expenses 

General administrative expenses rose slightly in the reporting period to €5,933 k (2017: €5,760 k), chiefly on 

account of the changes to the structure of the Executive Management Board in 2018. 

GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
IN € K 2018 2017 CHANGE 

Personnel expenses 3,108 3,019 3% 

Consultancy fees 1,535 1,488 3% 

Office rent and utilities 303 320 -5% 

Depreciation and amortization 207 186 11% 

Other 780 747 4% 

Total 5,933 5,760 3% 

 

(29) Research and development expenses 

Research and development expenses increased in the fiscal year 2018 to €17,117 k (2017: €14,877 k) due to 

further expansion of the research work performed on immunotherapy projects. The increase of €1,248 k in 

personnel expenses is reflected in the increase in the average number of full-time equivalents (FTEs) active in 

research and development from 64 in 2017 to 73 in 2018. 
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The R&D costs incurred for the collaboration with bluebird bio are reimbursed by bluebird bio and stated under 

revenue from immunotherapies as R&D payments from partners.  

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES 
IN € K 2018 2017 CHANGE 

Personnel expenses 7,505 6,257 20% 

Purchased services 3,427 3,858 -11% 

Laboratory material costs 2,024 1,517 33% 

Depreciation and amortization 1,325 1,013 31% 

Office rent and utilities 822 915 -10% 

Patent and license fees 957 420 128% 

Consultancy fees 252 194 30% 

Other 805 703 15% 

Total 17,117 14,877 15% 

 

(30) Financial result 

FINANCIAL RESULT 
IN € K 2018 2017 (restated) CHANGE 

Interest income 220 274 -20% 

Interest expense  -146 -709 -79% 

thereof non-cash changes in fair value of the liability for contingent 
consideration  

0 -574 - 

thereof interest expense for finance leases and similar non-current liabilities  -128 -100 28% 

thereof net interest cost for pension obligations  -7 -8 -13% 

Other -11 -27 -59% 

Total 74 -435 -117% 

 

(31) Other financial result 

The other financial result also includes contingent purchase price payments of €565 k (2017: €501 k) based on 

sales for Amgen’s drug, ImlygicTM. At the end of 2015 Medigene sold the spin-off, Catherex Inc., to Amgen Inc., 

USA. As part of this Medigene receives contingent purchase price payments based on sales for ImlygicTM 

through the end of 2020, and has a right to additional contingent purchase price payments that will be 

triggered upon reaching certain sales-based milestones for ImlygicTM.  
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(32) Personnel expenses 

The expense items in the income statement include the following personnel expenses:  

PERSONNEL EXPENSES 
IN € K 2018 2017 CHANGE 

Wages and salaries 8,906 8,561 4% 

Social security 1,246 1,169 7% 

Pension expenses    

Defined contribution plans 49 35 40% 

Defined benefit plans  31 6 >200% 

Stock options issued to executives and employees 961 104 >200% 

Other 405 205 98% 

Total 11,598 10,080 15% 

 

As at year-end 2018 the number of full-time equivalents came to 106 (December 31, 2017: 90) excluding 

employees on parental leave. The total headcount came to 118 (December 31, 2017: 96).  

In order to improve the informative value of the headcount by function and do justice to the high share of part-

time workers, Medigene presents, in contrast to the prior year, the average number of FTEs for fiscal years 

2018 and 2017. 

 

AVERAGE NUMBER OF FULL-TIME EQUIVALENTS (FTE´S) BY FUNCTION (EXCLUDING DIRECTORS)  
 2018 2017 CHANGE 

Research and development 73 64 14% 

General administration 19 20 -5% 

Business development 6 7 -14% 

Total 98 91 8% 
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D. NOTES TO THE BALANCE SHEET  

ASSETS 

(33) Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and goodwill  

The composition and development of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and goodwill is 

provided in the statement of changes in non-current assets → page 106 et seq. 

The carrying amounts of goodwill and intangible assets not yet available for use break down by CGU as follows 

as at December 31, 2018: 

CARRYING AMOUNTS OF CASH-GENERATING UNITS (CGUS) 
IN € K 12/31/2018 

 

12/31/2017 

 

 
RhuDex 

(CGU 1) 
Immunotherapies  

(CGU 2) 
RhuDex 

(CGU 1) 
Immunotherapies  

(CGU 2) 

Carrying amount of goodwill 2,212 0 2,212 0 

Carrying amount of CGU 1 (RhuDex) intangible assets not yet 
available for use 

23,750 0 23,750 0 

Carrying amount of CGU 2 (Immunotherapies) intangible assets not 
yet available for use 

0 9,692 0 9,692 

Carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment 0 2,917 0 3,022 

Total  25,962 12,609 25,962 12,714 

 

Annual impairment test as at December 31, 2018 

Methodology for determining the recoverable amount 

The recoverable amount for each CGU is estimated on the basis of value-in-use calculations using risk-adjusted 

net present value (rNPV) cash flow models. Value in use can be determined for each of the projects at research 

and development stage and allocated to the CGU since the clinical development and subsequent marketing of 

the drug candidates for one or several specific indications can be estimated. The cash flow forecasts used 

include detailed assumptions regarding the probability of market entry, future competition, project progress, 

the product profile and its lifecycle, as well as the market share of the future drug candidate.  

Cash flow after tax was discounted based on a discount rate after tax which reflects current market 

assessments of the interest rate level and the risks specific to the entity or product, to which the estimated 

future cash flows in the respective models were not adjusted. The Executive Management Board used discount 

rates and cash flows after tax since they are of the opinion that discounting the cash flows after tax at a 

discount rate after tax will not yield results that differ significantly from discounting cash flows before tax at a 

discount rate before tax. 

The amounts attributed to the assumptions each correspond to the Executive Management Board’s 

assessment of future developments and are based on internal planning scenarios and external sources of 

information and market data. In such estimates management also relies on assessments by external consulting 

and valuation specialists. 
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There are estimation uncertainties regarding the following assumptions that form the basis of the calculation of 

the value in use of the CGU, relating to the following factors among others: 

→ Development periods and project progress 

→ Probability of market entry 

→ Expected market volume  

Development periods and project progress 

The clinical development of a pharmaceutical product to its regulatory approval can take between 7 to 15 years 

and is generally divided into successive development phases. Significant factors which influence the length of 

the development period are the results for efficacy and side effects of a product candidate, which are obtained 

during the individual development phases. The assumptions made by Medigene’s management for each 

candidate and each indication are based on the current development status, the results obtained so far and the 

empirical data regarding the medical indication and class of drugs as well as industry knowledge and 

experience from comparable development projects.  

Probability of market entry 

Medigene has made assumptions on the probability of market entry for the drug candidates. The necessity for 

those assumptions arises from the typical drug development risks. For each development project, examples 

customary to the industry are used in determining individual probabilities regarding the transition from one 

development phase to the next. The resulting cumulative transition probabilities form the overall probability of 

market entry. The respective risks vary greatly based on the pharmaceutical development project under 

consideration and depend, among other things, on medical indications, the therapy form, active 

pharmaceutical ingredient type and other factors customary to the industry. The development risks are taken 

into consideration in determining the project-specific cash flows. 

Expected market volume 

The data available for each development project, the expected competitive position based on an analysis of 

development pipelines of other companies in the respective segment as well as market factors and trends 

provide the basis for an appraisal of the respective market volumes. These are carefully reviewed and assessed 

by management and bottom-up scenarios are developed as a result, in which the following successive 

parameters are evaluated: (a) incidence and prevalence of the disease, (b) treatable/addressable patient 

population, (c) market penetration assumed likely based on the effectiveness and side-effect profile of each 

drug candidate, (d) competitive market environment and (e) price obtainable per patient. The number of 

patients was determined on the basis of the most recent market data available and based on figures regarding 

the incidence of these diseases for the EU and the US using growth rates by indication between 0.3% and 3.4% 

p.a. In this respect, the relevant data available stem from various sources and reflect, for example, in the 

estimate of the market price of a drug the prices of drugs and therapies that have already been approved to 

treat the specific indication. As is customary, in such estimates Medigene also relies on assessments by external 

consulting and valuation specialists. The expected future market shares are estimated taking into account the 

lifecycle of the development project and reach double-digit figures in peak years. On this basis, management 

makes an assessment of the anticipated market potential. 

As at December 31, 2018 there was no need to record an impairment on the carrying amounts of the two cash-

generating units. 

Basic assumptions for calculating value in use for CGU 1 

The forecast extends beyond the expected expiry of the patent and covers the years 2019 to 2038. The cash 

flow models are based on the assumption that RhuDex will be first approved and marketed in the largest 
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pharmaceutical markets worldwide, the USA and Europe, from 2027 and, from 2029, also in Japan. The cash 

flow model includes the outlicensing in 2014 of the drug candidate RhuDex in the areas of hepatology and 

gastroenterology to Dr. Falk Pharma GmbH, Freiburg, Germany (“Falk Pharma”), in particular in the indications 

primary biliary cirrhosis (PBC) and autoimmune hepatitis. The assumptions used in the impairment test are 

based on the terms and conditions of the license agreement as well as the development plan and information 

from Falk Pharma.  

PROJECT-SPECIFIC ASSUMPTIONS CGU 1  

Planning horizon in years 18-20 

Project-specific cumulative probability of market entry (%) 15-20 

Tax rate (%) 30 

Discount rate after taxes (%) 8.06 

 

Sensitivity of the assumptions made – CGU 1 (RhuDex) 

In the basic assumptions made to determine the value in use of the CGU which are based on management’s 

best estimate and judgment, changes are reasonably possible which would cause the carrying amount of the 

CGU to exceed the value in use. This would trigger an impairment loss. In order to analyze the effects of basic 

and/or project-specific assumptions on value in use, Medigene made the following sensitivity calculations at 

CGU 1 level for the research and development projects assessed:  

The first approach examines the influence of greater risks with regard to the safety and effectiveness profile 

during clinical development. The increased development risks are reflected in a risk factor that takes the 

probability of market entry into account. If the probability of project progress is reduced by 11% in each case, 

thereby reducing the probability of market entry by approximately 30%, value in use approximates the carrying 

amount of CGU 1.  

The second approach examines how postponing the planned market entry by 1.5 years per indication would 

affect the recoverable amount. In this scenario, value in use approximates the carrying amount of CGU 1. 

The third approach examines the influence of patent scope and patent duration, i.e. of market exclusivity. 

Should, contrary to expectations, an assumed extension of the patent terms not be granted and market 

exclusivity be reduced by 2.5 years, or should additional competitors launch generics on the market sooner 

than expected, the CGU’s value in use would approximate its carrying amount as a result. 

In addition, the dependence of the resulting value in use on the estimated market prices of drug candidates 

(royalties) is assessed: if the underlying market prices were to decrease by 30%, the value in use would 

approximate the carrying amount of CGU 1. 

Moreover, the impact of a higher discount rate is analyzed. If the discount rate is increased by 2.5 percentage 

points to 10.6%, value in use approximates the carrying amount of CGU 1.  

In the worst case, if several unfavorable changes are simultaneously considered in the basic assumptions, value 

in use may drop to zero, and the carrying amounts of goodwill and intangible assets not yet available for use 

would have to be fully written off. 

Basic assumptions for calculating value in use for CGU 2 

Management bases its calculation of this CGU’s value in use on its intention to further develop and potentially 

market the two most advanced immunotherapy projects itself: dendritic cell (DC) vaccines for the prevention of 

new cases in patients with acute myeloid leukemia (AML) already being treated with chemotherapy and T cell  
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receptor (TCR)-modified T cells as part of an adoptive T cell therapy for the treatment of cancer patients with 

acute tumor disease against AML and other cancers (the TCR target molecule and tumor indications will be 

announced at an appropriate time prior to commencement of the trial). In addition, the estimated future 

income from the cooperation with the company bluebird bio has also been considered. The cash flow models 

extend beyond the expected term of the patent and cover the entire period until 2038. It was assumed that the 

first date for a market launch will be in 2026 (DC vaccine) and in 2027 (TCR PRAME) for both the EU and USA.  

PROJECT-SPECIFIC ASSUMPTIONS CGU 2  

Planning horizon in years 18-20 

Project-specific cumulative probability of market entry (%) 5-16 or 23 

Tax rate (%) 30 

Discount rate after taxes (%) 8.06 

 

For the Company’s own development projects, the gross margin adjusted for inflation was assumed to lie 

between approximately 78% - 86%. Further, it is assumed that production of these products will be outsourced 

to corresponding service providers (contract manufacturer); accordingly no investment in the Company’s own 

plant, except for research purposes, has been budgeted. Marketing, administration and general costs are 

planned as a lump-sum percentage of annual revenue.  

Sensitivity of the assumptions made – CGU 2 (Immunotherapies) 

Due to the diversification of the underlying immunotherapy projects and taking account of the agreed 

preclinical, clinical, regulatory, and commercial milestone payments that have been agreed in the cooperation 

agreement with bluebird bio, the total value in use of CGU 2 does not materially depend on any changes in the 

underlying assumptions. Based on a reasonable assessment, no changes are currently likely that could result in 

the carrying amount of CGU 2 exceeding its value in use, which would trigger an impairment loss.  

The Company examined the influence of greater risks with regard to the safety and effectiveness profile during 

clinical development. The increase in development risks is reflected in a risk factor that takes the probability of 

market entry into account. Even if the probability of project progress is reduced by 25% in each case, thereby 

reducing the cumulative probability of market entry by approximately 2% - 10%, value in use still does not 

approximate the carrying amount of CGU 2.  

In addition, the impact of a higher discount rate is analyzed. If the discount rate is increased by 41.9 percentage 

points to 50.0%, value in use does not yet approximate the carrying amount of CGU 2.  

In the worst case, if several significantly unfavorable changes are simultaneously considered in the basic 

assumptions, value in use may drop to zero, and the carrying amounts of goodwill and intangible assets not yet 

available for use would have to be fully written off. 

(34) Non-current financial assets  

Non-current financial assets comprise the following items: 
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NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS 
IN € K 12/31/2018 12/31/2017 CHANGE 

Shares in Immunocore Ltd. (FVOCI) 5,431 5,490 -1% 

Plan assets (FVOCI) 191 206 -7% 

Total 5,622 5,696 -1% 

 

As at December 31, 2018 and 2017 and on January 1, 2017, Medigene held 32,407 (less than 1%) of the 

ordinary shares in the private biotech company, Immunocore Ltd., based in the UK. The shares in Immunocore 

Ltd. are classified as FVOCI equity instruments in the sense of IFRS 9 → note (10). In light of the fact that the 

shares are denominated in pound sterling, they were translated into euro using the closing rate. 

The shares held in Immunocore Ltd. were classified to Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.  Their fair value as at 

December 31, 2018 was estimated on the basis of the price paid for the shares sold by Medigene in 2016. 

Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy includes the securities for funding pension obligation, which are valued at the 

exchange price as at the reporting date. 

(35) Inventories  

As at the reporting date, inventories of the active pharmaceutical ingredient in Veregen amounted to €7,298 k 

(12/31/2017: €7,724 k). There was no need to write down inventories as the Company assumes that it will be 

possible to process the products in stock as at the reporting date to create end products and sell them in the 

future. This information is based on the management’s forecast of discounted cash flows from future sales of 

inventory subject to the condition that the shelf life of the active pharmaceutical ingredient and of the 

Veregen ointment is extended.  

The forecast extends beyond the expiry of the Veregen patent and covers the years 2019 to 2029. Sales 

volumes and revenue were forecast for existing and potential future partner companies. In this context, the 

probability of penetrating new markets is taken into consideration. The amounts attributed to the assumptions 

each correspond to the Executive Management Board’s assessment of future developments and are based on 

internal planning scenarios and external sources of information and market data. Thus, it was estimated that 

the level of royalties received and the volume of product sales during the term of the patent would remain 

constant with each existing or anticipated contractual partner. No growth factor was applied. Upon expiry of 

the patent in a country, it was assumed that unit sales in the respective country would decrease by at least 5% 

p.a.  

The estimated costs for production of the ointment were based on the existing arrangement with the contract 

manufacturer of the Veregen ointment. It was assumed that regulatory costs belonged to the necessary costs 

to make the sale, but would no longer be incurred upon expiry of the patent. Otherwise, the estimated costs 

necessary to make the sale include personnel expenses and directly allocated administrative overheads. 

A discount rate for the Veregen business was calculated at 11.7% as at December 31, 2018 (12/31/2017: 11.4%, 

1/1/2017: 11.5%). 
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It is assumed that the shelf life of the active pharmaceutical ingredient can be extended to up to 10 years while 

that of the Veregen ointment can presumably be extended by up to 5 years. This assumption is based on 

Medigene’s internal investigations, for which the corresponding regulatory processes have not yet been 

completed.  

If, contrary to expectations, demand falls significantly short of the stockpile in the long term or the shelf life 

cannot be extended, despite all efforts, or the assumptions used to determine the discounted cash flows, 

including the discount rate, deteriorate, this could result in a need to record an impairment loss on the 

inventories.  

(36) Other assets and trade accounts receivable  

OTHER ASSETS AND TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

IN € K 12/31/2018 12/31/2017 CHANGE 

Receivables from license partners (SynCore) (at amortized cost) 1,890 2,727 -31% 

Receivables from license partners (Fougera) (at amortized cost) 311 458 -32% 

Prepaid expenses  734 516 42% 

VAT receivables 573 317 81% 

Security deposit on a lease > 1 year (at amortized cost) 286 286 0% 

Other (at amortized cost) 195 169 15% 

Total other assets 3,989 4,473 -11% 

thereof current  2,703 2,195 23% 

Trade accounts receivable (at amortized cost) 787 1,699 -54% 

thereof contract receivables → note (25) 592 1,676 -65% 

thereof other receivables  195 23 >200% 

 

Trade accounts receivable and financial other assets were neither past due nor impaired as at the reporting 

date. The decrease in trade accounts receivable by the reporting date is due to a delivery of the API at the end 

of 2017. The maturities of trade accounts receivable and financial other assets are as follows: 

AGING ANALYSIS OF TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND FINANCIAL OTHER ASSETS
 IN € K MATURITY 

 UP TO 30 

DAYS 

30-180 

DAYS 

180-360 

DAYS 

1-5 YEARS >5 YEARS TOTAL 

Balance as at 12/31/2018       

Financial other assets 1,195 203 0 998 286 2,682 

Trade accounts receivable 787 0 0 0 0 787 

Total 1,982 203 0 998 286 3,469 

       

Balance as at 12/31/2017       

Financial other assets 1,170 194 0 2,276 0 3,640 

Trade accounts receivable 1,699 0 0 0 0 1,699 

Total 2,869 194 0 2,276 0 5,339 

 

The fair values of trade accounts receivable and trade accounts payable as well as financial other assets 

approximate their carrying amounts because of their short terms to maturity and the measurement methods 

applied. 
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(37) Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND TIME DEPOSITS 
IN € K 12/31/2018 12/31/2017 CHANGE 

Cash and cash equivalents < 3 months 27,408 27,724 -1% 

Time deposits  44,000 24,000 83% 

Total 71,408 51,724 38% 

 

As at December 31, 2018 an amount of €44 m was invested at highly-rated banks in various fixed-interest 

investments with a remaining term to maturity of up to 18 months. These products are presented as long-term 

or short-term time deposits that are classified as financial assets measured at amortized cost pursuant to IFRS 

9. The fair value of cash and cash equivalents and time deposits approximates their carrying amounts largely 

due to the short-terms of these instruments. 

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

(38) Shareholders’ equity  

a) Subscribed capital  

Subscribed capital increased by €2,256,190 from €22,300,947.00 as at December 31, 2017 to €24,557,137.00 as 

at December 31, 2018. This was effected in the reporting period by issuing shares to service stock options 

(26,190 shares) and new shares issued in the course of a cash capital increase excluding the subscription rights 

of shareholders (2,230,000 shares).  

Subscribed capital was divided into 24,557,137 non-par registered shares as at December 31, 2018, which were 

issued and outstanding as at the reporting date. As at the reporting date of December 31, 2018 only 

24,544,595 shares were filed with the commercial register. 12,542 were not registered until January 2019. 

b) Stock options 

Equity instruments such as stock options are valued and reported in accordance with IFRS 2.  

In the fiscal year, stock options were issued to members of the Executive Management Board and employees of 

the Group in accordance with the resolution passed by the Annual General Meeting on May 15, 2018 

(Contingent Capital 2018/I) within the framework of corresponding employee option programs. The options 

have a term of seven years commencing on the date on which they are issued. The Group has no legal or 

constructive obligation to repurchase options or offer a cash settlement. 

The exercise price of the options is fixed on the date of grant and corresponds to the unweighted average 

closing price of the last 30 trading days prior to the date of issue on the XETRA exchange of the Deutsche Börse. 

The holders of the options may exercise their stock options at the earliest after a statutory vesting period of 

four years, starting from the grant date of the relevant subscription right. 

The prerequisite for exercising a stock option is that the weighted average closing price of a share in the 

Company comes to at least 120% of the exercise price (incentive target) over 30 (thirty) successive days of 

trading (monitoring window). Only those monitoring windows are relevant that end on the last day of the 

vesting period or later. If the prerequisite is met upon expiry of the vesting period, it is possible to exercise the 

options at any time regardless of the later development of the share price of the Company.  
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If an employee’s contract of employment is terminated for cause, or if the option holder resigns before the end 

of the relevant waiting period, previously granted stock options are forfeited pro rata without entitlement to 

replacement or compensation if the waiting period has not yet been fulfilled. 

In August and November 2018 a total of 57,500 stock options (2017: 40,000) were issued to members of the 

Executive Management board (of which 20,000 to a former member of the board as a one-off expense) in 

accordance with the resolution of the Annual General Meeting on May 15, 2018 authorizing additional capital 

(Authorized Capital 2018/I). As a result of the grant of a stock option plan, Medigene AG has not waived a 

forfeiture clause regarding these stock options in the event that the holder of subscription rights leaves the 

Company, and has not recognized the stock options immediately as a one-off expense, apart from the 

exception referred to above.  

In November 2018, a further 30,248 stock options (2017: 222,634 stock options) were issued to employees 

from Conditional Capital 2018/I according to the resolution of the Annual General Meeting on May 15, 2018 

(Conditional Capital 2018/I).  

The weighted average exercise price of stock options issued to Executive Management Board members and 

employees in fiscal year 2018 was €10.99 (2017: €12.12). 

TOTAL CHANGE IN STOCK OPTIONS OUTSTANDING
 IN € K 2018 2017 

 AVERAGE 
EXERCISE 

PRICE IN € 

NUMBER AVERAGE 
EXERCISE 

PRICE IN € 

NUMBER 

Stock options outstanding, balance as at 1/1 10.66 725,474 11.14 542,072 

Granted 10.99 87,748 12.12 262,634 

Exercised 4.06 -26,190 5.14 -17,126 

Forfeited 11.58 -9,504 6.97 -3,576 

Expired 16.57 -132,395 23.52 -58,530 

Stock options outstanding, balance as at 12/31  645,133  725,474 

Weighted average exercise price per option (€)  9.75  10.66 

 

The stock options are valued using a binomial model. The following parameters are taken into consideration: 

MEASUREMENT PARAMETERS FOR STOCK OPTIONS 
 2018 2017 

Vesting period 4 years 4 years 

Option term 7 years 10 years 

Exercise threshold 120% 120% 

Expected volatility 55% 64% 

Risk-free interest rate 0.35%/0.37% 0.38% 

 

The expected volatility was determined on a historical basis and is based on the floating 250-day average 

prevailing at the time at which options are issued. The risk-free interest rate corresponds to the yield of a 

hypothetical zero coupon bond excluding any credit default risk. On the issue date of the stock options it was 

0.37% (source: Deutsche Bundesbank). The stock options issued in fiscal year 2018 had an average fair value of 

€6.23 per stock option (2017: €7.19). For 2018, an expense for share-based payments totaling €961 k (2017: 

€104 k) was reported in accordance with IFRS. It breaks down as follows: 
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EXPENSES FOR STOCK OPTIONS 
IN € K 2018 2017 

Expenses for stock options from the year   

2013 0 7 

2014 12 8 

2015 18 17 

2016 50 39 

2017 712 33 

2018 169 0 

Total 961 104 

 

As at December 31, 2018, the stock options outstanding were classified by exercise price, number of options 

issued, remaining term and options that are still convertible as follows:  

STOCK OPTIONS 
STRIKE PRICE 

IN € 

NUMBER OF STOCK OPTIONS 

OUTSTANDING 

REMAINING TERM 

IN YEARS  

NUMBER OF EXERCISABLE STOCK 

OPTIONS1 

14.76 42,669 1 42,669 

7.48 27,997 2 27,997 

4.12 15,415 3 15,415 

4.20 17,037 4 17,037 

3.64 18,206 5 18,206 

4.05 41,125 6 41,125 

5.88 48,487 7 0 

8.46 92,003 8 0 

12.12 254,446 9 0 

10.99 87,748 10 0 

 645,133  162,449 

1) Provided the statutory vesting period has been met. 

 

The weighted average remaining term of stock options outstanding is 7 years. 

c) Authorized capital 

In accordance with a resolution of the Annual General Meeting on May 15, 2018, Medigene has authorized 

capital of €8,920,000.00, which was recorded in the commercial register on May 17, 2018 (Authorized Capital 

2018/I) Through the resolution, the Executive Management Board of Medigene is authorized until May 14, 

2023 – subject to approval of the Supervisory Board – to increase the share capital of Medigene by a total of up 

to €8,920,000.00 on one or more occasions in return for contribution in cash or in kind (Authorized Capital 

2018/I). The Executive Management Board of Medigene is authorized, with the approval of the Supervisory 

Board, to exclude the subscription right of shareholders once or several times, for example when new shares 

are issued against a contribution in kind. 

Furthermore, Medigene has, in accordance with a resolution of the Annual General Meeting on May 15, 2018, 

authorized capital of €2,230,000.00, which was entered into the commercial register on May 17, 2018 

(Authorized Capital 2018/II). Due to the resolution, the Executive Management Board of Medigene is 

authorized until May 14, 2023 – with the approval of the Supervisory Board – to increase the share capital of 

Medigene by a total of up to €2,230,000.00 on one or more occasions in return for a cash contribution 

(Authorized Capital 2018/ II). The Executive Management Board of Medigene is authorized, subject to the 

approval of the Supervisory Board to exclude the subscription rights of existing shareholders once or multiple 

times if the face value of new shares issued is not significantly below the market price for shares of the same 

category and the shares issued during the term of the authorized capital does not exceed 10% of the issued 

capital, applying by analogy Sec. 186 (3) Sentence 4 AktG governing share issues against cash contribution and 
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excluding subscription rights. 

However, the Executive Management Board of Medigene AG has undertaken a voluntary commitment not to 

avail of Authorized Capital 2018/I and the authorization permitted under Art. 5 (4) of the Articles of Association 

or Authorized Capital 2018/II and the authorization permitted under Art. 5 (9) of the Articles of Association to 

the extent that the shares issued under these authorizations to execute a capital increase against cash 

contributions or contributions in kind (excluding the subscription rights of existing shareholders) do not exceed 

20% of the share capital, calculated as the lower of the share capital on the date on which the authorization 

became effective or the date on which it is exercised. When measuring the 20% threshold referred to above 

the calculation should include (i) shares issued during the term of these authorizations on the basis of any 

other authorizations in place on the date on which the above authorizations came into force or are passed by 

resolution of the same Annual General Meeting as the one at which the above authorizations were resolved, 

excluding the subscription rights of existing shareholders and (ii) shares which are to be issued during the term 

of these authorizations to service conversion rights or options whose authorization was already in place on the 

date on which the above authorizations came into force or are passed by resolution of the same Annual 

General Meeting as the one at which the above authorizations were resolved, provided the conversion rights or 

options were issued excluding the subscription rights of existing shareholders.  

Based on the authorization resolved by the Annual General Meeting on May 15, 2018 under item 7 of the 

agenda, the Executive Management Board is authorized to issue, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, 

once or several times up to 2,230,000 new shares and exclude the subscription rights of existing shareholders 

(Authorized Capital 2018/II). When issuing a total of 2,230,000 new shares in fiscal year 2018 the Company 

exercised this authorization as follows: 

On May 24, 2018, the Company announced a capital increase against cash contributions of 2,230,000 new 

shares excluding the subscription rights of existing shareholders. Gross proceeds of €32.2 m were raised 

through a private placement via an accelerated bookbuilding transaction. With the approval of the Supervisory 

Board, the Executive Management Board passed a resolution to increase capital from Authorized Capital 

2018/II, according to which 2,230,000 shares were issued for an issue price of €1.00 per share with the 

resulting premium being recorded to the capital reserve. This corresponds to approximately 10.0% of the 

registered share capital at that time of €22,314,595.00. As a result, Authorized Capital 2018/II was fully utilized 

in the reporting period and Art. 5 (9) of the Articles of Association revoked accordingly. 

Authorized Capital 2018/I amounting to €8,920,000.00 remained available as at December 31, 2018 

(corresponding to roughly 36.3% of issued capital as at 12/31/2018). 

d) Conditional capital and classification of conditional capital  

The Company’s share capital as at December 31, 2018 was increased conditionally by a total of up to 

€11,121,185.00, divided into up to 11,121,185 ordinary shares (approx. 45.3% of the share capital as at 

12/31/2018). The various underlying conditional capital items are summarized in the following table: 

CLASSIFICATION OF CONDITIONAL CAPITAL BY STOCK OPTIONS AND CONVERTIBLE NOTES (BASED ON THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION) 
(NO.)  Number as at 

12/31/2017 in € 
PURPOSE: TO SERVICE 

XVIII 228,034 Options 

XXIII 150,737 Options 

2016/II 347,414 Options 

2018/I 1,475,000 Options 

2018/II 8,920,000 Convertible notes and options 

TOTAL 11,121,185   

 



88 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

A total of 26,190 shares were issued by converting 67,422 stock options in fiscal year 2018 in order to service 

the rights of members of the Executive Management Board and/or employees arising from stock option 

programs. Of these, 11,736 shares (corresponding to 46,944 stock options) stem from Conditional Capital XVIII 

and 14,454 shares (corresponding to 20,478 stock options) from Conditional Capital XXIII. 

Consequently, Conditional Capital XVIII decreased by €11,736.00 in the reporting period from €239,770.00 (as 

at December 31, 2017, entered in the commercial register on September 18, 2017) to €228,034.00 (as at 

December 31, 2018, entered in the commercial register on January 25, 2019).  

Conditional Capital XXIII decreased by €14,454.00 in the reporting period from €165,191.00 (as at December 

31, 2017, entered in the commercial register on May 8, 2017) to €150,737.00 (as at December 31, 2018, 

entered in the commercial register on January 25, 2019). 

However, the Executive Management Board of Medigene AG undertook a voluntary commitment at the Annual 

General Meeting on May 15, 2018 not to make use of Conditional Capital 2018/II and the underlying 2018 

authorization if the shares issued under this 2018 authorization – provided the convertible bonds or options 

were issued excluding the subscription rights of existing shareholders – do not exceed 20% of the share capital, 

calculated as the lower of the share capital on the date on which the authorization became effective or the 

date on which it is exercised. When measuring the 20% threshold referred to above the calculation should 

include shares issued during the term of these authorizations on the basis of any other authorizations in place 

on the date on which the 2018 authorization came into force or were passed by resolution of the same Annual 

General Meeting as the one at which the 2018 authorization was resolved, excluding the subscription rights of 

existing shareholders. 

(39) Pension obligations  

The amount of the pension obligations is determined as follows:  

PENSION OBLIGATIONS 
 12/31/2018 12/31/2017 

Present value of benefit obligation 2,431 2,314 

Fair value of plan assets -2,017 -1,909 

Carrying amount of the obligation 414 405 

 

The plan assets comprise pension liability insurance policies. These assets are not listed and no prices are 

quoted in an active market for these assets. The employer’s contribution expected in 2019 totals €31 k. 

(40) Taxes 

The major income tax components for the 2018 and 2017 fiscal years are as follows:  

INCOME TAXES 

IN € K 2018 2017 (restated) 

Current income taxes   

Current income tax expense (primarily foreign withholding tax on royalties and milestone 
payments) -103 -74 

Deferred taxes 58 -270 

Tax expense reported in the income statement  -45 -344 
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Deferred taxes as at December 31, 2018 related to the following items:  

DEFERRED TAXES
 IN € K 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 
CONSOLIDATED 

INCOME STATEMENT 

 12/31/2018 12/31/2017 

(restated and 

reclassified) 

2018 2017 (restated 

and reclassified) 

Deferred tax assets     

Deferred taxes on unused tax losses 
Germany 68,222 63,347 4,875 4,940 

United States 10,290 9,856 434 -8,427 

Subtotal 78,512 73,203 5,309 -3,487 

thereof unrecognized -73,750 -68,353 -5,397 3,894 

Net 4,762 4,850 -88 407 

     

Property, plant and equipment 45 45 0 -2 

Other taxes from subsidies/relief 1,986 1,897 89 -184 

Other assets 414 449 -35 201 

Subtotal 2,445 2,391 54 15 

thereof unrecognized -2,013 -1,941 -72 207 

Net 432 450 -18 222 

Total deferred tax assets 5,194 5,300 -106 629 

     

Deferred tax liabilities     

Intangible assets 6,985 6,664 321 338 

Other liabilities and accruals 946 1,451 -505 528 

Pension accruals 260 240 20 33 

Total deferred tax liabilities  8,191 8,355 -164 899 

Net deferred tax liabilities 2,997 3,055 58 -270 

Thereof deferred tax (income)/expense   -58 270 

 
The calculation of deferred tax in Germany since January 1, 2017 has been based on a combined tax rate of 
26.68%. This is composed as follows: 15% corporate income tax, 5.5% solidarity surcharge on the corporate 
income tax and 10.85% trade tax.  
 
Country-specific tax rates were applied for the deferred taxes of foreign operations. 
 
The reported tax expenses differ from the expected tax expenses which would have resulted from the 
application of the nominal tax rate to profit or loss under IFRS. A reconciliation of the difference can be seen in 
the following table, in which the tax rate applicable in the respective period was used. 
 
The net increase in unrecognized deferred tax assets shown below does not correspond to the amount of 
unrecognized deferred tax assets on unused tax losses and on temporary differences mentioned above, due to 
the different exchange rates (transaction exchange rate at the date of business transaction, or the average rate 
for the conversion of earnings before tax versus the corresponding closing rate for unrecognized deferred tax 
assets). 
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INCOME TAXES 
IN € K 2018 2017 (restated) 

Earnings before tax -17,004 -15,645 

Expected tax income 4,536 4,173 

Net addition to unrecognized deferred tax assets -4,245 -4,459 

Non-deductible expenses -283 -23 

International tax rate differences 15 4 

Deductible foreign withholding tax -103 -102 

Other 35 63 

Tax expense reported -45 -344 

Effective tax rate (%) -0.26 -2.20 

 

The breakdown of unused tax losses is as follows:  
 
UNUSED TAX LOSSES 
IN € K 12/31/2018 12/31/2017 

(restated) 

Corporate income tax Germany 257,116 238,788 

Trade tax Germany 253,764 235,565 

State tax USA 47,499 45,704 

Federal tax USA 3,566 3,705 

 
In Germany, tax losses may generally be carried forward for an unlimited period of time. The deduction of 
existing loss carryforwards is ruled out in the event of certain changes in the shareholder structure.  
 
The unused tax losses of the US subsidiary Medigene, Inc. will expire between 2020 and 2028. In the USA, 
unused tax losses based on federal tax may be utilized for 20 years, whereas those based on state tax expire 
after between 5 and 20 years, unless an extension is granted.  

 

(41) Trade accounts payable and other liabilities 

TRADE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
IN € K 12/31/2018 12/31/2017 

(restated) 

CHANGE 

Bonus payments due 1,164 1,097 6% 

Outstanding invoices for production and clinical studies 503 955 -47% 

Non-current portion of bonus for the Executive Management Board 422 442 -5% 

Other  1,637 1,095 49% 

Total other liabilities 3,726 3,589 4% 

thereof current  3,304 3,145 5% 

Trade accounts payable  1,358 725 87% 

 

The fair values of other financial liabilities and trade accounts payable as well as financial other assets 

approximate their carrying amounts because of their short terms to maturity and the measurement methods 

applied. 

(42) Contingent liabilities 

No accruals were recognized for the contingent liabilities listed below, as the risk of claims being made is 

deemed unlikely.  

In 2004, Medigene concluded an agreement with the insolvency administrator of Munich Biotech AG, Neuried, 

Germany (“MBT”), under which payments by Medigene to the insolvency administrator were agreed in the 
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event of certain milestones being achieved, including a milestone payment upon commencement of a clinical 

phase III trial for EndoTAG-1. In connection with signing the original license agreement with SynCore in July 

2012, the Company came to an agreement with the insolvency administrator, which provides for Medigene not 

making any further milestone payments and only having to transfer a low percentage of the income achieved 

once a certain developed stage is reached by EndoTAG. According to the agreement, the amount is limited to 

a total of €11 m and is payable in installments. Management does not believe that accruals need to be 

recognized for this since the relevant payments will not become due until specific events occur or the 

associated income has been received. As at the reporting date, it was not likely that this triggering event and 

the associated income would be reached. These comments apply equally after the sale of EndoTAG to the 

original license partner, SynCore, in December 2015. 

Expenses of €1,032 k (2017: €1,165 k) were incurred for operating leases in the reporting period. 

The future annual rent and lease payments for operating leases are as follows: 

IN € K RENT AND LEASE PAYMENTS 

2019 962 

2020 885 

2021 832 

2022 823 

2023 et seq. 3,211 

Minimum lease obligations 6,713 

 

The Company leases office and laboratory facilities, office furnishings, laboratory equipment and vehicles. 

These constitute operating leases, as the contractual agreement does not transfer any risks or rewards to the 

Group. The conditions, rental increase clauses and renewal options of the lease agreements vary. The Group 

can terminate these lease agreements upon notice of one month to eight years, depending on the contract. 

Medigene will apply the new standard on leases, IFRS 16, to all fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 

2019 → note (3). 

(43) Related parties 

The parties deemed to be related are entities and individuals who can be significantly influenced by the 

Company or can exert significant influence on the Company. Related parties are the Company’s Executive 

Management Board and Supervisory Board as well as Aettis, Inc. and the partner company SynCore. 

As at December 31, 2018 and 2017 as well as at January 1, 2017, Medigene held 38.21% of the shares in Aettis, 

Inc., Bala Cynwyd, PA, USA, but is no longer represented on its Board of Directors. No transactions were 

conducted with Aettis, Inc. in fiscal year 2018.  

The remuneration and shareholdings of the Company’s Executive Management Board and Supervisory Board 

members are itemized for each member of these boards under → F) “Executive Management Board and 

Supervisory Board” notes (48) and (49).  

(44) Objectives and methods of financial risk management 

The main financial liabilities are trade accounts payable, other financial liabilities and finance lease liabilities. 

The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance the Group’s operations. The Group has various 

financial assets, trade accounts receivable as well as cash and cash equivalents and time deposits. 

Through its business activities, the Group is exposed to various financial risks: among others, market risks, 
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credit risks and liquidity risks.  

Below is a description of the financial risk factors and the associated financial risk management of the Group. 

Management does not consider the financial risks to the following items to be significant. 

Market risks 

Interest rate risk  

Fluctuations in market interest rates impact the cash flows relating to variable interest-bearing financial assets 

and liabilities or their fair values. Medigene’s management has deliberately decided not to carry out 

transactions aimed at hedging interest-based cash flows because short-term availability for financing 

operations is a priority when investing cash. As at December 31, 2018 the Group held no other significant 

variable interest-bearing financial instruments and is therefore not exposed to any interest rate risks. 

Foreign currency risk  

Foreign currency risks arise when future business transactions and financial assets and liabilities reported in the 

balance sheet are denominated in a currency other than the Company’s functional currency. The Group 

operates internationally and is therefore exposed to foreign currency risks based on exchange rate fluctuations 

between the US dollar, pound sterling and euro.  

The shares in Immunocare Ltd. are denominated in pound sterling. As a result of applying IFRS 9 as at January 

1, 2018, and the decisions taken regarding the classification and accounting treatment (→ note (3), future 

remeasurement gains and losses, including translation effects, will not be reclassified to profit or loss in 

subsequent periods, thus eliminating currency risks associated with the pound sterling in fiscal year 2018 and 

the following years. 

The foreign exchange exposure to revenues denominated in US$ generated from sales of Veregen® and the 

costs associated with the sale of this product, in the form of royalties to the licensor, is no longer material on 

account of the sale of the US rights in fiscal year 2017 and termination of the contract for the production and 

supply of the API of Veregen®. 

Securities-related market risk   

The Group is exposed to the usual market fluctuations relating to listed securities for funding pension 

obligations → note (39), the effect of which is not considered to be significant.  

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer 

contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily 

for trade accounts receivable) and from its investing activities (deposits at banks and financial other assets). For 

this reason we do not anticipate a significant need to record impairments of trade accounts receivable or other 

financial assets → note (10). 

There are no significant risk concentrations in terms of potential credit risks within the Group apart from cash 

and cash equivalents and time deposits at Deutsche Bank AG of €67 m. Of this amount cash of €23 m is only 

subject to an immaterial risk of a fluctuation in its value due to the fact that it can be called at short notice. An 

additional €44 m can be terminated upon notice of 3 months. There is one major customer: bluebird bio. The 

creditworthiness of the customers is monitored on the basis of regular interviews and publicly available 

management reports and consolidated financial statements.  

With regard to the Group’s financial assets, the maximum credit risk in the event of default by the counterparty 
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is the carrying amount of these instruments → note (36) and → note (37). 

Liquidity risk 

Since Medigene AG was founded in 1994, the Company has reported operating losses in almost every fiscal 

year, as expenses for research and development in most years exceeded the corresponding revenue or gross 

profit. The future achievement of profitability depends on progress in terms of operations as well as the 

Company’s strategic decisions and is not yet secured.  

Medigene finances its current research and development projects to a high degree through equity capital. The 

ability to obtain financing from investors through capital measures at any given time depends on the overall 

development of the capital market as well as on the Company’s operational progress and Medigene’s ability to 

present itself as an attractive investment target for investors. To this end, Medigene regularly attends investor 

events and seeks intensive dialogue with investors in face-to-face meetings, among other means. Capital 

market phases in which a positive underlying sentiment encourages the possibility of refinancing are 

consistently exploited by the Company to continuously improve the liquidity of the Company. This should make 

it possible to bridge difficult market times without having to suspend promising development projects. A 

prerequisite for successful capital measures is a positive development of the share price, the value of which 

depends on progress or possible setbacks in the Company’s development as well as on developments in the 

industry and capital markets. Medigene may not always have access to sufficient funds under acceptable terms 

and conditions at its disposal when required. Should this be the case, Medigene may need to reduce its 

spending on research and development, production or administration.  

Medigene currently has a solid liquidity base as a result of the successful capital increase against cash 

contributions conducted in 2017 and 2018, among other things. The Executive Management Board currently 

believes that funds necessary for Company financing can be raised in due time. Possible sources of such funds 

may be additional partner arrangements with biotech/pharmaceutical companies or capital measures.  

As at December 31, 2018, the Group’s financial liabilities had the terms to maturity as shown below. Data is 

based on the undiscounted contractual payments. 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
 IN € K MATURITY 

 UP TO 30  

DAYS 

30-90  

DAYS 

3-12 

MONTHS 

1-5  

YEARS 

>5  

YEARS 

 

TOTAL 

Balance as at 12/31/2018       

Finance lease liabilities 42 435 257 904 0 1,638 

Trade accounts payable  1,358 0 0 0 0 1,358 

Other financial liabilities 882 1,590 701 501 0 3,674 

Total 2,282 2,025 958 1,405 0 6,670 

As at 12/31/2017 (restated)       

Finance lease liabilities 33 401 298 1,158 0 1,890 

Trade accounts payable  725 0 0 0 0 725 

Other financial liabilities 592 1,702 850 456 0 3,600 

Total 1,350 2,103 1,148 1,614 0 6,215 
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Capital management  

A primary objective of Medigene’s management is to secure sufficient liquidity to finance ongoing research and 

development programs. Since Medigene finances its current research and development projects to a high 

degree with equity capital, it pays special attention to the developments of the capital market. The ability to 

obtain funding from investors through capital adjustments in due course depends not only on Medigene’s 

ability to present itself as an attractive investment target but also on the overall development of the capital 

market.  

Medigene’s management measures the Company’s success in particular by the progress of development 

projects as a prerequisite for their validation and commercialization, as well as the securing of financing. On the 

financial side, Medigene’s corporate goals 2018 are reflected in particular in the key figures for total revenue, 

research and development costs, EBIDTA result and total cash burn. High expenditure on the development of 

Medigene’s immunotherapies and associated medium-term losses are considered necessary for positioning 

itself as a leading company in the cellular immunotherapy sector in a highly-competitive and fast-developing 

environment. 

Please refer to the Group management’s discussion for an analysis of the most significant financial and non-

financial indicators as well as the calculation of the EBITDA result and the total cash burn.  

E. SEGMENT REPORTING 

(45) Disclosures on reportable segments 

The Group comprises two main business units, “Immunotherapies” (core business) and “Other products” (non-

core business). The segments break down as follows: 

Immunotherapies (core business) 

→ T cell receptor-based adoptive T cell therapy (TCRs)  

→ DC vaccines (DCs) 

→ T cell-specific monoclonal antibodies (TABs)  

Other products (non-core business) 

→ Veregen for the treatment of genital warts (business with sales partners) 

→ RhuDex for the treatment of autoimmune diseases, product outlicensed to Falk Pharma  

The revenue of the individual segments is generated in external business relationships.  

The general administrative expenses are allocated to the individual segments using specific allocation keys 

which reflect current business activities. 
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IN € K IMMUNO- 

THERAPIES 

OTHER 

PRODUCTS 

(NON-CORE 

BUSINESS) 

TOTAL 

BUSINESS 

SEGMENTS 

REONCILIATION
1) 

TOTAL 

2018      

Revenue  5,980 1,596 7,576 0 7,576 

Other operating income 5 155 160 18 178 

Total revenue  5,985 1,751 7,736 18 7,754 

      

Segment operating result -16,950 -884 -17,834 9 -17,825 

      

Other notes:      

Depreciation and amortization  -1,297 -41 -1,338 -234 -1,572 

Segment investments2) -961 0 -961 -484 -1,445 

Headcount at the end of the year (without 
Executive Management Board) 81 4 85 33 118 

      

2017 (restated)      

Revenue  4,886 2,790 7,676 0 7,676 

Other operating income 0 1,158 1,158 48 1,206 

Total revenue  4,886 3,948 8,834 48 8,882 

      

Segment operating result -14,542 -1,388 -15,930 48 -15,882 

      

Other notes:      

Depreciation and amortization  -988 -67 -1,055 -212 -1,267 

Segment investments2) -2,100 -1,241 -3,341 -130 -3,471 

Headcount at the end of the year (without 
Executive Management Board) 65 5 70 26 96 
1) “Reconciliation” includes information that cannot be allocated to any of the segments in the internal reporting, as it does not constitute any activity. 

2) Segment investments relate to additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. 
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F. OTHER DISCLOSURES 

(46) German Corporate Governance Code 

Medigene AG’s Executive Management Board and Supervisory Board confirmed in their declaration of 

conformity pursuant to Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) of November 27, 2018 that 

Medigene AG complies with the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code in the 

corresponding current version since the date of issue of the declaration of conformity dated November 28, 

2017, with the exceptions mentioned and explained, and that the declaration of conformity for the period from 

November 27, 2018 complies and will comply with the recommendations of the Code in the version dated 

February 7, 2017 with the exceptions mentioned. The recommendations of the Code which Medigene AG does 

not implement are explained and justified in the declaration of conformity. This declaration is available in 

English and German on the Medigene AG website at http://www.medigene.de/investoren-medien/corporate-

governance/entsprechenserklaerung/.  

The declarations of conformity of Medigene AG are available on the website of the Company for at least five 

years. 

(47) Audit fees 

The auditors of the Company and the Group received the following fees for the past fiscal year: 

AUDIT FEES 
IN € K 2018 2017 

 

Audit services 156 144 

Other assurance services 152 40 

Other services  22 16 

Total 330 200 

 

For the purpose of this presentation, the audit services are defined in accordance with Article 2 of Directive 

2006/43/EC of the European Parliament and Council of May 17, 2006 in conjunction with Directive (EU) Nr. 

537/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of April 16, 2014 (EU Audit Regulation). Other 

assurance services and other services comprise the non-audit services permitted as defined by the EU Audit 

Regulation and related in fiscal year 2018 to the limited review of interim financial reports, services in 

connection with enforcement proceedings and discount rate estimates, the German-English translation and 

other cost allocations. In accordance with Secs. 285 No. 17, 314 (1) No. 9 HGB, other assurance services 

rendered in fiscal year 2018 are to be allocated to the audit services. 

G. EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT BOARD AND SUPERVISORY 
BOARD 

(48) Executive Management Board 

Total remuneration comprises fixed and variable components as well as other benefits, as described below: 

a) Fixed remuneration 

Each member of the Executive Management Board receives fixed remuneration, which is not performance-

related and is paid in monthly installments. The amount of the fixed remuneration is determined on the basis 

of the principles described above.  

http://www.medigene.de/investoren-medien/corporate-governance/entsprechenserklaerung/
http://www.medigene.de/investoren-medien/corporate-governance/entsprechenserklaerung/
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b) Variable remuneration 

1) Annual performance-related remuneration  

In addition to fixed remuneration, Executive Management Board members are entitled to variable 

remuneration, which is dependent on the achievement of several performance targets specified by the 

Supervisory Board in advance. The annual performance-related remuneration currently amounts to 50% of 

fixed remuneration in the event of 100% target achievement and may be a maximum of 75% of fixed 

remuneration. 

(1) Setting of performance targets 

The Supervisory Board sets annual performance targets, both comprehensively for all Executive Management 

Board members and, in addition, separately for each member of the Executive Management Board where 

necessary. The targets are weighted by the Supervisory Board. 

(2) Establishing the amount of annual performance-related remuneration 

The contract with the CEO, Prof. Dolores Schendel allows for three possible target achievement scenarios: low 

case, base case and best case.  

→ The low case scenario corresponds to 50% target achievement, the base case to 100% and the best case to 

150%. 

→ In the event that target achievement is below the low case threshold, no variable remuneration is paid. If 

target achievement is in the range between the low case and base case and the base case and best case, 

variable remuneration increases on a straight-line basis according to target achievement. Target 

achievement which surpasses the best case is not reflected in terms of higher remuneration. To this 

extent, variable remuneration is capped.  

→ The amount of the annual performance-related remuneration is calculated on the basis of target 

achievement in relation to the specific targets, taking into account the weighting of the relevant target. 

The contract with Dr. Kai Pinkernell does not allow for any of the scenarios described above with regard to his 

performance-related remuneration. His performance-related remuneration is calculated arithmetically by 

weighting the targets accordingly, with full attainment of the agreed targets equating to 100%. However, the 

Supervisory Board may add an additional 50% upon attaining 100% of the short-term targets, particularly for 

work which could not be formulated in quantifiable targets at the beginning of the year but has significantly 

and demonstrably contributed to the success of the Company. To this extent, variable remuneration is capped. 

(3) Short-term and long-term components of annual performance-related remuneration 

→ In the case of Prof. Dolores Schendel, 65% of the performance-related annual remuneration is paid after 

the financial statements of the Company have been adopted for the relevant fiscal year. In the case of Dr. 

Kai Pinkernell, 50% of the performance-related remuneration is paid out. Payment of the remaining 35% 

(Prof. Schendel) and 50% (Dr. Pinkernell) of the annual performance-related remuneration granted in a 

specific fiscal year is deferred for a period of three years beginning from the moment that notice that the 

targets have been achieved is given, which occurs no later than March 31 of the following year.  

→ At the end of this three-year period, the Supervisory Board decides whether and to what extent sustained 

corporate growth can be affirmed. Based on this decision, the Supervisory Board resolves whether and to 

what extent the remaining 35% (Prof. Schendel) and 50% (Dr. Pinkernell) of the relevant annual 

performance-based remuneration will be paid out to the respective Executive Management Board 

member with appropriate interest. 
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→ The Supervisory Board’s decision regarding sustained corporate growth is primarily based on the long-term 

trend in business value and, therefore, also the share price of the Company’s shares, among other things. 

The members of the Executive Management Board thus participate in the Company’s long-term growth on 

the basis of this remuneration component, and they also share any negative developments. 

2) Stock options 

→ In addition, stock options are granted to Executive Management Board members on the basis of the 

respective Company’s stock option program in force on the date of issue. Stock options represent another 

long-term remuneration component. They are aimed at providing a performance incentive which is geared 

to sustainable long-term corporate growth based on the positive development of the share price of the 

Company’s shares.  

→ Stock options are issued to each Executive Management Board member in accordance with the 

contractually agreed number per year (currently a maximum of 20,000 stock options) either in one tranche 

or in several tranches. The maximum number of options that can be issued to Dr. Kai Pinkernell in any one 

year is set at 20,000 based on the attainment of short-term targets in the prior calendar year. 

Furthermore, the Supervisory Board of the Company can issue individual members of the Executive 

Management Board up to 20,000 extra stock options per annum as a special reward for personal 

performance. 

→ The exercise price corresponds to the average closing price of the last 30 trading days prior to the issue of 

the stock options (grant date).  

→ Executive Management Board members may exercise their stock options at the earliest after a vesting 

period of four years, starting from the grant date of the relevant subscription right. Moreover, they may 

only be exercised if the average share price over the 30 trading days prior to the respective exercise date is 

at least 120% of the exercise price (performance target). Only those monitoring windows are relevant that 

end on the last day of the vesting period or later. The options have a contractual term of ten years or, in 

the case of options granted from the year 2018 onwards, seven years from the grant date. 

c) Fringe benefits 

In addition to the above-mentioned remuneration components, members of the Executive Management Board 

are granted additional fringe benefits, in particular 

→ Payment of a fixed amount to be contributed to a pension fund  

→ A company car or alternatively, an increase in the contribution to the pension plan 

→ Reimbursement of costs in connection with dual households 

→ Copayment of existing health insurance, not exceeding the employer’s share of statutory health insurance 

contributions 

→ Reimbursement of business travel expenses 

→ Accident insurance coverage and payment of the relevant insurance premiums 

→ Inclusion in the D&O insurance in place with a deductible according to the statutory minimum amount 

The proportional structure of annual performance-related remuneration with a cumulative three-year 

sustainability component and the terms of stock options with a four-year vesting period prior to exercising the 

stock options create a significant incentive to achieve sustained corporate growth, ensuring a balanced mix of 

short-term and long-term remuneration components. 
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d) Severance payments upon termination due to a change of control 

In the event of a change in control, the service agreements made with the members of the Executive 

Management Board contain certain criteria for special termination by either the Company or the respective 

member (see (e) below). A change of control in the sense of the service agreements is when at least 30% of the 

shares in the Company equipped with voting rights are acquired directly or indirectly by a third party. If a 

service agreement with a member of the Executive Management Board is terminated due to a change of 

control and exercise of the right to special termination, the respective member has a right to a severance 

payment. This may not exceed a sum that is threefold the agreed annual gross remuneration as at the date on 

which the service contract terminates. In the case of Prof. Schendel, the severance payment includes an 

additional sum that is 1.5 times the remuneration provided for until the regular end of her service agreement 

and an individual upper limit has been agreed on. 

e) Special termination rights in the event of a change in control 

The service agreements for Executive Management Board members Prof. Dolores Schendel and Dr. Kai 

Pinkernell and for Dr. Thomas Taapken, who left the Company effective August 31, 2018, include special 

termination rights for both the Company and the Executive Management Board members in the event of a 

change in control.  

Details on the separate service agreement made with Dr. Thomas Taapken are not presented below as he left 

the Executive Management Board on August 31, 2018 and no change of control took place during his 

appointment. 

In the event of a change of control, the Company has a special termination right for a period of one year in the 

case of Prof. Schendel and three months in the case of Dr. Kai Pinkernell, commencing on the date of the 

change in control. The service agreement with Prof. Dolores Schendel, commencing on May 1, 2019, covering 

the term from 2019 to 2022 also provides the Company with a right to terminate the agreement upon notice of 

three months. 

Prof. Schendel has a special termination right based on a triggering event for a period of one year after the 

date of the change in control if this change results in an unacceptable change in the previous duties and 

responsibilities of the relevant Executive Management Board member (budget, number of employees 

supervised and their role on the Board), or if the Company informs him/her that his/her appointment as 

Executive Management Board member will not be renewed and denial of such renewal is for a cause for which 

he/she bears responsibility justifying extraordinary termination of the relevant Executive Management Board 

member’s service agreement. The service agreement with Prof. Dolores Schendel, commencing on May 1, 

2019, covering the term from 2019 to 2022 provides Prof. Schendel with a right to terminate the agreement 

upon notice of three months. 

Dr. Kai Pinkernell has a special termination right for a period of three months following the date of the change 

in control in each case.  

→ If a service agreement with a member of the Executive Management Board is terminated due to the 

exercise of the right to special termination presented above, the respective member is entitled to: 

 Payment of a severance payment equal to the gross remuneration (fixed component) until the regular 

end of the service agreement 

 a pro rata temporis gross bonus (excluding stock options) until the end of the regular term of the 

service agreement and 

 a severance payment of 2.5 times the annual remuneration (fixed component and performance-

related remuneration, excluding stock options). 
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→ Severance cap: In this context, the severance payment may exceed neither: 

 three times the sum of the annual remuneration and average annual bonus agreed at the time of the 

termination of the service agreement, nor 

 one and a half times the remuneration agreed on in the service agreement for the residual term of the 

agreement, nor 

 a cap of €450,000 in the case of Prof. Dolores Schendel 

 in the case of Dr. Kai Pinkernell and in the service agreement with Prof. Dolores Schendel commencing 

on May 1, 2019 for the term from 2019 to 2022, a cap of three times the sum of the annual 

remuneration agreed on effective on the date of termination (fixed and variable remuneration)  

→ In the event that a member of the Executive Management Board exercises the special right to termination, 

they are entitled to: 

 a severance payment equivalent to three times the gross monthly sum for every completed year of 

membership on the Company’s Executive Management Board. The gross monthly amount comprises 

one twelfth of the current gross remuneration at the time of termination and one twelfth of the 

average annual bonus, 

 In the case of Prof. Dolores Schendel, at least six months’ gross salary and in the case of Dr. Kai 

Pinkernell and also under the terms of the new service agreement with Prof. Dolores Schendel, 

commencing on May 1, 2019 for the period from 2019 to 2022 at least twelve months’ gross salary 

(lower limit). 

→ Severance cap: The severance payment may not exceed: 

 the sum of 36 gross monthly salaries 

(upper limit) 

In the case of Prof. Dolores Schendel there is, under the terms of the service agreement in place until April 30, 

2019, an additional severance cap of 1.5 times the remuneration outstanding for the remaining term of her 

service agreement. 
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f) Summary of severance payments for members of the Executive Management Board due to the exercise 

of a special right of termination (change of control)  

 

SUMMARY OF SEVERANCE PAYMENTS DUE TO THE EXERCISE OF A SPECIAL RIGHT OF TERMINATION 
EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT BOARD TERMINATED BY: RIGHT TO A SEVERANCE PAYMENT OF CAPS 

(SMALLEST CAP APPLIES) 

Prof. Dolores Schendel, 
CEO (based on the terms of 
the service agreement expiring 
on April 30, 2019) 
 

Company 1. Gross remuneration (fixed component) 
until the regular end of the agreement 

2. Pro rata share of bonus (excluding stock 
options) until the regular end of the 
agreement, and 

3. 2.5 times the annual remuneration 
(excluding stock options) 

3.0 times the annual remuneration 
(fixed remuneration plus bonus) or 

1.5 times the remuneration over the 
remaining term of the agreement, not 
to 

exceed €450,000 (cap) 

 Executive 
Management 
Board 
 

1. 3.0 times the annual remuneration (fixed 
remuneration plus bonus) for each full 
year of service, but  

2. at least 6 gross monthly amounts (lower 
limit) 

36 gross monthly salaries (fixed 
remuneration and bonus) or  

1.5 times the remuneration over the 
remaining term of the agreement 

Dr. Kai Pinkernell 
(since April 1, 2018) 
 

Company 1. Gross remuneration (fixed component) 
until the regular end of the agreement 

2. Pro rata share of bonus (excluding stock 
options) until the regular end of the 
agreement, and 

3. 2.5 times the annual remuneration 
(excluding stock options) 

3.0 times the annual remuneration 
(fixed remuneration plus bonus) 

 Executive 
Management 
Board  

1. 3.0 times the annual remuneration (fixed 
remuneration plus bonus) for each full 
year of service, but  

2. At least 12 gross monthly amounts (lower 
limit) 

36 gross monthly salaries (fixed 
remuneration and bonus) 

The following table presents the benefits contained in the remuneration of the members of the Executive 

Management Board, which amounted to €1,689 kin 2018 (2017: €1,767 k). 

REMUNERATION OF THE EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT BOARD – BENEFITS GRANTED 
IN € K PROF. DOLORES J. 

SCHENDEL 

DR. KAI 

PINKERNELL 

DR. THOMAS 

TAAPKEN 

 

 

 
CEO 

MEMBER OF THE 

EXECUTIVE 

MANAGEMENT BOARD 

MEMBER OF THE 

EXECUTIVE 

MANAGEMENT BOARD 

FORMER MEMBERS OF 

THE EXECUTIVE 

MANAGEMENT BOARD 

 
SINCE 2/1/2016 

(MEMBER OF THE BOARD 

SINCE 5/1/2014) 

SINCE 4/1/2018 
SINCE 1/1/2017 

UNTIL 8/31/2018 
 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 

Fixed remuneration 334 334 225 n.a. 264 264 0 404 

Fringe benefit1) 0 0 24 n.a. 62 64 0 0 

Total 334 334 249 n.a. 326 328 0 404 

Variable performance-based components2) 120 141 90 n.a. 194 124 0 149 

Total 454 475 339 n.a. 520 452 0 553 

Variable components in the form of stock 
options         

Number of stock options in the year 20,000 20,000 17,500 n.a. 20,000 20,000 0 0 

Fair value 114 144 100 n.a. 162 144 0 0 

Total 568 619 439 n.a. 682 596 0 553 
1) Fringe benefits include dual household expenses amounting to €35 k (2017: €36 k), pension fund contributions of €42 k (2017: €24 k) and vehicle leasing amounting to €9 k (2017: €4 

k) for the members of the Executive Management Board. 

2) Including an annual bonus on the basis of the accruals for 2017/2018 (without discounting) and a 100% payout based upon an estimated target achievement of 80% in 2018 and 

93.75% in 2017.  

  



102 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

The following table presents the remuneration paid to the members of the Executive Management Board, 

which amounted to €1,356 k in the 2018 fiscal year (2017: €1,446 k). 

REMUNERATION OF THE EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT BOARD - PAYMENTS MADE 
IN € K PROF. DOLORES J. 

SCHENDEL 

KAI PINKERNELL DR. THOMAS TAAPKEN  

 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

OFFICER 

MEMBER OF THE EXECUTIVE 

MANAGEMENT BOARD 

MEMBER OF THE EXECUTIVE 

MANAGEMENT BOARD 

FORMER MEMBERS OF THE 

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT 

BOARD 

 SINCE 2/1/2016 

(MEMBER OF THE 

BOARD SINCE 5/1/2014) 

SINCE 4/1/2018 
SINCE 1/1/2017 

UNTIL 8/31/2018 
 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 

Fixed remuneration 334 334 225 n.a. 264 264 0 404 

Fringe benefits3) 0 0 24 n.a. 62 64 0 0 

Total 334 334 249 n.a. 326 328 0 404 

Variable performance-based components         

thereof for 2018 0 0 0 n.a. 44 0 0 0 

thereof for 20174) 91 0 0 n.a. 80 0 94 0 

thereof for 20164) 0 113 0 n.a. 0 0 0 146 

thereof for 20145) 31 0 0 n.a. 0 0 107 0 

thereof for 20135) 0 0 0 n.a. 0 0 0 121 

Total 122 113 0 n.a. 124 0 201 267 

Total remuneration paid out 456 447 249 n.a. 4506) 328 201 671 
3) Fringe benefits include dual household expenses, pension expenses and vehicle leases for the members of the Executive Management Board. 

4) Corresponds to 65% of the variable components of the respective previous year 

5) Corresponds to 35% of the variable components in 2014/2013 plus interest 

6) Due to the exit effective August 31, 2018 the salary components payable until the original appointment to the Executive Management Board on December 31, 2018 were already 

considered in the fixed remuneration on August 31, 2018.  

 

The members of the Executive Management Board additionally hold positions on the following 

supervisory boards and/or similar bodies: 

 
Prof. Dr. Dolores Schendel 

Positions on other supervisory boards/advisory boards in Germany: none 

Positions on other supervisory boards/advisory boards in other countries: none 

 

Dr. Kai Pinkernell (from April 1, 2018) 

Positions on other supervisory boards/advisory boards in Germany: none 

Positions on other supervisory boards/advisory boards in other countries: none 

 

Dr. Thomas Taapken (until August 31, 2018) 

Positions on other supervisory boards/advisory boards in Germany: 

→ Immunic AG, Planegg/Martinsried  

Positions outside Germany: 

→ SciBase AB, Stockholm, Sweden 

(49) Supervisory Board 

Supervisory Board remuneration 

Supervisory Board remuneration amounted to €197 k in 2018 (2017: €165 k). The total remuneration paid to 

the members of the Supervisory Board comprised fixed remuneration as well as attendance fees. In addition, 

expenses were reimbursed. The greater scope of activities of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board and his 
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deputy are taken into account and accordingly reflected by higher remuneration. Details regarding the 

subscription rights of members of the Supervisory Board and Executive Management Board are provided in → 

note (50). No advances were paid to members of the Supervisory Board and Executive Management Board.  

SUPERVISORY BOARD REMUNERATION 2018 
SUPERVISORY BOARD MEMBERS FIXED REMUNERATION  

IN € K 

MEETING FEES IN 

€ K 

Prof. Horst Domdey, Chairman, co-founder  32 11 

Antoinette Hiebeler-Hasner  24 11 

Dr. Frank Mathias (from May 15, 2018) 8 10 

Dr. Gerd Zettlmeissl 16 10 

Dr. Keith Manchester 16 7 

Dr. Yita Lee, Member  16 9 

Ronald Scott  16 11 

 128 69 

 

Supervisory Board members of Medigene AG: 

The Supervisory Board of the Company had seven members as at December 31, 2018. On May 15, 2018, the 

Annual General Meeting appointed an additional member to the Supervisory Board for the remaining term of 

the full board expiring in 2019, namely, Dr. Frank Mathias, in addition to Prof. Horst Domdey (Chairman of the 

Supervisory Board), Ms. Antoinette Hiebeler-Hasner (Deputy Chair of the Supervisory Board), Dr. Yita Lee, Dr. 

Keith Manchester, Dr. Gerd Zettlmeissl and Mr. Ronald Scott 

Prof. Horst Domdey  

Managing director of BioM Biotech Cluster Management GmbH 

Liquidator of BioM AG Munich Biotech Development i.L., Munich  

Positions on other supervisory boards/advisory boards in Germany: none 

Positions on boards in other countries: none 

Antoinette Hiebeler-Hasner  

Managing director of Vistra GmbH & Co. KG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Cologne 

Positions on other supervisory boards/advisory boards in Germany: 
→ Grob Aircraft SE, Tussenhausen-Mattsies (Chairman) 

→ Ventuz Technology AG, Grünwald (Chairman) 

Positions on boards in other countries: none 

Dr. Yita Lee 

Chief Scientific Officer of the Sinphar group, Taiwan 

Positions on other supervisory boards/advisory boards in Germany: none 
Positions outside Germany: 
→ Sinphar Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Yilan, Taiwan 

→ SynCore Biotechnology Co., Ltd., Yilan, Taiwan 

→ ZuniMed Biotech Co., Ltd., Yilan, Taiwan 

→ CanCap Pharmaceutical Ltd., Richmond, Canada 

Dr. Gerd Zettlmeissl 

Self-employed consultant immunoprophylaxis and immunotherapies 

Positions on other supervisory boards/advisory boards in Germany: none 

Positions outside Germany: 
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→ ASIT biotech, Brussels, Belgium (a listed company), Chairman (until December 17, 2018) 

→ MSD Wellcome Trust Hilleman Laboratories, New Delhi, India (Non-Profit), Chairman  

→ Themis Bioscience GmbH, Vienna, Austria, Chairman  

→ Aeras, Rockville, MD, USA (non-profit) (until November 15, 2018) 

Ronald Scott 

Positions on other supervisory boards/advisory boards in Germany: none 

Positions outside Germany: 

→ KIDpharma AG, Root, Switzerland 

→ Basilea Pharmaceutical International Ltd., Basel, Switzerland (a listed company) 

Dr. Keith Manchester 

Managing partner and Head of Life Sciences of QVT Financial LP, New York, NY, USA 

Positions on other supervisory boards/advisory boards in Germany: none 

Positions outside Germany: 

→ Arbutus Biopharma Corporation, Canada (listed) 

→ Roivant Sciences, Inc., Delaware, USA and Roivant Sciences Ltd., Bermuda 

Dr. Frank Mathias 

Chairman of Rentschler SE, Laupheim 

Positions on other supervisory boards/advisory boards in Germany: 

→ Mediatum AG, Heidelberg (Chairman) 

→ Leukocare AG, Martinsried 

→ August Faller GmbH & Co. KG, Waldkirch (Chairman) 

→ leon-Nanodrug GmbH, Munich 

Positions on boards in other countries: none 

(50) Directors’ holdings and notes on subscription rights 

DIRECTORS’ HOLDINGS AND NOTES ON SUBSCRIPTION RIGHTS 
 NUMBER OF SHARES/OPTIONS

 
SHARES OPTIONS 

 12/31/2018 12/31/2017 12/31/2018 12/31/2017 

Prof. Horst Domdey  39,125 39,125 0 0 

Yita Lee, Ph.D.  0 0 0 0 

Antoinette Hiebeler-Hasner 0 0 0 0 

Dr. Gerd Zettlmeissl 0 0 0 0 

Dr. Keith Manchester1) 0 0 0 0 

Ronald Scott 0 0 0 0 

Dr. Frank Mathias (from 5/15/2018) 20,197 n.a. 46,0892) 0 

Total Supervisory Board 59,322 39,125 46,089 0 

Prof. Dolores J. Schendel, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Scientific 
Officer 3) 

846,296 929,268 72,500 52,500 

Dr. Kai Pinkernell, Chief Medical Officer and Chief Development 
Officer (since 4/1/2018) 

0 n.a. 50,938 n.a. 

Dr. Thomas Taapken, CFO (until 8/31/2018) n.a. 6,000 n.a. 20,000 

Total Executive Management Board 846,296 935,268 123,438 72,500 
1)Dr. Manchester is a partner and Head of Life Sciences QVT Financial LP New York, USA. According to the latest voting rights announcement dated 6/8/2018, the funds managed by QVT hold 1,072,879 shares in Medigene AG. 

2)The stated number of options corresponds to 124,839 options prior to a capital reduction in 2013. 

3)Prof. Schendel indirectly holds 846,296 Medigene shares in her capacity as Managing Director of DJSMontana Holding GmbH, which can be allocated to Prof. Schendel directly. 
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EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT BOARD 

Planegg/Martinsried, March 26, 2019 

Medigene AG 

 

 

 

 

 

Prof. Dolores J. Schendel 

Chief Executive Officer (CEO/CSO) 

 

 

 

 

 

Dr. Kai Pinkernell 

Member of the Executive Management Board (CMO/CDO) 
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OF MEDIGENE AG FROM JANUARY 1 TO DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017 

IN € K COST 

 1/1/2018 EXCHANGE 

DIFFERENCES 

 

ADDITIONS DISPOSALS 12/31/2018 

Property, plant and equipment 10,782 1 1,421 -77 12,127 

thereof finance leases 1,487 0 430 0 1,917 

      

Intangible assets 34,393 0 24 0 34,417 

thereof RhuDex 23,750 0 0 0 23,750 

thereof Medigene Immunotherapies   9,692 0 0 0 9,692 

thereof other 951 0 24 0 975 

      

Goodwill 3,141    3,141 

      

Total 48,316 1 1,445 -77 49,685 

 

 

 
IN € K COST 

 1/1/2017 EXCHANGE 

DIFFERENCES 

 

ADDITIONS DISPOSALS 12/31/2017 

Property, plant and equipment 9,477 -5 2,175 -865 10,782 

thereof finance leases 821 0 666 0 1,487 

      

Intangible assets 33,778 0 1,296 -681 34,393 

thereof RhuDex 23,750 0 0 0 23,750 

thereof Medigene Immunotherapies   9,692 0 0 0 9,692 

thereof other 336 0 1,296 -681 951 

      

Goodwill 3,141 0 0 0 3,141 

      

Total 46,396 -5 3,471 -1,546 48,316 
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ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION NET CARRYING AMOUNT 

1/1/2018 EXCHANGE 

DIFFERENCES 

 

ADDITIONS DISPOSALS 12/31/2018 12/31/2018 12/31/2017 

6,453 1 1,482 -70 7,866 4,261 4,329 

570 0 395 0 965 952 917 

       

313 1 90 0 404 34,013 34,080 

0 0 0 0 0 23,750 23,750 

0 0 0 0 0 9,692 9,692 

313 1 90 0 404 571 638 

       

929    929 2,212 2,212 

       

7,695 2 1,572 -70 9,199 40,486 40,621 

      

 

 
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION NET CARRYING AMOUNT 

1/1/2017 EXCHANGE 

DIFFERENCES 

 

ADDITIONS DISPOSALS 12/31/2017 12/31/2017 12/31/2016 

6,154 -5 1,141 -837 6,453 4,329 3,323 

333 0 237 0 570 917 488 

       

223 0 126 -36 313 34,080 33,555 

0 0 0 0 0 23,750 23,750 

0 0 0 0 0 9,692 9,692 

223 0 126 -36 313 638 113 

       

929 0 0 0 929 2,212 2,212 

       

7,306 -5 1,267 -873 7,695 40,621 39,090 
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English-language translation of the German-language auditor’s report (Bestätigungsvermerk)  
on the consolidated financial statements and the Group management’s discussion and analysis 
  

 

TO MEDIGENE AG 

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the Group management’s dis-

cussion and analysis 

Opinions 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Medigene AG, Planegg/Martinsried, and its subsidiar-

ies (the Group), which comprise the consolidated income statement and the consolidated statement of com-

prehensive income for the fiscal year from January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2018, the consolidated balance 

sheet as at December 31, 2018, the consolidated statement of cash flows and the consolidated statement of 

changes in shareholders’ equity for the fiscal year from January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2018, and notes to the 

consolidated financial statements. In addition, we have audited the Group management’s discussion and analy-

sis of Medigene AG for the fiscal year from January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2018.  

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit,  

→ the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply, in all material respects, with the IFRSs as 

adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Sec. 315e (1) 

HGB [“Handelsgesetzbuch”: German Commercial Code] and, in compliance with these requirements, give a 

true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2018 and 

of its financial performance for the fiscal year from January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2018, and 

→ the accompanying Group management’s discussion and analysis as a whole provides an appropriate view 

of the Group’s position. In all material respects, this Group management’s discussion and analysis is con-

sistent with the consolidated financial statements, complies with German legal requirements and appropri-

ately presents the opportunities and risks of future development.  

Pursuant to Sec. 322 (3) Sentence 1 HGB, we declare that our audit has not led to any reservations relating to 

the legal compliance of the consolidated financial statements and of the Group management’s discussion and 

analysis. 

Basis for the opinions  

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the Group management’s discussion 

and analysis in accordance with Sec. 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation (No 537/2014, referred to subse-

quently as “EU Audit Regulation”) and in compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial 

Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] 

(IDW). Our responsibilities under those requirements and principles are further described in the “Auditor’s re-

sponsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the Group management’s discussion 

and analysis” section of our auditor’s report. We are independent of the Group entities in accordance with the 

requirements of European law and German commercial and professional law, and we have fulfilled our other 

German professional responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. In addition, in accordance with 
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Art. 10 (2) f) of the EU Audit Regulation, we declare that we have not provided non-audit services prohibited 

under Art. 5 (1) of the EU Audit Regulation. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the Group 

management’s discussion and analysis.  

Key audit matters in the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit 

of the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year from January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2018. These 

matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in 

forming our auditor’s opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  

Below, we describe what we consider to be the key audit matters: 

1) Impairment test of goodwill and intangible assets not yet available for use  

Reasons why the matter was determined to be a key audit matter 

Intangible assets not yet available for use are allocated to two cash-generating units (CGUs). The recorded 

goodwill is allocated to one of the two CGUs. Both CGUs are tested for impairment at least once a year. This 

test is based on the executive directors’ estimations of the value in use of the CGUs and depends on the assess-

ment of future cash inflows from the research and development projects allocated to the CGUs as well as on 

the discount rate used. 

The executive directors prepare cash flow calculations for the therapies or drug candidates in the respective 

indications on which the research and development projects are based. The chances of successful development 

and market entry are assessed in determining future cash flows. Furthermore, assumptions about development 

periods and project progress as well as anticipated market volumes and pricing as well as the discount rate are 

decisive. Given the length of the planning periods (up to 20 years), the estimates and assumptions associated 

with this are subject to a significant degree of uncertainty.  

For this reason and due to the materiality of the affected balance sheet items for the consolidated financial 

statements, the impairment test of goodwill and intangible assets not yet available for use is a key audit matter. 

Auditor’s response 

We examined the process as well as the underlying methods for the preparation of the cash flow calculations. 

We analyzed the cash flow calculations prepared by the executive directors and scrutinized the significant esti-

mates and assumptions: We compared the industry-specific estimates and assumptions made by the executive 

directors, such as the probability of successful development and market entry, development periods and the 

anticipated market volumes and pricing, with publicly available information, and, where necessary, had the ma-

terial differences to the used assumptions explained by the executive directors and the responsible employees. 

Furthermore, we discussed the assumptions about development periods and project progress with the execu-

tive directors and the responsible employees of Medigene AG with regard to their agreement with the Group’s 

current development plans and with the current progress report of the collaboration partner.  

The audit team was supported by internal valuation experts when assessing the discount rate and especially the 

beta factors, the risk-free interest rate and the market risk premium. We compared the components of the dis-

count rate with external supporting documents and obtained an understanding of the method underlying the 

calculation. 
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We verified the clerical accuracy of the cash flow calculations.  

We assessed and reperformed the sensitivity calculations with regard to possible changes in significant assump-

tions and their impact on the estimated values in use.  

Additionally, we assessed the disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial statements regarding the 

significant accounting judgments and estimates as well as the significant assumptions made in the impairment 

testing of goodwill and intangible assets not yet available for use, in terms of the requirements defined in IAS 

36. 

Our audit procedures did not lead to any material reservations relating to the impairment test of goodwill and 

intangible assets not yet available for use. 

Reference to related disclosures  

We refer to note (4) of the notes to the consolidated financial statements with regard to disclosures concerning 

significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions by the executive directors. The description of the 

impairment testing of goodwill and intangible assets not yet available for use is included in note (33) of the 

notes to the consolidated financial statements. The risks arising from the further development of research and 

development projects are presented in the opportunity and risk report of the Group management’s discussion 

and analysis (sections “Opportunities and risks in the area of immunotherapies in oncology” et seq. and “Op-

portunities and risks in non-core business (other products)/Rhudex® and EndoTAG®”). 

2) Impairment test of Veregen® inventories 

Reasons why the matter was determined to be a key audit matter 

The drug Veregen® is marketed and sold by partner companies, therefore, Medigene AG has only limited influ-

ence on the marketing activities. The inventories of Veregen® have a material value for the Group. The impair-

ment test of the inventories is based on the estimates and assumptions made by the executive directors with 

regard to future Veregen® net revenue generated by partner companies as well as the estimates made by the 

executive directors with regard to a longer shelf life of the active pharmaceutical ingredient and the outstand-

ing regulatory decisions in this context. In addition, the executive directors test the recoverability of the inven-

tories taking into account mathematical financial considerations in order to arrive at a reliable measurement 

and information that is more relevant. 

Given the materiality for the consolidated financial statements, and given the significant uncertainties sur-

rounding the executive directors’ accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions with regard to the long-

term future sales of the active pharmaceutical ingredient for Veregen® and its shelf life, we identified the im-

pairment test of the Veregen® inventories as a key audit matter. 

Auditor’s response  

We examined the process used for impairment testing and for preparing the cash flow calculations and underly-

ing methods.  

We analyzed the executive directors’ estimate of future Veregen® product sales to existing as well as potential 

future partner companies and scrutinized the significant estimates and assumptions. We analyzed the historical 

Veregen® revenue and compared it to anticipated future revenue for the main sales markets. We also discussed 

the estimated revenue by country with the executive directors and the responsible employees of Medigene AG 

and checked whether it is in keeping with the current plans.  
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We verified the assumptions of the executive directors regarding the shelf life analyses of the active pharma-

ceutical ingredient and the status of regulatory processes with the help of external supporting documents.  

We observed inventory taking and compared the knowledge gained on the inventories’ balance with the im-

pairment test carried out.  

Additionally, we scrutinized the estimates of costs and expenses included in the cash flow calculations. When 

assessing the discount rate, we compared the components of the discount rate against external supporting doc-

uments and obtained an understanding of the method underlying the calculation.  

We verified the clerical accuracy of the cash flow calculations.  

We also assessed the disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial statements concerning the signifi-

cant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions made in connection with the impairment testing of 

Veregen® inventories.  

Our audit procedures did not lead to any reservations relating to the impairment test of Veregen® inventories.  

Reference to related disclosures 

We refer to note (4) and note (35) of the notes to the consolidated financial statements with regard to the dis-

closures concerning significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions by the executive directors 

related to the Veregen inventories. The risks associated with the Veregen inventories are presented in the 

opportunity and risk report of the Group management’s discussion and analysis (section “Opportunities and 

risks in non-core business (other products) / Veregen®“). 

3) Application of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

Reasons why the matter was determined to be a key audit matter 

Application of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers was mandatory for the first time in the fiscal 

year. Due to the nature of the business activities of the Group, many of the sales transactions have a complex 

structure and comprise diverse performance obligations that will be satisfied at different points in time. An 

analysis of the contracts is comprehensive, and the adoption of IFRS 15 involves wide-ranging discretionary 

judgments.   

For this reason, we identified the adoption of IFRS 15 as a key audit matter. 

Auditor’s response  

With regard to the first time adoption of IFRS 15, we addressed the implemented processes in application of 

the new standard. By interviewing the executive directors, we obtained a comprehensive understanding of the 

revenue recognition process according to IFRS 15.   

We analyzed the list of contracts with the Group’s customers and assessed their existence and completeness on 

the basis of our knowledge of the Group and experience in the sector in which it operates. In the course of ana-

lyzing the contracts, we also assessed the cumulative effect of the transition to IFRS 15 and verified it for cleri-

cal accuracy. 
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In our assessment of the executive directors’ analysis of the contracts, we focused our attention on the ac-

counting for cooperation agreements, for which, considering the business model of the Group, judgments are 

required. We analyzed performance obligations identified by the executive directors of Medigene AG and as-

sessed whether these are considered as distinct or a bundle. We then assessed the resulting revenue recogni-

tion and verified whether the Group’s revenue guidelines are in agreement with the accounting standard.   

Moreover, we assessed the disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial statements on the impact of 

adopting IFRS 15. 

Our audit procedures did not lead to any reservations relating to the revenue recognition according to the new 

guidance of IFRS 15. 

Reference to related disclosures 

We refer to notes (4), (20) and (25) of the notes to the consolidated financial statements with regard to disclo-

sures on the significant impact of IFRS 15 and the associated presentation and disclosure obligations.  

Other information 

The executive directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the other 

elements of the annual report provided to us prior to the date of this independent auditor’s report, with the 

exception of the audited consolidated financial statements and Group management’s discussion and analysis, 

as well as our independent auditor’s report.  

Our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the Group management’s discussion and analysis 

do not cover the other information, and consequently we do not express an opinion or any other form of assur-

ance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in so doing, to consider 

whether the other information 

→ is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, with the Group management’s discus-

sion and analysis or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 

→ otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other infor-

mation, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the executive directors and the Supervisory Board for the consolidated financial 

statements and the Group management’s discussion and analysis 

The executive directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that com-

ply, in all material respects, with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of German com-

mercial law pursuant to Sec. 315e (1) HGB, and that the consolidated financial statements, in compliance with 

these requirements, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and financial perfor-

mance of the Group. In addition, the executive directors are responsible for such internal control as they have 

determined necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from mate-

rial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the executive directors are responsible for assessing the 

Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. They also have the responsibility for disclosing, as applicable, 

matters related to going concern. In addition, they are responsible for financial reporting based on the going 

concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or there 

is no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Furthermore, the executive directors are responsible for the preparation of the Group management’s discus-

sion and analysis that, as a whole, provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position and is, in all material 

respects, consistent with the consolidated financial statements, complies with German legal requirements, and 

appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development. In addition, the executive directors 

are responsible for such arrangements and measures (systems) as they have considered necessary to enable 

the preparation of a Group management’s discussion and analysis that is in accordance with the applicable Ger-

man legal requirements, and to be able to provide sufficient appropriate evidence for the assertions in the 

Group management’s discussion and analysis. 

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process for the preparation 

of the consolidated financial statements and of the Group management’s discussion and analysis.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the Group 

management’s discussion and analysis 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and whether the Group manage-

ment’s discussion and analysis as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position and, in all mate-

rial respects, is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and the knowledge obtained in the audit, 

complies with the German legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future 

development, as well as to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions on the consolidated financial 

statements and on the Group management’s discussion and analysis.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 

with Sec. 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation and in compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards 

for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) will always detect a ma-

terial misstatement. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 

in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 

basis of these consolidated financial statements and this Group management’s discussion and analysis.  

We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

→ identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements and of the 

Group management’s discussion and analysis, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit pro-

cedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinions. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 

for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresenta-

tions, or the override of internal control. 

→ obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

and of arrangements and measures (systems) relevant to the audit of the Group management’s discussion 

and analysis in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 

purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of these systems.  
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→ evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by the executive directors and the reasonable-

ness of estimates made by the executive directors and related disclosures; 

→ conclude on the appropriateness of the executive directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or con-

ditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 

that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the auditor’s report to the related 

disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and in the Group management’s discussion and analy-

sis or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our respective opinions. Our conclusions are based on 

the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 

may cause the Group to cease to be able to continue as a going concern;  

→ evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 

the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements present the underlying transactions and 

events in a manner that the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabili-

ties, financial position and financial performance of the Group in compliance with IFRSs as adopted by the 

EU and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Sec. 315e (1) HGB;  

→ obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 

activities within the Group to express opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the Group 

management’s discussion and analysis. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance 

of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinions; 

→ evaluate the consistency of the Group management’s discussion and analysis with the consolidated finan-

cial statements, its conformity with [German] law, and the view of the Group’s position it provides; 

→ perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented by the executive directors in the 

Group management’s discussion and analysis. On the basis of sufficient appropriate audit evidence we 

evaluate, in particular, the significant assumptions used by the executive directors as a basis for the pro-

spective information, and evaluate the proper derivation of the prospective information from these as-

sumptions. We do not express a separate opinion on the prospective information and on the assumptions 

used as a basis. There is a substantial unavoidable risk that future events will differ materially from the pro-

spective information. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 

identify during our audit.  

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with the relevant in-

dependence requirements, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasona-

bly be thought to bear on our independence and where applicable, the related safeguards.  

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were 

of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are there-

fore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 

public disclosure about the matter. 
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Other legal and regulatory requirements 

Further information pursuant to Art. 10 of the EU Audit Regulation  

We were elected as group auditor by the Annual General Meeting on May 15, 2018. We were engaged by the 

Supervisory Board on May 22, 2018. We have been the group auditor of Medigene without interruption since 

fiscal year 2006.  

We declare that the opinions expressed in this auditor’s report are consistent with the additional report to the 

Audit Committee pursuant to Art. 11 of the EU Audit Regulation (long-form audit report).  

 

German Public Auditor responsible for the engagement  

The German Public Auditor responsible for the engagement is Dirk Gallowsky. 

Munich, March 26, 2019 

 

 

Ernst & Young GmbH 

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 

 

 

 

 

Barth    Gallowsky 

Wirtschaftsprüfer  Wirtschaftsprüfer 

[German Public Auditor]  [German Public Auditor] 
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To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles, the consolidated fi-

nancial statements give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the 

Group, and the management’s discussion and analysis includes a fair review of the development and perfor-

mance of the business and the position of the Company, together with a description of the material opportuni-

ties and risks associated with the expected development of the Company. 

 

 

Planegg/Martinsried, March 26, 2019 

 

 

 

 

Prof. Dolores J. Schendel 

Chief Executive Officer (CEO/CSO) 

 

 

 

 

Dr. Kai Pinkernell 

Chief Medical Officer and Chief Development Officer (CMO/CDO) 
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Dear Shareholders, 

 

During the fiscal year 2018, the Supervisory Board diligently performed all the duties assigned to it by law and 

the Articles of Association. On the basis of the verbal and written reports provided, the Supervisory Board 

regularly advised the Executive Management Board and monitored its management activities on an ongoing 

basis. The Supervisory Board participated directly in all decisions that were substantial for the Company and 

was involved in the discussions with the Executive Management Board on the strategic alignment of the 

Company. The Supervisory Board voted on the resolutions proposed by the Executive Management Board after 

in-depth examination and deliberation. 

 

In addition to the regular Supervisory Board meetings, the Executive Management Board routinely and 

promptly issued comprehensive written and verbal reports on the current status of the research and 

development projects, the economic situation and the development of the Company and its subsidiaries as well 

as on corporate planning, major business transactions and fundamental matters of corporate policy, including 

the Company’s strategic and organisational focus, cost and earnings trends, investments and financial planning. 

Furthermore, risk management and compliance were part of the reporting and joint deliberations. Finally, 

relevant agenda items for the Annual General Meeting 2018, the composition of the Supervisory Board and the 

Executive Management Board as well as modalities of capital measures were part of these. All documents 

prepared by the Executive Management Board or the responsible departments and forwarded to the 

Supervisory Board were examined without any exceptions. The Supervisory Board members and, in particular 

the Chairman of the Supervisory Board, were also in regular contact with the Executive Management Board 

outside the scheduled Supervisory Board meetings to keep themselves informed about current business 

developments. All matters were then discussed within the Supervisory Board. The Chairman of the Supervisory 

Board spoke regularly with the Company’s Chief Executive Officer to keep himself and his Supervisory Board 

colleagues informed about important business matters. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board ensured that all 

important matters were discussed by the full Supervisory Board or in the appropriate Supervisory Board 

committees. Employees of the Company and, in particular, the members of the Executive Management Board, 

were interviewed about key topics.  

 

As one area of particular focus, the Supervisory Board constantly observed, monitored and examined the 

Company’s risk situation and its risk management, and its corporate governance in compliance with the law and 

in an ethically correct manner (Compliance). Any deviation of business development from plans and targets 

were explained in detail to the Supervisory Board, and the Executive Management Board received approval of 

the Company’s strategic focus from the Supervisory Board. All business transactions of importance to the 

Company and its subsidiaries were discussed in detail by the Supervisory Board. The Executive Management 

Board provided information on a regular basis to the Audit Committee and the full Supervisory Board on the 

risk management system implemented by the Company. The risk management system is described in the risk 

report of the Annual Report. 

 

Expansion of the Supervisory Board 

The Annual General Meeting elected an additional member to the Supervisory Board on May 15, 2018, to 

expand the Supervisory Board from six to seven members. In addition to the six existing members, Prof. Horst 
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Domdey (Chairman), Antoinette Hiebeler-Hasner (Deputy Chairwoman), Dr. Yita Lee, Dr. Keith Manchester, Mr. 

Ronald Scott and Dr. Gerd Zettlmeissl, the Annual General Meeting 2018 elected Dr. Frank Mathias. The term of 

office of the full Supervisory Board will cease at the end of the Annual General Meeting which will decide upon 

the discharge for the 2018 financial year, i.e. after the Annual General Meeting in 2019.  

 
SUPERVISORY BOARD UNTIL MAY 14, 2018 

NAME FUNCTION 

Prof. Dr. Horst Domdey 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board  
Member since 2013 

Antoinette Hiebeler-Hasner  
Deputy Chairwoman of the Supervisory Board 
Member since 2016 

Dr. Yita Lee 
Member of the Supervisory Board 
Member since 2013 

Dr. Keith Manchester 
Member of the Supervisory Board 
Member since 2017 

Ronald Scott 
Member of the Supervisory Board 
Member since 2017 

Dr. Gerd Zettlmeissl 
Member of the Supervisory Board 
Member since 2017 

 
SUPERVISORY BOARD SINCE MAY 15, 2018 

NAME FUNCTION 

Prof. Dr. Horst Domdey 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
Member since 2013 

Antoinette Hiebeler-Hasner 
Deputy Chairwoman of the Supervisory Board 
Member since 2016 

Dr. Yita Lee 
Member of the Supervisory Board 
Member since 2013 

Dr. Keith Manchester 
Member of the Supervisory Board 
Member since 2017 

Dr. Frank Mathias 
Member of the Supervisory Board 
Member since 2018 

Ronald Scott 
Member of the Supervisory Board 
Member since 2017 

Dr. Gerd Zettlmeissl 
Member of the Supervisory Board 
Member since 2017 

 

Supervisory Board meetings 

The Supervisory Board carried out its duties on the basis of the Executive Management Board’s detailed written 

and verbal reports, which provided timely and comprehensive information. During the 2018 fiscal year, four 

ordinary meetings were held. All members of the Supervisory Board participated in each of these meetings. 

Furthermore, several conference calls took place in addition to the ordinary meetings as part of the regular 

monitoring and consultation provided to the Executive Management Board, to discuss, e.g., the capital increase 

in May 2018.  

 
PRESENCE AT ORDINARY SUPERVISORY BOARD MEETINGS 

MEMBER 20 MAR 2018 15 MAY 2018 12 SEP 2018 27 NOV 2018 

Prof. Dr. Horst Domdey + + + + 

Antoinette Hiebeler-Hasner + + + + 

Dr. Yita Lee + + + + 

Dr. Keith Manchester  + + + + 

Dr. Frank Mathias (since 15 May 2018) n.a. + + + 

Ronald Scott +  + + + 

Dr. Gerd Zettlmeissl + + + + 

+ = present; - = not present; n.a. = not applicable 
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All business matters submitted to the Supervisory Board for approval pursuant to the law or the Articles of 

Association were discussed in depth with the Executive Management Board. In addition to the Company’s 

economic position, its revenue and earnings trends, project developments and the latest business 

developments, the subjects discussed by the Supervisory Board in the fiscal year 2018 included, in particular, 

the Company’s strategic development and the progress of the immunotherapy programs. The granting of stock 

options to the members of the Executive Management Board and employees, the Company’s compliance as 

well as the risk management were also part of the discussions at the Supervisory Board meetings. 

 

In particular, the Supervisory Board addressed the following transactions in the 2018 fiscal year, all of which 

required approval: 

 

 Significant expansion of the TCR alliance with bluebird bio through an amendment of the Research 

Collaboration & License Agreement; 

 Conclusion of an exclusive License Agreement with the University of Leiden to develop a new TCR 

receptor; 

 Full utilisation of the authorised capital 2018/II excluding the subscription rights of existing 

shareholders by issue of 2,230,000 new shares by EUR 2,230,000.00 to EUR 24,544,595.00 

 

Supervisory Board committees 

The Company’s Supervisory Board has established two committees to fulfil its duties more efficiently, the 

Nomination and Compensation Committee and the Audit Committee.  

 
SUPERVISORY BOARD COMMITTEES 

COMMITTEE UNTIL 14 MAY 2018 SINCE 15 MAY 2018 

Nomination and Compensation Committee 
 

Dr. Gerd Zettlmeissl, Chairman 

Prof. Dr. Horst Domdey 

Dr. Yita Lee 

Dr. Gerd Zettlmeissl, Chairman 

Prof. Dr. Horst Domdey 

Dr. Yita Lee 

Dr. Frank Mathias 

Audit Committee 
 

Antoinette Hiebeler-Hasner, Chairwoman 

Ronald Scott 

Dr. Keith Manchester 

Antoinette Hiebeler-Hasner, Chairwoman 

Ronald Scott 

Dr. Keith Manchester 

 

The Nomination and Compensation Committee held four meetings in the course of 2018. The Audit Committee 

met four times in the reporting period.  

 
PRESENCE AT NOMINATION AND COMPENSATION COMMITTEE MEETINGS 

MEMBER 16.01.2018 14.05.2018 06.08.2018 24.11.2018 

Dr. Gerd Zettlmeissl (Chair) + + + + 

Prof. Dr. Horst Domdey + + + + 

Dr. Yita Lee + + - + 

Dr. Frank Mathias (since 15 May 2018) n.a. n.a. + + 

+ = present; - = not present; n.a. = not applicable 

 
PRESENCE AT AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETINGS 

MEMBER 15.03.2018 03.05.2018 02.08.2018 08.11.2018 

Antoinette Hiebeler-Hasner (Chair) + + + + 

Dr. Keith Manchester  + + + + 

Ronald Scott +  + + + 

+ = present; - = not present; n.a. = not applicable 
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The duties of the Nomination and Compensation Committee included preparing personnel matters related to 

the members of the Executive Management Board. Its main tasks were the appointment of Dr. Kai Pinkernell as 

member of the Executive Management Board from April 01, 2018 (Chief Medical Officer and Chief Development 

Officer) as well as the termination of the service agreement of the Executive Management Board member Dr. 

Thomas Taapken as Chief Financial Officer effective August 31, 2018 and the setting of bonuses and stock 

option grants for the members of the Executive Management Board. Further, the Nomination and 

Compensation Committee discussed the rules of the remuneration of the Executive Management Board as such 

and its criteria for the short term and long term bonus. The committee evaluated criteria of the composition of 

the whole Supervisory Board in its preparatory function in order to fulfill the requirements for no. 5.4.1 of the 

German Corporate Governance Code (competence profile).   

 

The members of the Audit Committee dealt with topics relating to accounting, risk management, internal 

control system, compliance, required independence of the auditor, engaging the auditor, setting the audit focus 

areas and agreeing on the audit fee. The Audit Committee obtained the auditor’s declaration of independence 

pursuant to Section 7.2.1 of the German Corporate Governance Code and monitored the auditor’s 

independence. In the presence of the auditor and the responsible member of the Executive Management 

Board, the Audit Committee discussed the audit of the separate and consolidated financial statements of 

Medigene AG. Furthermore, the Audit Committee regularly discussed the 6-months report and quarterly 

statements with the Executive Management Board prior to their publication. Moreover, the Audit Committee 

provided the Supervisory Board with a recommendation with regards to proposing an auditor for election by 

the Annual General Meeting. The Audit Committee also monitored the financial reporting process, the 

effectiveness of the internal control system and the risk management system.  

 

The Supervisory Board formed no other committees. 

 

Corporate Governance 

On November 27, 2018, the Supervisory Board together with the Executive Management Board decided to 

implement to a large extent the recommendations and suggestions of the German Corporate Governance Code. 

On the same day, the new declaration of conformity pursuant to Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation 

Act (AktG) was adopted by the Supervisory Board and Executive Management Board. The declaration is 

permanently available to shareholders on the Company’s website.  

 

In their corporate governance report, the Executive Management Board and the Supervisory Board report on 

the corporate governance at Medigene pursuant to Section 3.10 of the German Corporate Governance Code. 

The corporate governance report is available on the Company’s website. 

 

In the event of conflicts of interest within the Supervisory Board pursuant to Section 5.5 of the German 

Corporate Governance Code, these are generally disclosed to the other Supervisory Board members. No 

conflicts of interest arose among the members of the Supervisory Board during the 2018 fiscal year.  

 

Some members of the Supervisory Board are also members of supervisory boards of other companies in the 

pharmaceutical and biotechnology industry. However, in line with the requirements of the German Corporate 

Governance Code, none of these were considered as key competitors of Medigene AG. The external mandates 

of the members of the Supervisory Board are published in the Company’s Annual Report and Corporate 

Governance Report as well as on Medigene’s website. 

 

Separate and consolidated financial statements 

The independent auditor elected by the Annual General Meeting, who was duly engaged by the Supervisory 

Board, Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Munich, audited the separate financial 
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statements of Medigene AG prepared in accordance with the German Commercial Code (HGB) by the Executive 

Management Board for the year ending December 31, 2018, together with the management’s discussion and 

analysis for the fiscal year 2018, and rendered an unqualified audit opinion thereon. The Chairman of the 

Supervisory Board issued the audit engagement in accordance with the resolution of the Annual General 

Meeting held on May 15, 2018. The consolidated financial statements of Medigene AG were prepared 

according to the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU, and the additional 

requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Section 315a (1) of the German Commercial Code (HGB). 

The auditor also issued an unqualified audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements and the group 

management’s discussion and analysis.  

 

The Audit Committee established the audit focus for the reporting year together with the auditor.  

 

The Supervisory Board members received the financial statements as well as the auditor’s reports in a timely 

manner. They were reviewed in detail by the Audit Committee on March 21, 2019 and the Supervisory Board on 

March 26, 2019 and discussed in the presence of the Executive Management Board and the auditor. The 

auditor attended the deliberations and discussions about the financial statements and reported in detail on the 

most important results of the audit, amongst others, the results regarding key audit matters as well as the 

internal control and risk management systems and the financial reporting process. It was noted that the risks 

and opportunities described in the group management’s discussion and analysis provide a true and fair view 

and the measures taken by the Executive Management Board pursuant to Section 91 (2) of the German Stock 

Corporation Act (AktG) are appropriate for identifying at an early stage any developments which may 

jeopardise the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

 

After examining the separate and consolidated financial statements, the management’s discussion and analysis 

and the group management’s discussion and analysis, the Supervisory Board endorsed the auditor’s findings. In 

the meeting on March 26, 2019, the Supervisory Board approved the separate financial statements and the 

consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2018 in accordance with the recommendation of the 

Audit Committee. The financial statements have therefore been adopted. 

 

Acknowledgement of commitment and performance 

The Supervisory Board expresses its thanks to the Executive Management Board and to all employees of 

Medigene for their successful contributions in 2018. Their collective commitment ensured the achievement of 

important objectives and a significant progress in the further development of the immunotherapy programs as 

well as important development partnerships.  

 
On behalf of the Supervisory Board, I also would like to thank you, the shareholders of Medigene AG, for your 

continued trust. 

 

Planegg/Martinsried, March 2019 

 

For the Supervisory Board 

 

 

 

 

Prof. Horst Domdey 

Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
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A 

Acute myeloid leukemia (AML) 

Malignant disease of the hematopoietic system 

Adoptive T-cell therapy 

The treatment of patients by transfer of defined T-cells to the patient 

Affinity maturation 

The power of a single antigen-TCR binding can be artificially increased by a molecular biological process called 

affinity maturation,  

AktG 

»Aktiengesetz« German Stock Corporation Act 

Allogen (tissue) 

(Tissue) from a different, genetically non-identical body 

Antibody 

Protein substance produced by the immune system as a reaction to antigens for reasons of a body’s own 

defense mechanisms  

Antigen 

Antigens are generally all foreign and the body’s own structures that can be recognized by the immune system 

Autologous (tissue) 

(Tissue) from the same body 

Authorized capital 

Value or number of shares authorized in advance by the company’s Annual General Meeting for the purpose of 

a possible capital increase against cash or non-cash contribution 

Avidity 

In biochemistry, avidity refers to the accumulated strength of multiple affinities of individual non-covalent 

binding interactions, in the case of T cell receptors, between multiple peptide-presenting MHC molecules and 

specific T cell receptors. It is important to distinguish avidity from affinity. Affinity is the force of a single 

antigen-TCR binding (expressed by the dissociation constant). Avidity is the totality of the affinities of all 

receptors on a cell 
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B 

B-cell epitope 

Part of the antigen that is recognized by the antibody or B-cell receptor 

Biopharmaceutical 

Research into and development of drugs and therapies (pharmaceutics), based on biotechnology and molecular 

biology 

Biotechnology 

Research into and development of drugs and therapies (pharmaceutics), based on biotechnology and molecular 

biology 

C 

CGU 

Cash-generating unit 

Checkpoint blockade  

Active substances from the class of checkpoint inhibitors that block inhibitory immune signaling pathways in 

T cells and amplify or re-activate thereby a defense reaction of the immune system against a tumor tissue 

Chimera/chimeric protein 

An assembly of individual functional subsequences from different, naturally occurring proteins that lead to an 

artificial protein with novel functionality 

Combination therapy 

The simultaneous treatment of a patient with several therapeutic methods for the same disease 

Compassionate use 

Prescription of as-yet unapproved drugs in particularly severe cases where there are no treatment alternatives 

Conditional capital 

Capital resolved by shareholders’ resolution for the issue of stock options or convertible bonds 

Consortium (for a clinical trial) 

Various parties contractual joined together for carrying out a clinical trial (often an -> IIT), usually university 

hospitals, medical professionals, manufacturers, inventors, industrial companies and public research funders 

(such as the DFG, the BMBF, etc.) 

Costimulatory molecule/receptor 

Membrane-bound or secreted product of immune cells that is required for the positive enhancing and 

activating signal transduction between immune cellsD 
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D&O insurance 

Directors and Officers insurance 

A managers’ liability insurance effected by a company for its board members and executives 

DBO 

Defined benefit obligation - Value of an obligation arising from company pension scheme 

Dendritic cells 

Cells of the immune system specialized in antigen uptake and presentation. Dendritic cells are the most potent 

antigen presenting cells for activating a primary T cell based immune response 

Drug candidate 

Drug which is still at the development stage 

DSMB 

Data and Safety Monitoring Board 

An independent group of experts that reviews data in clinical trials according to patient safety and treatment 

effectiveness 

E 

EBITDA 

Earnings before interest, depreciation and amortization  

Medigene’s EBITDA is derived from the net profit/loss for the year and does not include any taxes, financial 

result, foreign exchange gains or losses, share of result of associates nor amortization or depreciation 

Effector cells 

In immunology, effector cells are differentiated lymphocytes that perform specific tasks in the immune system, 

e.g., as plasma cells or, as in Medigene's case, cytotoxic T cells 

Expression (of receptors) 

All necessary processes around the cellular biosynthesis of (receptor) proteins on the basis of their genetic 

information  

F 

FDA 

Food and Drug Administration  

Government agency of the United States Department of Health and Human Services 
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Formulation 

The way in which an active ingredient is combined with suitable carrier substances and excipients and the form 

in which it is administered  

G 

Genital warts 

Benign, but painful and disfiguring skin tumors in the genital and anal areas 

GMP 

Good Manufacturing Practice 

Quality assurance guidelines for production processes and environments in the manufacture of drugs 

H 

HA-1 

HA-1 is an antigen from the category of so-called “minor histocompatibility antigens“ 

Hematology 

Hematology is the branch of medicine concerned with the study, diagnosis, treatment, and prevention of 

diseases related to blood 

Hepatology  

Hepatology is the branch of medicine that incorporates the study of liver, gallbladder, biliary tree, and pancreas 

as well as management of their disorders 

HLA 

The human leukocyte antigen system (HLA system) is a group of human genes responsible for the functioning of 

the immune system. The system is called major histocompatibility complex (MHC) in all vertebrates. In humans, 

the MHC is referred to as HLA system. See also MHC restriction 

HGB 

»Handelsgesetzbuch« German Commercial Code 

I 

IAS 

International Accounting Standards 

Part of the International Financial Reporting Standards 
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IFRS 

International Financial Reporting Standards 

IIT 

Investigator Initiated Trial 

Non-commercial clinical trial; clinical trial of a new drug candidate that is often initiated, conducted and 

financed by the medical professional at university hospitals. Such trials often focus on enhancing a specific 

therapy for patients 

Immunotherapy 

Treatment method which influences and activates the immune system 

Immunodominance  

Immunodominance refers to the phenomenon that during an adaptive immune response some parts of a 

pathogen trigger a stronger immune response than others 

Immunosuppression 

Damping or turning off the function of the body's immune system 

Indication 

Disease; reason for the execution of a medical examination or treatment 

Induction / consolidation chemotherapy 

Chemotherapies consist of different therapy steps in with different drug compositions and concentrations, e.g. 

in AML: induction therapy is followed by consolidation therapy followed by maintenance therapy 

In vitro 

In vitro (lat., ‘in the glass') refers to organic processes that take place outside of a living organism. In science, in 

vitro refers to experiments conducted in a controlled artificial environment outside of a living organism 

In silico 

In silico (based on Latin in silicio for in silicon) refers to processes that take place in a computer 

L 

Leukapheresis 

Process for collection of white blood cells (leucocytes) from a donors’ blood 

Leucocytes 

White blood cells 

Licensing 

Sale or acquisition of development and/or marketing rights to a product 
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M 

Major histocompatibility complex (MHC) 

Group of genes and proteins which are relevant in immune recognition 

MHC-restriction 

MHC restriction describes the fact that antigens can only be recognized by T lymphocytes if they are previously 

prepared and presented on the body’s own (autologous) specific receptors. These protein class I and class II 

complexes are based on the gene of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) 

Mature dendritic cells 

-> see polarized cells 

Minimal residual disease (MRD) 

The stage of a tumor in which only very few isolated tumor cells are present in the patient’s body following for 

example surgical removal of the primary tumor or chemotherapy or radiotherapy 

Monoclonal antibody 

Antibody which is produced from a single cell line and can be traced back to an individual B lymphocyte 

Monocytes 

Belong to the class of white blood cells and have an important function in the human immune system 

Multiple myeloma (MM) 

Multiple myeloma is a cancer of the blood-forming system. It is characterized by uncontrolled proliferation of 

antibody-producing plasma cells 

Myelodisplastic syndrome (MDS) 

The term myelodysplastic syndrome stands for a group of diseases of the bone marrow in which blood 

formation does not originate from healthy, but from mutated cells of origin (stem cells). The bone marrow of 

patients suffering from myelodysplastic syndromes is no longer able to produce fully mature and functional 

blood cells from these stem cells. In advanced stages of these diseases, more and more immature blood cells 

are produced. The blood formation process is thus permanently disturbed. This can lead to acute myeloid 

leukemia (AML) in some patients 

N 

NK (natural killer) cells 

Cells of the immune system which can identify and destroy cancer cells and virally infected cells 

 



128 GLOSSARY 

 

 

O 

Oncology 

Science of tumors and tumor-related diseases 

Oncogenes 

Oncogenes (literally, cancer genes) are part of the genetic material of a cell, which, if improperly regulated, 

promote the transition from the normal growth behavior of the cell to unrestrained tumor growth 

P 

PCT 

Patent Cooperation Treaty 

International agreement under which a patent application may be filed for currently 146 countries worldwide 

For the issue of a patent, this application has to be transferred to a national application at a later date 

Peptide 

A peptide (short protein) consists of amino acids linked together 

Pharmaceutics 

Science that deals with the composition, effect, development, testing, production, and dispensing of drugs 

Pipeline 

All of the drug candidates that are under development 

Polarised cells 

The patented maturation method used by Medigene to generate DC vaccines, results in dendritic cells that have 

the capacity to induce responses from Type helper cells, due to their phenotype and function 

PRAME 

PReferably expressed Antigen in MElanomas, is a protein and tumor antigen from the group of cancer testis 

antigens 

Preclinical 

Stages of development of an active substance prior to testing in humans 

Proof of concept 

Evidence of the fundamental feasibility of a plan 

Proof of principle 

Evidence on the feasibility at an early stage of drug development 

Prophylactic vaccine 

Administered to prevent a disease, prepares the immune system for the defense against infection  
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Prostate cancer 

Prostate cancer is a malignant, slow-growing cancer that develops in the prostate 

R 

R & D 

Research and development 

Receptor 

Protein molecule which can bind a corresponding target structure 

Recombinant 

Recombinant refers to proteins that are produced artificially with the aid of genetically modified 

microorganisms or in cell cultures. Remission 

Permanent or temporary easing of disease symptoms 

Resistance 

Ability of an organism to withstand external influences 

S 

Single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) 

A single-nucleotide polymorphism is a variation in a single nucleotide that occurs at a specific position in the 

genome, where each variation is present to some appreciable degree within a population. SNPs are inherited 

and inheritable genetic variants 

Stem cell transplantation 

(Hematopoietic) stem cell transplantation (HSCT) is the transplantation of multipotent hematopoietic stem 

cells, usually derived from bone marrow, peripheral blood, or umbilical cord blood. It may be -> autologous (the 

patient's own stem cells are used) or -> allogeneic (the stem cells come from a donor) 

T 

T-cells 

T-cells or T lymphocytes belong to a group of white blood cells known as lymphocytes, and play a central role in 

cell-mediated immunity 

T-cell activation 

Pivotal step in the reaction of the body’s immune system to combat pathogens and cancer 

T-cell receptor (TCR) 
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Receptor by which T-cells recognize antigens bound to other cells of the body 

TecDAX 

Index of the German Stock Exchange listing the thirty major technology equities with respect to market 

capitalization and order book turnover 

Therapeutic vaccine 

Stimulates the immune system against acute infection or an existing tumor 

TTP 

Time to progression of the disease 

V 

Vaccines 

Inoculants 

W 

WpHG 

»Wertpapierhandelsgesetz«  

German Securities Trading Act 

WT-1 

Gene name of the Wilms tumor protein (WT). The Wilms tumor protein is a vertebrate protein that controls the 

activity of other genes as a transcription factor. The WT protein can have both activating and suppressing 

effects 
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FINANCIAL CALENDAR 

27 March 2019 

Annual Report 2018 

Press and Analyst conference call 

 

14 May 2019 

3-Month Report 2019 

Press and Analyst conference call 

 

22 May 2019 

Annual General Meeting 

 

07 August 2019 

6-Month Report 2019 

Press and Analyst conference call 

 

13 November 2019 

9-Month Report 2019 

Press and Analyst conference call 

 

 

TRADEMARKS 
Medigene, Veregen and RhuDex are registered 

trademarks of Medigene AG. Medigene Immunothera-

piesTM is a registered trademark of Medigene Immuno-

therapies GmbH. EndoTAG  is a registered trademark 

of SynCore Biotechnology Co., Ltd.  Eligard is a regis-

tered trademark of Tolmar Therapeutics, Inc.  

These trademarks may be held or licenced for specific 

countries. 
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Disclaimer 

This annual report contains forward-looking statements that are 
based on certain assumptions and expectations made by the 
management of Medigene AG at the time of its publication. 

These forward-looking statements are therefore subject to un-
predictable risks and uncertainties, so there is no guarantee 
that these assumptions and expectations will turn out to be ac-

curate. Many of those risks and uncertainties are determined by 
factors that are beyond the control of Medigene AG and cannot 
be gauged with any certainty at this point in time. This includes 

future market conditions and economic developments, the be-
haviour of other market participants, the achievement of tar-
geted synergy effects as well as legal and political decisions.  

Medigene AG cannot preclude that actual results may differ 
substantially from those expectations expressed in or implied 
by the forward-looking statements. Medigene AG does not in-

tend or assume any obligation to update any forward-looking 
statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of 
this annual report.  

The English version of the annual report is a translation of the 
original German version; in the event of variances, the German 
version shall take precedence over the English translation. 

. 

mailto:investor@medigene.com
mailto:public.relations@medigene.com


WWW.MEDIGENE.COM

LIVING  
IMMUNOTHERAPIES

ANNUAL  
REPORT M

ED
IG

EN
E 

A
G

 
AN

NU
AL

 R
EP

O
RT

 2
01

8




